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(Title of each class (Name of each exchange on which registere

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tfie Act: NONE

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a vikelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%dbéturities Act.  Yedd No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ornt®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yesd No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant &b filed all reports required to be filed by Sertic3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4188ring the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter periotitti@registrant was required to file such repoesjl (2) has been subject to such filing requirgmfor the past 90
days. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iasntted electronically and posted on its corpo¥ieb site, if any, every Interactive Data File riegd to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Régul&-T (8232.405 of this chapter) during the paing 12 months (or for such shorter period thatrégistrant was
required to submit and post such files). YES No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ contained herein, and will not be containedhthest of
registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or imfisation statements incorporated by reference inlRaf this Form 10-K or any amendment to thisrfrol0-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlaage accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, aaccelerated filer or a smaller reporting comp&@se definitions
of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filerich“smaller reporting company” in 12b-2 of the Eanlge Act.

Large accelerated file O Accelerated filel O

Non-accelerated file Smaller reporting compar O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Ergfe Act). YesO No

The aggregate market value of Common Stock heldoloyaffiliates of the registrant computed by refieesto the price of the registrant's Common Stackfa
June 30, 2014 (based on the last reported sale @nithe Nasdaqg Global Market as of such date) #88.3 million. As of March 17, 2015 there were 26,829 share
of the registrant's Common Stock, $0.001 par valeleshare, outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The registrant intends to file a definitive protgtement pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 dafythe end of the fiscal year ended December 8142
Portions of such definitive proxy statement areiporated by reference into Part Il of this AnnRaport on Form 10-K.




Table of Contents

ZAFGEN, INC.
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

PART I

Item 1. Busines

Item 1A. Risk Factor

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Commer

Item 2. Propertie

Item 3. Legal Proceeding

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosurt

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registra’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters asddsPurchases of Equity Securit
Item 6. Selected Financial De

Item 7. Manageme’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults of Operatior
ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosurdsoit Market Risk

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accotsi@m Accounting and Financial Disclosi
Item 9A. Controls and Procedur

Item 9B. Other Informatiol

PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corper&@bvernanc

Item 11. Executive Compensati

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficiali@rs and Management and Related Stockholder M
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trarmastand Director Independer

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Serv

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Sched

SIGNATURES

PAGE

42
72
72
72
72

73
76
77
92
94
11¢
11¢
11¢

12C
12C
12C
12C
12C

121
124



Table of Contents

PART |

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, or this Annual &gpcontains forward-looking statements within theaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Sectioro2flie Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as ameradetlare subject to the “safe harbor”
created by those sections. Any statements abowbqactations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumgtdr future events or performance are no
historical facts and may be forward-looking. Sorhéhe forward-looking statements can be identifigdhe use of forward-looking terms such
as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “seek,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,” “projects,” “anticipates,” or other comparable
terms. These forward-looking statements involMeaisd uncertainties. We cannot guarantee futureltsslevels of activity, performance or
achievements, and you should not place undue edian our forward-looking statements. Our actuaules may differ significantly from the
results discussed in the forward-looking statemdrastors that might cause such a difference ingJuxlit are not limited to, those set forth in
“Item 1A. Risk Factors” and elsewhere on Form 10K Annual Report. Except as may be required by lae/have no plans to update our
forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstarafter the date of this Annual Report. We cautgaders not to place undue
reliance upon any such forward-looking statementsich speak only as of the date made.

” "o« ” w ” o« ”

Unless the content requires otherwise, referencégafgen,” “ZFGN,
refer to Zafgen, Inc. and our subsidiaries.

the Company,” “we,” “our,” and “us,” in this Annual Report

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company dedicated tofsigntly improving the health and well-being dtents affected by obesity and
complex metabolic disorders. Beloranib, our leamtipct candidate, is a novel, first-in-class, twieeekly subcutaneous, or SC, injection being
developed for the treatment of multiple indicatioingluding severe obesity in two rare diseasead@&rWilli syndrome, or PWS, and
hypothalamic injury-associated obesity, or HIAG;luding craniopharyngiomassociated obesity; and severe obesity in the gepepulation

Obesity is a complex medical disorder involving etite dysregulation and altered lipid and energyalaism that results in excessive
accumulation of fat tissue. Weight loss and humgettrol are urgently needed for certain subpoparatiof obese patients, in which obesity is
life-threatening and a catorbidity of an underlying condition such as PWE# &1AO that, while rare, occurs most commonly a®asequenc
of treatment for craniopharyngioma and other migifbtumors. PWS and HIAO are characterized by umotiable hunger resulting from
damage to or impaired functioning of the hypothalajman area of the brain responsible for many fanstincluding the neurophysiological
drive to eat.

PWS is a rare and complex genetic disorder charaeteby physiologic, cognitive and behavioral syomps, including hyperphagia,
uncontrollable hunger and its related behaviord,@besity. In January 2014, we completed a Phastrileal trial evaluating beloranib’s
ability to reduce body weight and to improve hypergia in patients with PWS. In this trial, we olvset reductions in body weight, body mass
and body fat content and reductions in hyperphegjeted behaviors. Based on the results of this@Ba trial, we initiated our Phase 3 clini
program, which is planned to consist of two Phaskn®cal trials of beloranib in patients with PV8ith the first Phase 3 trial in the United
States having started in September 2014. We expeeport six month data from this U.S. clinicahltiby early second quarter of 2016. We
plan to initiate our second Phase 3 clinical widbeloranib in patients with PWS in the Europeandd in the middle of 2015. Beloranib
received orphan designation for the treatment oS both the U.S. Food and Drug Administrationf-DAA, and the European Commission
in January 2013 and July 2014, respectively. Weebelthat rare conditions such as PWS afford uspgortunity to rapidly develop and
commercialize beloranib using smaller, more focueediless costly clinical trials, relative to th@equired to develop beloranib for the broz
severe obesity population.
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Published population studies estimate that thegbeaee of PWS in the United States and in the EranpJnion ranges from 1 in 8,00(
1in 50,000. The physiological drive to eat in pats with PWS is so powerful that they will go teat lengths to eat large quantities of food,
even if it is spoiled, indigestible or unpalatatdeothers. Unsupervised patients will often eghpoint that it causes serious physical harm o
death. As a result, caregivers are often forcquaoe locks and alarms on refrigerators and panthiat contain food. Despite attempts to
control the access to food, the typical adult patveith PWS is morbidly obese and, based on ouluatian of published survival data, has an
average life expectancy of 32 years of age. Unfiately, neither dietary intervention nor currergisailable pharmaceutical therapies bring
meaningful benefit to patients with PWS and, assailt, they experience severe and life-threatecamgequences of their condition.
Furthermore, existing surgical techniques suchaaitric surgery are contraindicated in PWS, ageptg with PWS often overeat to a point
whereby they can rupture their stomachs, whicheigifently a cause of death. Since beloranib wdnkaigh a novel mechanism that does not
appear to require a fully functioning hypothalamintrol pathway, we believe that obese patients wgnditions in which increased hunger is
central to the disease may respond well to treatmgh beloranib.

Zafgen was founded in 2005 to explore novel apgreato obesity therapeutics, including agents kntmanhibit methionine
aminopeptidase 2, or MetAP2, that had been fourttite unprecedented weight loss and metabolic agwvgments in mice. After performing a
wide range of experiments to validate the effe€fgl@tAP2 inhibitors in validated animal models, s@mmitted the full resources of the
company to testing the efficacy and safety of M&Ahibition in obese patients and to establistivegfeasibility of MetAP2 inhibitors for
eventual commercialization. This effort led to mitiation of medicinal chemistry efforts to idefytinovel MetAP2 inhibitors, and to search for
compounds that were more advanced in clinical agreént. We identified beloranib as a suitable ¢ge#lising candidate, and, in parallel with
preparing beloranib for use in otherwise healthlydihese patients, we conducted our own chemistrgram to identify compounds with
complementary characteristics. After completingligs to establish preliminary safety, mechanisraation, manufacturing feasibility and
clinical proof of concept, we advanced beloranila @atinical development candidate and exploredgpiglication in severely obese patient
populations. Our early clinical experience hightighseveral key aspects of beloranib’s actionsudtieg rapid and robust weight loss, change
in circulating hormones known to impact fat metéul clinically significant reductions in cardiovasar disease risk markers and a
particularly striking impact on hunger. These bésahay be of particular relevance to patientsesuffy from severe obesity and life-limiting
obesity driven by other underlying conditions, ddwhom existing therapies fail to bring neededéfés.

HIAO is most commonly caused by damage incurreihduemoval of a central nervous system tumor dadl@niopharyngioma, but it
can also result from less common types of hypoth&@njury such as strokes, brain trauma, or ramliatherapy to the brain. We recently
completed a Phase 2 clinical trial of beloranib adstered twice weekly in 14 patients with HIAO sad by the treatment of
craniopharyngioma or pituitary macroadenoma. Wepkesd mean weight loss of 3.4 kg and 6.2 kg ingpdsi with HIAO after four and eight
weeks of treatment with beloranib, respectivelycantrast to 0.3 kg mean weight loss in patiematad with placebo for four weeks.
Improvements in cardiovascular disease risk faaiblpids and inflammation (measured by C-reactivetein) were also observed. In 2015,
we plan to establish the regulatory path for astegiion program with U.S. and European Union ratguy authorities for our HIAO program,
and will decide whether to pursue additional clitials of beloranib in patients with HIAO follomg completion of our Phase 3 trial in the
United States of beloranib in patients with PWS. & to seek orphan drug designation for thermeat of craniopharyngioma-associated
obesity in the United States and European Union.

We are pursuing clinical development of belorarsladreatment for severely obese patients in thergépopulation, including patients
otherwise eligible for bariatric surgery. Bariatsigrgery eligibility criteria generally identify ggical candidates as those patients with body
mass indices, or BMIs, greater than 40 kd/nor those with BMIs over 35 kg/Awho also have a significant and uncontrolled coditbr
condition. Based on these criteria, it is estimatmolservatively that there will be at least 16 imilladults in the United States eligible for
bariatric surgery by the time beloranib or anotkietAP2 inhibitor could become available

2
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commercially. Bariatric surgery results in sigrgfit weight loss, but the financial expense andgtiential for complications, adverse events
and longer-term side effects limit its overall atiop, with only a few hundred thousand patientthim United States undergoing bariatric
surgery each year. Existing pharmacotherapiestriesiglss weight loss than surgical options, aras¢htherapies not only have undesirable sic
effects, but also have risk of abuse. Due to theificant barriers associated with bariatric suyggnd the limited weight loss potential of
currently marketed pharmaceutical products, theeesignificant unmet need for the treatment ofepig with severe obesity. We believe this
patient population would benefit from MetAP2 inhdyitreatment through the reduction of body wemyid through improvement of other co-
morbid conditions.

In 2013, we completed a 12-week Phase 2a clinidldf beloranib administered twice weekly in obgmtients. We observed placebo-
adjusted weight loss of up to 10.3% after 12 wedkseatment with beloranib. In addition, we obsgtveductions in levels of low density
lipoprotein cholesterol, C-reactive protein andtslys blood pressure. Patients treated with beliraiso reported reduced hunger, as assesse
using a visual analog scale, a widely used selfnted measure of hunger and related endpoints nitfatéd a Phase 2b clinical trial of
beloranib as a treatment for severe obesity irgéreeral population in patients who also have tyd@aBetes in December 2014. We expect to
report interim six month data from this clinicabtrin late 2015 or early 2016. We are also evahgaadditional proprietary MetAP2 inhibitors
beyond beloranib as potential development candidate would provide increased patient conveniémeiee form of oral dosing, or an
otherwise improved clinical profile. A decision wether to subsequently advance beloranib intotpivdals for severe obesity or to leverage
the opportunity to advance another MetAP2 inhibiwo early development for severe obesity is dpdited to be made on the basis of results
obtained from our Phase 3 clinical trial of beldbain patients with PWS and discussions with reuiaauthorities. MetAP2 inhibitors may
also have utility in the treatment of other metabdiseases, such as nonalcoholic fatty liver disear NAFLD, and nonalcoholic
steatohepatitis, or NASH. In a mouse model of diehyeNAFLD, and NASH, our second product candida@\-839, a MetAP2 inhibitor,
reduced the severity of NAFLD and NASH.

Beloranib is a novel, first-in-class injectable #maolecule therapy with a uniqgue mechanism ofacthat reduces hunger while
stimulating the use of stored fat as an energycsouBeloranib is the first anti-obesity agent vtk potential to address two important
abnormalities that are present in the obese patibahger that is inappropriate relative to the amafirenergy stored as fat and dysregulation
of fat metabolism, which causes more fat to be naakstored in an obese patient than in a learpeBeloranib acts through potent
inhibition of MetAP2, an enzyme that modulatesdltvity of key cellular processes that control aetlism. MetAP2 inhibitors work, at least
in part, by directing MetAP2 binding to cellularets mediators, thereby reducing the tone of sighal drive lipid synthesis by the liver and
fat storage throughout the body. In this mannertA®2 inhibition serves the purpose of re-estahtighialance to the ways the body packages
and metabolizes fat and glucose. MetAP2 inhibitedsice the production of new fatty acid moleculgshe liver and help convert stored fats
into useful energy, while reducing hunger.

We have completed six clinical trials, includinget Phase 2 clinical trials, evaluating beloranibwer 200 patients. Although these
clinical trials were of short duration and desigtedemonstrate safety and tolerability, significdecreases in both body weight and sense of
hunger were observed in patients treated with balbrwhen compared to the placebo group. In additiee observed improvements in
cardiovascular disease risk factors such as plastabcholesterol, low density lipoprotein cholesteand C-reactivgrotein. Additional clinice
trials of longer-term treatment with beloranib desid to demonstrate efficacy are required beforeamesubmit an NDA for beloranib as a
treatment for any indication that we are pursulngour ongoing Phase 2b clinical trial of beloraaiha treatment for severe obesity in the
general population and our ongoing Phase 3 climicagram of beloranib as a treatment for obesity lyperphagia patients with PWS, patit
are being treated with beloranib for a substantialhger period of time than as treated in ourieadlinical trials. Across our completed
clinical trials, beloranib has been wadlerated at doses in the range of 1.0 mg to 2.@dmginistered twice weekly, and has not been astsa
with serious side effects. Laboratory safety measuwrital signs and electrocardiograms have besrmarkable in all completed clinical trials
for all doses of beloranib tested.
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Product Pipeline

The following table summarizes our product pipekmel development status of our product candidatethé treatment of indications we
are currently pursuing:

Stage of
Indication Product Candidate Development Development Status
Obesity and hyperphagia in patients with PWS  Beloranib Phase 3 * Phase 2a clinical trial completed
» Phase 3 clinical trial of beloranib in
patients with PWS began in the United
States in September 2014, with six mc
data anticipated by early second quarter
of 2016
» Phase 3 clinical trial of beloranib in
patients with PWS in the European Ur
expected to begin in the middle of 2015
HIAO Beloranib Phase 2 » Phase 2 clinical trial recently completed
Severe obesity in the Beloranib Phase 2b » Phase 2a clinical trial completed

| lati - . .
general population » Phase 2b clinical trial began in Decembe

2014 with interim six month data
anticipated in late 2015 or early 2016

» Advancement into pivotal trials under
consideration

Second-generatioMetAPZz Pre-clinical ¢ Development candidates under
inhibitors consideration

NAFLD, NASH and abdominal obesi ZGN-839 Pre-clinical < Pre-clinical studies ongoing

* Investigational New Drug Application, or
IND, filing anticipated by the middle of
2015

Populations of Interest
Obesity Caused by Rare Conditions

Obesity is a complex medical disorder involving etite dysregulation and altered lipid and energyalaism that results in excessive
accumulation of fat tissue. We initially plan toveép beloranib for the treatment of subpopulatiohsbese patients, including those with rare
conditions such as PWS and HIAO, where obesitycs+4amorbidity of an underlying condition. These conalits frequently are characterizec

4
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increased and life-threatening hunger that occersrsdary to damage to the hypothalamus, genetiditomms affecting embryological
development or function of the hypothalamus, orditions that occur as a result of certain drug siffects, radiation therapy, or other
impairments to the normal function of the hypothala. Regardless of the causative agent or conditierresultant damage to the
hypothalamus impairs its normal function, includthg ability to modulate hunger. These conditiomsraost often associated with a severe
life-limiting form of obesity and neither dietamterventions nor currently available pharmaceuticatapies bring meaningful benefit to these
patients, for whom bariatric surgery is generatiptca-indicated. Based on results from animal erpemts in which compromised
hypothalamic function caused hunger and obesityhelieve that beloranib may have utility in theatraent of severe obesity and hyperphagic
or insatiable life-threatening hunger and hungéateel behavior, in human disease settings in whygothalamic food intake control centers
are compromised. We are developing beloranib isgtseibpopulations of patients as a treatment fesigband hyperphagia in patients with
PWS and HIAO, and are continuing to explore theafdeeloranib as a treatment for severe obesitiiéngeneral population.

PWS

PWS is the most common known genetic cause oftifeatening obesity. PWS is a rare and complexinberited genetic disorder,
which results from abnormalities of the fifteentiramosome. Symptoms associated with PWS are bdlieveesult, in part, from a defect in
the hypothalamus, an important supervisory centéné brain that controls many important bodilydtions, such as hunger, metabolism of
and carbohydrates, regulation of the sleep-wakkEe@md expression of emotions.

Beginning in childhood, the brain of a patient witl/S fails to regulate metabolism and appetite adlymAs a result, the vast majority
of patients with PWS suffer from hyperphagia andsity. Patients with PWS are constantly preoccupiill food and an unrelenting and
overriding physiological drive to eat. Hyperphagideading symptom of PWS, has a significant nggathpact on the patients’ quality of life
as well as drives obesity and a range of assoctatedorbidities. Normal satiety, or the feelingfoiness after eating, does not exist in a
person with PWS. The physiological drive to eadagpowerful and overwhelming that most patienthWwitWS will go to great lengths to eat
large quantities of food, even if it is spoileddigestible, or unpalatable to others. Furthermpatients with PWS have a reduced propensit
nausea and vomiting. In addition to obesity, aetsrof other symptoms can be associated with PWByding cognitive challenges,
intellectual disabilities, growth hormone deficigrghort stature, low sensitivity to pain, hypersafence, or excessive sleepiness, and
infertility due to hypogonadism, or insufficientqouction of sex hormones.

Hyperphagia impairs a patient with PWS'’s abilitflite independently, requiring costly and constguptervision to prevent overeating.
Without supervision, patients with PWS are likedydie prematurely as a result of choking, stomagture or tissue necrosis, or from
complications caused by morbid obesity, such dt higart failure and respiratory failure. Basedanevaluation of published survival data,
the average life expectancy of patients with PWa&pjsroximately 32 years of age. While a small nunabgatients with PWS are cared for in
costly group homes, the majority of patients with® are cared for in their homes and their familiedertake substantial effort to create
physical barriers to eating. These efforts resutitremely stressful environments as caregiveeigflace locks and alarms on cabinets and
refrigerators that contain food to impede a pateith PWSS5 efforts to obtain food at all times. We estinthg typical annual cost of treatin
patient with PWS is $100,000 to $200,000, excludimgoften significant costs of drug therapiestegldo other medical and psychological
conditions, and the costs of any lost time fromkvexperienced by their families due to respongibgirelated to the care of a patient with
PWS.

Published population studies estimate that thegbeace of PWS in the United States and in the EranpJnion ranges from 1 in 8,00(
1in 50,000. PWS is diagnosed at an early agecailgiin the first year of life, and we believe thdue to the severity of the condition and its
unique attributes, the vast majority of patienfeeted by PWS are diagnosed. We believe that appedgly 40-50% of patients with PWS are
12 years of age or older. We believe that furthéarimation regarding the prevalence of PWS willdrae available through a patient registry
that is currently being developed by the FoundatimrPrader-Willi Research.

5
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Although there are pharmacological treatments &ous symptoms of PWS, such as replacement of hgmavth hormone in patients
with PWS that are deficient in growth hormone, loage our discussions with physicians who treatgpasi with PWS, there are currently no
effective pharmacological treatments for obesitgt Byperphagia in PWS. Furthermore, bariatric syrggecontraindicated in patients with
PWS due to poor outcomes related to an increaskafirupture of the reduced stomach in the setifrgleeve gastrectomy or gastric bypass
procedures, or rupture of the restricted esophagte setting of gastric banding procedures withdonsequence of life-threatening gastric
perforation. Apart from restricted access to fond aonstant supervision to prevent both theeatening overeating and morbid obesity, the
currently no treatment for obesity and hyperphagigatients with PWS. In January 2014, we complat&hase 2a clinical trial evaluating
beloranibs ability to reduce body weight and to improve hpbagia in patients with PWS. In this clinical triae observed reductions in ba
weight, body mass, body fat content and hyperphagdéded behaviors in patients with PWS treatedh wiloranib. Based on the results of this
Phase 2a trial, we initiated our Phase 3 clinicagpam, which is planned to consist of two Phasérical trials, of beloranib in patients with
PWS, with the first Phase 3 trial in the Unitedt8sahaving started in September 2014. We expeepiart six month data from this U.S.
clinical trial by early second quarter of 2016. Ylan to initiate our second Phase 3 clinical tofdbeloranib in patients with PWS in the
European Union in the middle of 2015.

In January 2013 and July 2014, the FDA and Euro@anmission, respectively, granted orphan designdtr our application to treat
PWS with beloranib. Orphan drug designation provifie seven years of marketing exclusivity in th@teld States and ten years of marketing
exclusivity in the European Union.

HIAO

HIAO is most commonly caused by damage incurreihduemoval of a central nervous system tumor dadl@niopharyngioma, but it
can also result from less common types of hypoth&@njury such as strokes, brain trauma, or réaliatherapy to the brain. Approximately
30% to 50% of cases of craniopharyngioma are disggh@ childhood and adolescence. Manifestatiortsasfiopharyngioma include visual
disturbances, headaches and impairment to the hgiamus-pituitary axis affecting hormone secretitmeatment of these tumors commonly
involves radical surgical removal of the tumor mbg®ndoscopy or craniotomy, followed by radiatimatment, which results in disruption or
removal of neighboring structures including the ¢tyyalamus. Depending on the degree of damage toythethalamus caused by tumor
removal and subsequent radiation, there may beegreariation in hyperphagia and obesity prevalénggatients with craniopharyngioma tt
patients with PWS. Post-treatment hypothalamicwystion results in hyperphagia in approximately 58%hese patients, resulting in obesity
and a worsened quality of life.

Craniopharyngioma is a rare form of benign braimduthat occurs most commonly during childhood imfittrates near the optic nerve,
pituitary gland and the hypothalamus. Publishedufaifon studies estimate that the incidence ofiopraryngioma is 0.13 to 0.17 per
100,000 per year, or approximately 400 to 500 cpseyear in the United States and 650 to 850 qaesegear in the European Union. We
believe patients with craniopharyngioma-associategkity have a longer life expectancy than patiesitts PWS, which contributes to an
increased risk of developing obesity-related cobitbconditions such as type 2 diabetes in sucleptsti

Currently available therapeutic agents fail to jdewsatisfactory management of weight or hyperphagpatients with HIAO, and
bariatric surgery is not frequently employed irstpatient population. We believe this is relategecceived risks of surgical interventions in
this population including increased risk of pestgical complications and minimal impact on theentying problems of low metabolic rate ¢
hyperphagia.

We recently completed a Phase 2 clinical trial@bbanib administered twice weekly in 14 patientthwilAO caused by the treatment
craniopharyngioma or pituitary macroadenoma. Wepkesd mean weight loss of 3.4 kg and 6.2 kg ingpdsi with HIAO after four and eight
weeks of treatment with beloranib, respectivelycantrast to 0.3 kg mean weight loss in patiematad with placebo for four weeks.
Improvements in cardiovascular disease risk faablipids and inflammation (as measured by C-rigagbrotein) were also

6
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observed. In 2015, we plan to establish the regugiath for a registration program with U.S. anddpean Union regulatory authorities for
our HIAO program, and will decide whether to pursuiitional clinical trials of beloranib in patisnwith HIAO following completion of our
Phase 3 clinical trial in the United States of bahib in patients with PWS. We plan to seek orptharg designation for the treatment of
craniopharyngioma-associated obesity in the Urfittedes and European Union.

Severe Obesity in the General Populati

Our long-term intention is to pursue clinical demhent of beloranib or another MetAP2 inhibitoaaseatment for severely obese
patients in the general population. We believe paisent population would benefit from MetAP2 initdo treatment through the reduction of
body weight and through improvement of severitgymptoms of other co-morbid conditions. We belithet MetAP2 inhibitors have the
potential to offer this patient population, mostwdgfich is not adequately responsive to availabdeapies, substantial health and quality of life
benefits.

The most effective current treatment for severesitypés bariatric surgery, including procedurestsas the Roux-en-Y gastric bypass,
adjustable gastric banding, sleeve gastrectomybdioghancreatic diversion. Bariatric surgery prodsadramatic and sustained weight loss,
ranging on average from 20% to 35% one year pasteguiure and reduces overall mortality, but it asult in numerous complications and
adverse events including thrombotic events, sugiummonary embolism, infection, internal bleedipglmonary disease and gastrointestinal
obstruction, which sometimes require reoperatiainguhe post-operative period. Longer-term sidea$ of bariatric surgery, such as poor
nutrient absorption, strictures and hernias, hése lzeen observed.

Bariatric surgery eligibility criteria generallyadtify surgical candidates as those patients witsB greater than 40 kg/# or those wit
BMIs over 35 kg/n?who also have a significant and uncontrolled cobiitbcondition. Based on these criteria, it is eated conservatively
that there will be at least 16 million adults ire tnited States eligible for bariatric surgery by time beloranib or another MetAP2 inhibitor
could become available commercially. In additiotthte BMI and co-morbidity eligibility criteria, p&ints need to satisfy a number of other
criteria in order to have bariatric surgery; a selyeobese patient must not have any known endecduses of obesity, a drug or alcohol
problem, or an uncontrolled psychological conditiand must understand and appreciate the risksedfurgical intervention. According to the
American Society for Metabolic & Bariatric Surgeagd to HealthGrades, the average cost of bargdrigery in the United States is
approximately $22,000-$38,000. As a result of tHisiing criteria and the financial commitmentgjuéred, only a few hundred thousand
patients undergo bariatric surgery each year dveugh over 16 million patients in the United Stateseligible for the surgery based on BMI
alone.

The pharmaceutical industry has undertaken sewarads of activity to discover and develop new driagghe treatment of obesity.
Relative to bariatric surgery, pharmaceutical treatts have produced modest efficacy. In additigistiag pharmacotherapeutics for obesity
often have undesirable adverse event profiles.
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The following table summarizes information from qiigl trials supporting registration for the currpharmacological treatments for
severe obesity and the key limitations of thesatinents, and unless specified otherwise in the tablow, weight loss data is based on one

year or longer treatment with the dn

% Placebc-Adjusted

Treatment Weight Loss* Key Limitations**
Phentermine Variable » Short-term (a few weeks) use only
» Should not be taken during pregnai
Xenical® /alli 3% » Unpleasant gastrointestinal side effects relateatietary fat malabsorption
» Should not be taken during pregnai
Qsymia® 6.6% at target dose of « Known human teratogen — cannot be used in waiméss contraception can be
7.5mg/46 mg assured
8.6-9.4% at high dose of
15mg/92mc¢
Belviq® 3.1-3.3% » Should not be taken during pregnancy or by womka are planning to become
pregnan
Contrave 2.0-4.1% « Patients should be monitored for suicidal thdagind behaviors (black box warning,
antidepressant class labeling)
» Should not be taken during pregnai
Saxend&® 3.7-4.5% » Should not be used in patients with a persondmily history of medullary thyroid

carcinoma or in patients with multiple endocrineplasia syndrome type 2 (black t
warning)

Should not be taken during pregnail

* Placebo-adjusted weight loss refers to the diffiee in mean weight loss observed in drug-treaagidiis and the weight change within
the same trial observed in placebo-treated patid@iis analysis takes into account, at least im, plae impact of diet and lifestyle
interventions employed in drug registration trii

**  Some patients in our clinical trials of belordriiave reported gastrointestinal side effects, sisamausea, diarrhea or vomiting as well as
sleep disturbance. In addition, beloranib will likearry a Category X label and therefore be contligated in pregnant women or

women looking to become pregna

In 2013, we completed a 12-week Phase 2a clini@dldf beloranib administered twice weekly in obgetients. We observed placebo-
adjusted weight loss, or weight loss observed beybat seen in the control arm, of up to 10.3%r&ffeweeks of treatment with beloranib. In
addition, we observed reductions in levels of l@nsity lipoprotein cholesterol, C-reactive protaird systolic blood pressure. Patients treate
with beloranib also reported reduced hunger, assassl using a visual analog scale, a widely udédegorted measure of hunger and related
endpoints. We initiated a Phase 2b clinical tridbeloranib as a treatment for severe obesity éngineral population in patients who also have
type 2 diabetes in December 2014. We expect tatr@gerim six month data from this clinical trial late 2015 or early 2016. We are also
evaluating additional proprietary MetAP2 inhibitdosyond beloranib as potential development caneléddtat would provide increased patient
convenience in the form of oral dosing, or an oth®e improved clinical profile. A decision on whethto subsequently advance beloranib intc
pivotal trials for severe obesity or to leverage tipportunity to advance another MetAP2 inhibitdoiearly development for severe obesity is
anticipated to be made on the basis of resultdradtdrom our Phase 3 clinical program of beloréanipatients with PWS and discussions v
regulatory authorities. Future clinical developmeraty address the impact of beloranib or a relatad dn type 2 diabetes and other common

co-morbid conditions associated with obesity.
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Our Strategy

Our objective is to be a leader in the discoveeualopment and commercialization of novel therapesignificantly improve the health
and well-being of patients affected by obesity aamhplex metabolic disorders. Key elements of oategy include:

Advance the clinical development of beloranib inlgaopulations of obese patients, including thosetwiare conditions, where
obesity is a co-morbidity of an underlying conditioDiseases in this category include PWS, HIAO and agenic loss of function
mutations, including leptin deficiency and melambicoreceptor subclass 4 mutations. We believe @ conditions such as PWS
and HIAO afford us an opportunity to rapidly deyekind commercialize beloranib using smaller, mooei$ed and less costly
clinical trials, relative to those required to dieypebeloranib for the broader severe obesity pdmraBeloranib exerts its weight
loss effects using a novel mechanism that doegpmtar to require fully functioning hypothalamiaitrol pathways. We believe
this mechanism is well-suited for patients with gibethat is caused by the failure of hypothalafomd intake control mechanisms,
in particular the control of insatiable life-threaing hunger and hunger-related behavior, or hyagia. In January 2014, we
completed a Phase 2a clinical trial of beloranila &a®atment for obesity and hyperphagia in patienth PWS, the most common
known genetic cause of life-threatening obesitythia clinical trial, we observed reductions in gadeight, body mass, body fat
content and hyperphagiatated behaviors in patients with PWS treated Wéloranib. Based on the results of this Phasedawe
initiated our Phase 3 clinical program, which iarpied to consist of two Phase 3 clinical trialbelbranib in patients with PWS,
with the first Phase 3 trial in the United Statasihg started in September 2014. We expect to tegpomonth data from this U.S.
clinical trial by early second quarter of 2016. Y\lan to initiate our second Phase 3 clinical idbeloranib in patients with PWS
the European Union in the middle of 2015. We rdgerdimpleted a Phase 2 clinical trial of beloraa@ministered twice weekly in
14 patients with HIAO caused by the treatment ah@pharyngioma or pituitary macroadenoma. We afesemean weight loss of
3.4 kg and 6.2 kg in patients with HIAO after fand eight weeks of treatment with beloranib, regpely, in contrast to 0.3 kg
mean weight loss in patients treated with placelbddur weeks. In 2015, we plan to establish tlgrii@tory path for a registration
program with U.S. and European Union regulatorjanities for our HIAO program, and will decide whet to pursue additional
clinical trials of beloranib in patients with HIA@Illowing completion of our Phase 3 clinical trialthe United States of beloranib
in patients with PWS

Advance the clinical development of MetAP2 inhihigofor the treatment of severely obese patientshia general population
including those who are candidates for bariatricigery. We believe the severely obese patient populationldvbenefit from
MetAP2 inhibitor treatment through the reductiorbofly weight and through improvement of other cabitbconditions. Bariatric
surgery results in significant weight loss, but financial expense and the potential for complaadi adverse events and longer-
term side effects limit its overall adoption, withly a few hundred thousand patients in the Ur8edes undergoing bariatric
surgery each year. Existing pharmacotherapiestrigsigss weight loss than surgical options, arasé¢htherapies not only have
undesirable side effects, but also have risk okabWe completed a 12-week Phase 2a clinicaldfiaéloranib administered twice
weekly in obese patients. We observed placebo-djwgeight loss of up 10.3% after 12 weeks of tneait with beloranib in
addition to reductions in levels of low densitydjpotein cholesterol, C-reactive protein and systalbod pressure. We initiated a
Phase 2b clinical trial of beloranib as a treatniensevere obesity in the general population itigpds who also have type 2
diabetes in December 2014. We expect to repontiintsix month data from this clinical trial in [aB®15 or early 2016. A decision
on whether to subsequently advance beloranib intmtad trials for severe obesity or to leverage dipportunity to advance another
MetAP2 inhibitor into early development for seveteesity is anticipated to be made on the basissflts obtained from our
Phase 3 clinical trial in the United States of bahib in patients with PWS and discussions withutatpry authorities

Leverage the knowledge of our experienced teamrofyddevelopers that have deep expertise in thedfigfl obesity, the functiol
of MetAP2 inhibitors and metabolic disease®ur management team
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deep expertise in obesity and related metaboliadiss, the function of MetAP2 inhibitors, the gjtha and weaknesses of current
treatments for obesity and the ability to recogiimepotential of novel therapies for the treatnarabesity. Our team is
complemented by highly experienced external coastdtand collaborators in the areas of drug disgpdevelopment and
regulatory approva

» Maintain flexibility in commercializing and maximiing the value of our development progran While we intend to develop and
commercialize beloranib for indications such as PAN& other rare conditions causing obesity, we emdgr into strategic
relationships with biotechnology or pharmaceuta@hpanies to realize the full value of beloranilwor other earlier-stage
development programs. For beloranib, we may enterane or more strategic relationships to accesader geographic markets or
additional indications. These relationships coulcls on specific patient populations and their giasgs, on regional development,
or on distribution and sales of belorar

» Development of other potential product candidatWe have a second program focused on the delivek§edAP2 inhibitors with
targeted tissue distribution that shows early psanim animal models of NAFLD, NASH and abdominag¢siby. Our lead MetAP2
inhibitor in this class of molecules is called ZBR9. We plan to advance multiple candidate drugsearly development to
establish clinical proof of concept, safety ane@tability of these molecules as a way to leveragdardernal knowhow in metaboli
diseases and the effects of MetAP2 inhibitors. €snpounds, typified by ZGN-839, could provideitiddal short-term value to
our company through focused development partnessnig collaboration:

Mechanism of Action

Beloranib is a novel, first-in-class injectable $maolecule therapy with a uniqgue mechanism ofacthat reduces hunger while
stimulating the use of stored fat as an energycsouBeloranib is the first new anti-obesity ageithwhe potential to address two important
abnormalities that are present in the obese patibahger that is inappropriate relative to the amafirenergy stored as fat and dysregulation
of fat metabolism, which causes more fat to be nzadkestored in an obese patient than in a learopers

Beloranib is a potent inhibitor of MetAP2, an enzythat modulates the activity of key cellular pszs that control metabolism.
MetAP2 inhibitors work, at least in part, by direct MetAP2 binding to cellular stress mediators],ahus, reducing fat synthesis by the liver
and fat storage throughout the body. In this manetAP2 inhibition increases metabolism of fat@asenergy source. MetAP2 inhibitors ¢
reduce hunger and food intake by novel mechanibats¢quire further study to be fully understood.

Beloranib was evaluated for its potential for tiegiobesity following publication of studies in tReoceedings of the National Academy
of Science 2002 showing anti-obesity efficacy in animaksatied with a prototype MetAP2 inhibitor. These &adhowed that MetAP2
inhibitor treatment was associated with loss otifsue accompanied by an increase in fat oxidatmticating a redirection of fuel usage
toward utilization of stored fats as a source @rgy. Reduced food intake also was observed itetlesnimals, suggesting either direct effects
of the agent on central feeding regulation or atidn of a feedback loop linking the release andation of stored fat to appetite.

The MetAP2 inhibitor fumagillin, a structural anglof beloranib, was shown in 2004 to induce a npvetein-protein interaction
involving MetAP2 and extracellular-signal-regulatédase 1, or ERK1, a cell stress- and growth fastionulated kinase. This complex
reduces the activation state of ERK1. A 2005 puaibiinn inDiabetesshowed that animals lacking ERK1 resist both haghdietinduced obesit
and insulin resistance, supporting the hypothésisdttenuation of ERK activity could be an impottaomponent of the beneficial metabolic
effects of MetAP2 inhibitor treatment. Several hormas well-documented to be involved in energy nwisim are affected by beloranib,
including leptin, adiponectin and fibroblast grovidittor-21. These hormones are thought to conibuthe weight-reducing effects of
beloranib and also are known to be involved in c@mdf body weight, fat metabolism and glucose rhetiem. This series of mechanistic
effects leads to rapid and sustained reductiorxoéss body weight with beloranib treatment, suchaassbeen observed in animal studies and
our clinical trial experience to date.
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Our clinical experience to date shows that beldramatment is also associated with improvementsidiovascular disease risk factors
such as plasma total cholesterol, high densitypliptein cholesterol, or HDL, and C-reactive prot@nCRP. Plasma total cholesterol, HDL,
CRP, and systolic blood pressure are considerbd the most rigorous systemic biomarkers of caaBoular disease risk. Our clinical
experience to date with beloranib suggests thaisisis not associated with an increase in bloedsure or heart rate, which makes it
particularly relevant to severely obese patiemtsyliom a broad spectrum of elevated cardiovascislafactors often is seen.

An illustration of the MetAP2 inhibitor mechanisrhaxction and therapeutic effects follows:

Target
Engagement

Attenuated ERK Reduced hunger and food

Pathway Impact Dirug Effect(s) Disease Impact

phosphorylution intake
: + i +
¢ Attenuated Cellular Stress | Reduced Fat Synthesis

METAP2 i, Cascade 4 +
Inhibition ™% + ¥ Increased Fat Burning
: Gene Expression Changes i i
+ Reduced Cholestenod
i Metabolite and Hormone | +

i Rapid Weight Loss

: ,

5 Improved Glycemic Control
-."..' +
¥ Reduced LDLe and CRP

+

! Improved Liver Health

i Changes (e.g.. FGF-21, Reduced Inflammation

Adipomecting

Clinical Trials

Beloranib was initially formulated for intravenoagdministration to facilitate early clinical effort®ur clinical program has been oriented
to first establish whether beloranib would leadvigight loss at tolerated and safe doses, and theartsition to the more convenient
subcutaneous injection method of administratiordrelopment in our indications of interest, inéhgdPWS, HIAO and severe obesity.

We have completed six clinical trials evaluatindpbenib in over 200 patients. Our first three daditrials, ZAF-001, ZAF-003 and ZAF-
101, established a working dose range for belorabdve 0.65 mg and below 3 mg. To further explbeedfficacy, safety, tolerability and
impact of beloranib on severe obesity, we condug#i-201, a 12-week clinical trial of beloranib aithistered by subcutaneous injection
twice weekly to 124 obese patients at doses off@61.2 mg, and 2.4 mg. This placebo-controlledidi®-blinded trial, established that the
efficacy of beloranib continued beyond four weekd was associated with sustained impact on key dikens of effect.

These clinical trials set the stage for continueal@ation of beloranib, by subcutaneous administnain patients with PWS and HIAO.
ZAF-211 was a placebo-controlled, double-blindéal gvaluating safety and tolerability as well s effects of 1.2 mg or 1.8 mg doses of
beloranib in patients with PWS on body weight, bedynposition and hyperphagia-related behaviors.-22F was a randomized, doulidénd
placebo-controlled trial comparing the effects df.& mg dose of beloranib versus placebo on bodghtidbody composition and hunger and
related parameters in patients with HIAO.

11
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The table below summarizes the structure of andikeljngs from these six clinical trials of beloilan

BMI
Range
of
Trial Treatment Patients
Number Brief Description Duration (kg/m 2) Observations
ZAF-001 Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled 4 weeks 32-45 Dose dependent weight reductions with
Phase 1t trial 0.9 mg/m2 twice weekly resulting in -3.6 kg
Escalating doses of 0.1 mgfm0.3 mg/n¥, gg‘g’:géoj\fe\:isxgé&éz kg change with
and 0.9 mg/n%, or approx. 0.2 mg, 0.6 mg, a
2mg Metabolic benefits (C-reactive protein and
1-hour i infusi . K metabolic hormones) observed in dose
-hour intravenous infusion twice weekly dependent fashion
Safe and well tolerated at all dose levels
ZAF-003 Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled 4 weeks or~  30-50 Dose dependent weight reductions with 6.C
Phase 1t trial weeks dose resulting in6.7 kg weight loss, 3.0 mg
Static dosing scheme of 3.0 mg, 6.0 mg, anc -4.7 kg, and placebo in -0.3 kg over 4 weeks
mg Once weekly 2.5 mg dose resulted in weight
1-hour int infusi loss of -3.1 kg over 7 weeks and with greater
-hour intravenous infusion variability
* 3.0 nk]lg ?nd46.0 mkg doses given twice 6.0 mg not very well tolerated with
weeKly Tor 4 weeks gastrointestinal side effects and sleep
+ 2.5 mg dose given twice weekly for the disturbance emerging as dose limiting advers
first week and once weekly for the effects; Doses of 3.0 mg or lower were well
Subsequent 6 weeks. tolerated and effective
Once-weekly regimen was less effective than
bi-weekly administration
ZAF-101 Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled 4 weeks 30-45 Significant weight reduction with all doses;
Phase 1t trial mg dose resulting in -6.1 kg, 2.0 mg in -4.2

1.0 mg, 2.0 mg, and 4.0 mg were evaluated

Subcutaneous injection twice weekly

12

kg, 1.0 mg in -4.3 kg, and placebo in -1.2 kg

Comparable metabolic benefits observed as i
prior trials, including body composition
improvements; sense of hunger reduced with
all doses

4.0 mg not as well tolerated with similar
adverse event profiles as with 6.0 mg
intravenous dose in ZAF-003 — mainly
gastrointestinal side effects and sleep
disturbances; injection site adverse events
unremarkable
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BMI
Range
of
Trial Treatment Patients
Number Brief Description Duration (kg/m 2) Observations
ZAF-201 Randomized, placebo controlled, double- 12 weeks 30-50 0.3 mg not effective, 3.2 mg not well toleral
Phase 2¢ blinded, parallel design trial both doses eliminated after first 2-4 weeks of
Fixed beloranib doses including 0.3 mg, 0.6 dosing (pre-defined)
1.2 mg, 2.4 mg, and 3.2 mg or placebo . .
g : Progressive and dose dependent weight
Subcutaneous injections twice weekly reduction: -10.9 kg in the 2.4 mg group, -
6.9 kg in the 1.2 mg group, -5.5 kg in the 0.6
mg group, versus -0.4 kg in placebo
Comparable metabolic and body composition
benefits observed as with prior studies
Most adverse events, including sleep
disturbances, mild-moderate and transient
ZAF-211 Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled 4 weeks 26-44 Trend toward reduction in body weight
Phase 2:¢ parallel design trial measured by scale weight; -1.27% in
_ beloranib-treated patients (pooled analysis of
1'|2 mg a_nd 1.8 mg dqielsa\(/)\;‘sbeloramb or 1.2 and 1.8 mg treatment groups) versus
placebo in patients wit +0.34% change in placebo-treated patients
Subcutaneous injections twice weekly Reduction in body mass assessed by dual-
energy x-ray absorptiometry, or DEXA.1%
in beloranib-treated patients versus +2.0%
change in placebo-treated patients
Reduction in total fat mass assessed by DE
-2.9% in beloranib-treated patients versus
+3.6% change in placebo-treated patients
Reduction in hyperphagia related behavior:
1.8 mg dose level only).
ZAF-221 Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled 4 weeks 30-55 We observed mean weight loss of 3.4 kg and
Phase 2 design trial with 4 week 6.2 kg in patients with HIAO after 4 and
18 q f bel i lacebo i i textension 8 weeks of treatment with beloranib,
V\}ithml—?lAgse of beloranib Or placebo In patients respectively, in contrast to 0.3 kg mean we

» Subcutaneous injections twice weekly

13

loss in patients treated with placebo for 4
weeks

Safe and well tolerated at all dose levels
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Across all our clinical trials, beloranib has beesll-tolerated at doses we would expect to expilothe future. There have been no
serious adverse events, or SAES, attributed tadweillo in our completed clinical trials. The mairvarse events, or AEs, including those
leading to drop-outs, in patients dosed with belirdave been sleep disturbances, principally neatefl as delayed onset of sleep, nausea a
vomiting. For certain of our clinical trials, weni@med statistical analysis of our results andrefhe pvalue, which is a statistical calculati
that relates to the probability that a differeneén@en groups happened by chance, withvalpe of less than 0.05 (i.e., less than 5% prdiba
that the difference happened by chance) generalhghused as the threshold to indicate statissicglificance. We expect that the FDA will
perform its own independent statistical analysegetermine if our data support regulatory approkzakh of our clinical trials is discussed in
more detail below.

Phase 1b Clinical Trials

ZAF-001—A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Contrééd Multiple Dose Study, to Assess Safety, Tolerdiby,
Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of ZGN-433 @oranib for Intravenous Infusion) in Obese Volunters

ZAF-001 was a four-week double-blind, placebo colied, dose escalation and multiple dose trial cated in Australia. The primary
clinical endpoints of this clinical trial were sfetolerability, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodygits of beloranib administered by
intravenous administration. 31 Caucasian femaliepist with an average age of 52.2 years and Bhtjeaf 32-45 kg/mé, were enrolled in
this clinical trial. 22 patients received beloraritd nine patients received placebo. The patieats divided into three different cohorts, with
each cohort receiving 0.10 mgAn0.30 mg/n?, or 0.90 mg/n# of beloranib or placebo via intravenous infusioicewveekly for four weeks.
The primary objectives of this clinical trial wete (i) evaluate the safety and tolerability of valuib in obese patients and (ii) determine the
plasma pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics ofdrgb in obese patients. A secondary objectivetovadbtain information on weight loss
in obese patients exposed to beloranib for eighéwenous doses over a one-month period. A totabaif the 31 enrolled patients completed
this clinical trial as planned, receiving all eighfusions of study drug. Three placebo patientstaro beloranib-treated patients withdrew from
this clinical trial because of loss of venous as@@®d other reasons unrelated to drug treatment.

The key results of this clinical trial are summadZor the Per Protocol population, patients cotmaethe full dosing period and
receiving a minimum of six doses, as follows:

4-week Phase 1b Proof of Concept Clinical Trial itDbese Patients (ZAF-001)

Number of
Patients Pe Baseline Bod Average
Weight p-
Trial Arm Protocol Weight (kg) Change (kg value*
Placebc 6 96.C -1.2 —
Beloranib 0.1 mg/n? 6 105.2 -0.€ —
Beloranib 0.3 mg/n2 6 100.: -1.2 —
Beloranib 0.9 mg/n2 8 104.2 -3.€ —

* statistical analysis was not performed in this padaoncept tria

» Post hoc analyses suggested that beloranilfelvadable effects on other parameters, includindylfat content, C-reactive protein,
low density lipoprotein cholesterol and hung

There were no drug-related SAEs or treatment eméagb/erse events, or TEAEs. Headaches and gassbiral symptoms were the
most common TEAESs in all groups including placehd gended to be mild in intensity and transientmi@sions or bruising which occurred at
infusion sites, often due to difficulty in IV acsgsvere reported. There were no clinically sigaifitchanges reported as TEAESs in hematol
serum chemistry or urinalysis values for any ofpih&ents in any of the dose groups. The objectdiébis clinical trial were met. Weight loss
was a secondary clinical endpoint and was not stdgjeto statistical analysis.
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ZAF-003—Phase 1b Trial of Beloranib, a Novel Methinine Aminopeptidase 2 (MetAP-2) Inhibitor for Treatment of Extreme
Obesity: Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Contro#id, Escalating Doses in Female Volunteers

ZAF-003 was a double-blind, placebo controlled,edescalation and multiple dose trial conductedustfalia. A static dosing scheme of
3.0 mg, 6.0 mg, and 2.5 mg was evaluated and a#iglwere administered via 1-hour intravenous infysiith 3.0 mg and 6.0 mg doses given
twice weekly for four weeks, and the 2.5 mg dosegitwice weekly for the first week and once wedkiythe subsequent six weeks for total
of seven weeks of treatment. Patients who qualdiéer the screening round were randomized 2:fettrinent with beloranib or placebo. 25
obese female patients were enrolled, and 22 pateamhpleted this clinical trial. Three patientshaitew from this clinical trial, two from the
6.0 mg treatment group, due to tolerability limibas and one from the 2.5 mg treatment group das tadverse event deemed not to be relate
to study drug. 92% of the patients were Caucadi#nof the patients were Asian and 4% of the patiamre Pacific Islanders. The average
ages were between 44.0 and 51.3 years for theugatieatment groups. The primary objective of dtiisical trial was to demonstrate safe
doses of intravenous infusion of beloranib for ithn of body weight in female obese patients Wiiseline BMIs ranging from 30 to 50 kg/m
2, The secondary objectives of this clinical triane to (i) confirm the safety profile of beloramibobese female patients receiving
incrementally larger fixed doses than the dosemegipreviously tested in ZAF-001, (ii) evaluate thierance, weight loss and ease of
administration for continuing a safe dose of beldyaon a weekly schedule, (ii) correlate higheradlevels of beloranib with measures of
reduction in body weight and hunger, (iii) confithe pharmacokinetic profile of beloranib, and @eyrelate exposure of beloranib with
changes in biomarkers for fasting plasma lipigsdlimetabolism, fasting insulin and thyroid funetio

The key results of this clinical trial are summadZor the Per Protocol population, patients cotimethe full dosing period and
receiving a minimum of six doses, as follows:

4-week Phase 1b Proof of Concept Clinical Trial itDbese Patients (ZAF-003)

Number of
Patients Pe Baseline Bod Average
Weight p-
Trial Arm Protocol Weight (kg) Change (kg value*
Placebc 8 104.¢ -0.1 —
Beloranib 3.0 mg twice week 6 102.: -4.7 —
Beloranib 6.0 mg twice week 3 105.t -6.7 —
Beloranib 2.5 mg once week 5 94.C -2.7 —

* statistical analysis was not performed in this padaoncept tria

» Post hoc analyses suggested that beloranilfelvadable effects on other parameters, includindytfat content, C-reactive protein,
low density lipoprotein cholesterol and hung

The primary and secondary objectives of this clihtdal were met, showing the maximally toleratkxse of 3.0 mg of beloranib
administered by intravenous infusion was identifiedight loss was uniformly observed at both 3.0and 6.0 mg dose levels of beloranib,
a visual analog scale of hunger revealed reduatitmunger at both doses. Further, a once-weekiymegwas evaluated with 2.5 mg of
beloranib, which was well-tolerated and showedtiahievidence of weight loss efficacy or reductiomiinger despite being well-tolerated.

ZAF-101- ZGN-440 (Beloranib for Subcutaneous Injedbn), A Novel Methionine Aminopeptidase 2 Inhibitorfor Treatment of
Obesity: A Randomized Double-Blind Placebo Controtd Dose Escalation Phase 1b Trial to Evaluate SafetPharmacokinetics,
Pharmacodynamics and Initial Weight Loss

ZAF-101 was a four-week, multi-dose trial usingdsehib formulated for subcutaneous, or SC, injeciioobese, otherwise healthy
females, conducted in Australia. This clinical ltiieas a double-blind, placebo controlled, dose lesicm and multiple dose study. Doses of 1.0
mg, 2.0 mg, and 4.0 mg of beloranib were
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evaluated and all doses were administered by SfCtioj twice weekly for four weeks. Patients whalified after the screening were
randomized 1:1:1:1 to treatment with the three desgels of beloranib or placebo. 25 female Caucagatients were enrolled. Four patients
withdrew from this clinical trial, three from the®4mg treatment group and one from the 2.0 mgrireat group due to sleep disturbance. The
average ages were 46.0 to 49.9 years for the vatieatment groups and the BMI range of the patiesais 30-45 kg/rA. This clinical trial wa
designed to evaluate the safety and tolerabilityedbranib administered SC in obese female pati§stsondary objectives of this clinical trial
were to assess weight loss and responses in mietaimharkers over a dose range of beloranib irselfemale patients and to compare weigt
loss due to beloranib administered SC to that presly observed by beloranib administered intravehou

The key results of this clinical trial are summadzor the Per Protocol population, patients cotmaethe four-week dosing period and
receiving a minimum of six doses, as follows:

4-week Phase 1b Proof of Concept Clinical Trial itDbese Patients (ZAF-101)

Number of
Patients Pe Baseline Average
Body Weight
Trial Arm Protocol Weight (kg) Change (kg p-value
Placebc 6 97.: -1.2 —
Beloranib 1.0 m¢ 6 99.1 -4.3 <0.001
Beloranib 2.0 m¢ 5 92.7 -4.2 <0.001
Beloranib 4.0 m¢ 4 93.¢ -6.1 <0.001

There were no clinically significant changes indediory parameters, electrocardiograms, or vigiisiwith any of the doses. There were
no deaths or severe AEs reported in this clinigal. tAside from mild and transient injection sieactions, which were observed across all
treatment groups, including placebo, SC administnatf the drug appeared to be locally well-toletatHowever, the highest dose, or 4.0 mg
of beloranib, appeared to be less welerated systemically and led to more frequent enatd intensity TEAEs and premature trial withdrksy
mainly due to gastrointestinal events and sleequidiance. Sleep disturbance AEs were reported BY618f subjects in the 2.0 mg group (6
events), 85.7% of subjects in the 4.0 mg groupvéts), 83.3% of subjects in the 1.0 mg treatmentg (5 events) and 16.7% of subjects in
the placebo treatment group (1 event). All evehtdaep disturbance were deemed to be probablteckta study drug. Abnormal dreams,
mostly vivid dreams, were the other frequently régm sleep abnormalities reported as TEAES repdayet3.3% of subjects in the 2.0 mg d
group, 85.7% in the 4.0 mg dose group and 66.7#arl.0 mg dose group. No subjects reported abri@hreams in the placebo group. The
majority of sleep disorders were of mild severity3-3%6 in the 2.0 mg dose group, 33.3% in the 4.@oge group, 100% in the 1.0 mg dose
group; as were the majority of abnormal dreams—%3r8the 2.0 mg dose group, 85.7% in the 4.0 m@ dpsup, and 66.7% in the 1.0 mg
dose group. All remaining events were moderatewesty. A total of four subjects including one f@di in the 2.0 mg dose group and three
subjects from the 4.0 mg dose group withdrew froenttial due to sleep disturbance. The increasgdeance of early trial withdrawal due to
sleep disturbance in the 4.0 mg treatment grougestgd that this dose was less well tolerated.r@atgstinal disorders were frequently
reported across all dose groups. The greatestmagee of subjects to report gastrointestinal adverents, such as diarrhea and nausea, w
the placebo group, 50.0% (3 events in 3 subjecid)38.3% (2 events in 2 subjects), respectivelcurence of diarrhea in beloranib-treated
subjects ranged between 16.7% (1 event in 1 sQbijgcthe 2.0 mg dose group, and 42.9% (3 evenBssnbjects) in the 4.0 mg dose group.
Occurrence of nausea in beloranib-treated subjantged from 14.3% (1 event in 1 subject) for tfemg dose group, and 16.7% (1 event in 1
subject) in both the 1.0 and 2.0 mg dose groups.
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Phase 2a Clinical Trials

ZAF-201—Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlld, Dose Ranging Phase 2 Trial of Beloranib (ZGN-44for Subcutaneous
Injection), A Novel Methionine Aminopeptidase 2 Inhbitor, in Obese Subjects to Evaluate Weight Reduain, Safety, and
Pharmacokinetics Over 12 Weeks

ZAF-201 was a 12-week Phase 2a proof-of-concepiceli trial in 160 obese patients, of whom 122 waweed with beloranib, across
eight participating trial sites in Australia. 93.8%opatients were female, 97.5% were Caucasiargibeage age was 48.4 years and patient
a BMI range of 30-54 kg/rd. Patients were excluded from this clinical triahiey had been involved recently in another welghs trial, or if
they had clinically significant liver, renal, pulmary, cardiovascular, oncologic, gastrointestinséase, or severe mental illness. This clinical
trial was designed to evaluate weight loss andamsgs in metabolic biomarkers over a dose rangelofanib and to assess safety and
tolerability of beloranib over 12 weeks in obes#eyds. This was a randomized, placebo controtiedible-blinded, parallel design trial to
evaluate a range of fixed beloranib doses, incy@ir3 mg, 0.6 mg, 1.2 mg, 2.4 mg and 3.2 mg, inpammon to placebo. All doses were
administered as SC injections twice weekly for kxks.

Trial endpoints included safety and tolerabilityeight loss, body compaosition by bio-impedence, ptaokinetic, or PK, and
pharmacodynamic assessment. As stipulated in titeqml, our Safety Review Committee for this claditrial, or SRC, reviewed interim safi
and PK results after 36 patients from the init@itpf this clinical trial completed at least 2 \we®f treatment. Laboratory, electrocardiogram,
and vital sign reviews were deemed to be unreméelaid lacking any significant safety concerns. 3RC recommended to eliminate the
lowest and highest active dose groups, 0.3 mg &hg, thus leaving the doses of 0.6 mg, 1.2 mfn®y or placebo to be studied in the
remainder of this clinical trial. This was basedtib@ conclusion that the weight loss for the 0.3dnge was not clinically meaningful and the
3.2 mg dose was not well-tolerated. The most comAideading to early termination at the 2.4 mg 8i2img dose levels was sleep
disturbance.

As severely obese patients are at an increaseébrisiardiovascular disease, we measured systeaomadokers of cardiovascular disease
risk, including low density lipoprotein cholesterblDL, CRP, trigylcerides and blood pressure ialtparticipants, to determine beloranib’s
impact on such biomarkers. The results of thesmbiker measurements in this trial, as summarizémhhesuggest that beloranib treatment
does not increase the risk of cardiovascular desaad may be associated with reduced cardiovasdisiease risk. While we plan to include
biomarkers of cardiovascular disease risk as ap@ntifor our planned Phase 2b clinical trial ofdoanib as a treatment for severe obesity in
the general population, this trial will not be dgséd to establish the impact of beloranib treatreentardiovascular disease risks.

The key results of this trial are summarized fe& Ber Protocol population, patients completinglikeveek dosing period and receiving a
minimum of 16 of 24 doses, as follows:

12-week Phase 2a Proof of Concept Clinical Trial i®bese Patients (ZAF-201)

Percent
Placebo-
Number of Adjusted
Patients Pe Baseline Mean
Body Weight Weight
Trial Arm Protocol Weight (kg) Change (kg Change p-value
Placebc 36 102.: -0.4 — —
Beloranib 0.6 m¢ 34 102.€ -5.E -5.C <0.000:
Beloranib 1.2 m¢ 31 102.€ -6.S -6.4 <0.000:
Beloranib 2.4 m¢ 15 102.2 -10.€ -10.2 <0.000:

» Levels of the cardiovascular disease risk matieeactive protein were reduced by an average®f2.3 and 1.9 pg/ml, or 23%,
22% and 37%, respectively, for patients treateth Wwéloranib at 0.6 mg, 1.2 mg and 2.4 mg, respelgticompared to an average
increase of 1.jug/ml for patients dosed with placebo (p<0.00(
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» Levels of low density lipoprotein cholesterof,LDL-c, were reduced by an average of 0.3, 0dbaA mmol/l, or 9.4%, 14.5% and
29.7%, respectively, for patients treated with beehib at 0.6 mg, 1.2 mg and 2.4 mg, respectivalymared to an average reduci
of 0.3 mmol/l for patients dosed with placebo (XL for patients treated with 2.4 mg beloran

» Levels of high density lipoprotein cholestemmi ,HDL-c, were increased by an average of 0.1a6d 0.2 mmol/l, or 7.6%, 11.6%
and 14.6%, respectively, for patients treated wéloranib at 0.6 mg, 1.2 mg and 2.4 mg, respegtiveimpared to no change for
patients dosed with placebo (p<0.05 for patiertatéd with 1.2 mg and 2.4 mg beloran

* Levels of triglycerides were reduced by an agerof 0.2, 0.3 and 0.4 mmol/l, or 8.8%, 9.0% ab@%, respectively, for patients
treated with beloranib at 0.6 mg, 1.2 mg and 2.4 megpectively, compared to a reduction of 0.3 nilhfiat patients dosed with
placebo (p<0.05 for patients treated with 1.2 mgj 24 mg beloranib’

» Systolic blood pressure was reduced by an geesf6.3 mmHg, 6.3 mmHg and 13.6 mmHg for pati¢netated with beloranib at
0.6 mg, 1.2 mg and 2.4 mg, respectively, compavethtaverage of 1.4 mmHg reduction for patientedagith placebo (p<0.05 fi
1.2 mg and 2.4 mg doses). Trends toward reduatiatiaistolic blood pressure also were observedoadth these changes did not
reach statistical significanc

» Sense of hunger was reduced by an averag® @hi,.2.2 cm and 3.3 cm (out of a maximum numbdiOoém using a standardized
visual analog scale asking how hungry the partitip@ad been over the prior trial days) and comptrexh average reduction of (
cm in placebo, respectively (p<0.05 for all dosBsiseline values were, on average, 5.0 cm, 5.5@mm and 6.4 cm for placebo,
for doses of 0.6 mg, 1.2 mg and 2.4 mg of beloramitpectively

» Post hoc analyses suggest that beloranib also mnayfavorable effects on body fat conte

While results from this clinical trial showed thHatloranib doses ranging from 0.6 mg to 2.4 mg adtared by SC injection resulted in
dose-related weight loss, the highest dose, 2.4vag,associated with the most significant and rapgket of weight loss whereas the lower
doses, 0.6 mg and 1.2 mg, tended to result in slovit@tion of weight reduction. However, the hegt dose, 2.4 mg, of beloranib appeared to
be less well-tolerated systemically and led to nforquent severe intensity TEAES. 21 patients ¢éeatith 2.4 mg beloranib prematurely
withdrew from the trial, mainly due to sleep digtance reflective of increased sleep latency, the patients reported taking to fall asleep at
night. There were no deaths or any SAEs deemed fmssibly, probably, or definitely related to batdb, although there were two serious
thrombotic adverse events which, while not attiédolto beloranib treatment, may point to the utidifyassessment of prior history of thromb
events in patients enrolled in subsequent triatsaatted vigilance for AEs related to blood clottthging future clinical trials. The most
commonly reported TEAES were gastrointestinal disos, mainly nausea, diarrhea, or vomiting, nensystem disorders, mainly dizziness,
and psychiatric disorders, mainly insomnia, sleisprder, or abnormal dreams. TEAEs were generailly im severity and transient. Other
frequently reported TEAES were headaches and injesite bruising/itching, although the incidenge=re comparable to placebo and not
observed to be dose-related. Laboratory assessméatsigns and electrocardiograms revealed rexplained abnormalities or clinically
significant trends. The primary objectives of tblimical trial were met, including demonstrationaaintinued weight loss beyond the four-week
trial duration evaluated in prior trials, demonstm of the tolerability profile at effective dosesd demonstration of reductions in key
cardiometabolic risk parameters and hunger asagdlinproved body composition (reduced waist ciramarice and fat mass) as assessed by
bioelectrical impedance.
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ZAF-211—Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo Controlle, Parallel Dose Ranging Phase 2a Trial of ZGN-44@or Subcutaneous
Injection), A Novel Methionine Aminopeptidase 2 Inhbitor, in Over-weight and Obese Subjects with Pradr-Willi Syndrome to
Evaluate Weight Reduction, Food-related Behavior, &ety, and Pharmacokinetics Over 4 Weeks FollowedytOptional 4-Week
Open-Label Extension

Our Phase 2a clinical trial of beloranib as a piiétreatment of PWS was designed as a randomdmdle-blind, and parallel
comparison of each of 1.2 mg and 1.8 mg dose l@fdigloranib, and placebo. 17 adult patients W¥MS living in closely-controlled PWS-
specific group homes were randomized to one oftttee dosing arms, with 6, 5, and 6 patients beangomized to placebo, 1.2 mg beloranib
and 1.8 mg beloranib treatment. During the coufgheotrial, including a two week placebo run-inagh, daily calorie allowances were
increased in all patients by 50 percent to drivelesd weight gain and simulate the greater acces®tbexperienced in the general PWS
population living in family home situations. All fiants completed randomized treatment. The prinoajgctives of this clinical trial were to
(i) assess the safety and tolerability of beloraadiministered twice weekly SC in patients with P\{ii assess body weight change, changes i
body mass and fat content by DEXA, scan analysid rasponses in metabolic biomarkers over a dosgeraf beloranib, and (iii) evaluate
changes in quality of life, PWS- specific hyperpiaagplated behaviors and/or psychiatric status. Sgd@ndary objective of this clinical trial is
to evaluate pharmacodynamics and apparent bioaudifaover a dose range of beloranib. The randauitreatment period was followed by
optional open-label extension offering patientsdpportunity to continue for an additional four weef treatment with 1.8 mg beloranib.

The key results of this clinical trial are summadzs follows. Both doses of beloranib have beenbawed as shown below, as a
component of the pre-specified statistical analysis

Four-Week Phase 2a Proof of Concept Clinical Trialn Patients with Prader-Willi Syndrome (ZAF-211)

Placebc
Beloranib p value
Baseline (Beloranib vs
Placebo Baseline Beloranib
Endpoint (N=6) Change (%, (N=11) Change (%) Placebo)
Body weight (kg) (Scale weigh 70.1 0.3¢ 72.C -1.3 0.1
Body mass (kg) (DEXA 69.7 2.C 72.1 -2.1 0.00:
Fat mass (kg) (DEXA 31.1 3.6 34.¢ -2.9 0.01:

* not statistically significant by ANCOVA, or anais of covariance, a pre-specified statistical ggig) used to assess changes in all key
endpoints. ANCOVA is a standard statistical teat thkes into account the baseline measuremengaéir subjec

» Levels of high density lipoprotein cholestenare increased by an average of 26% in belorardtéd patients, compared to an
average increase of 1% in patients dosed with pta¢e=0.005)

» Levels of low density lipoprotein cholesteradne reduced by an average of 27% in beloranibedepatients, compared to an
average increase of 3% in patients dosed with pa¢e=0.005)

* Hyperphagia related behaviors typical of pasemth PWS were reduced by an average of 52.4%eayment with 1.8 mg
beloranib, compared to an average increase of 4ih¥4tients dosed with placebo and an averageaserof 1.8% in patients
treated with 1.2 mg beloranib. The change in badravas statistically significant from baseline ftbe patients treated with 1.8 mg
beloranib (not statistically significant by ANCOVA:=0.025 by post hoc paire-test).

There were no clinically significant changes indedtory parameters, electrocardiograms and vigaisswith any of the doses. There w
no deaths, SAEs, or severe AEs reported in thigceli trial. Aside from mild and transient injeatigite reactions, which were observed acros:
all treatment groups, including placebo, SC adrai®n of the drug appeared to be locally weletated.

Unlike patients with severe obesity in the genpogdulation, patients with PWS are missing the fiomcof multiple genes. In order to
determine if the underlying mechanistic pathwapebranib was engaged in patients
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with PWS, we measured levels of low density lipdgio cholesterol and fat mass. MetAP2 inhibitotglsas beloranib, work, at least in part,
by directing MetAP2 binding to cellular stress natdis, and, thus, reducing fat synthesis by thex land fat storage throughout the body,
leading to a reduction in cholesterol, evidencedduuced levels of low density lipoprotein cholestand reduced fat mass. In this clinical
trial, patients with PWS treated with beloranib lwedh reduced levels of low density lipoprotein lglsterol and fat mass, suggesting that
patients with PWS respond to beloranib treatmeats$imilar manner as severely obese patients that@ missing the function of multiple
genes. Likewise, while exploratory, salutary effeat behaviors were observed, which reached clisigaificance for the 1.8 mg beloranib
treatment arm. These behavioral changes includegerof aspects of the PWS phenotype recordedebgattegiver-administered hyperphagia-
related behavior questionnaire, an instrumentritedisures the frequency and severity of behavissakss typical of patients with PWS that we
are currently validating with the FDA for suppoftaur pivotal trials.

ZAF-221—Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo Controll@, Phase 2 Trial of ZGN-440 (Subcutaneous Beloranilm Suspension), A
Novel Methionine Aminopeptidase 2 Inhibitor, in Obese Subjects with Hypothalamic Injury to Evaluate Wéght Reduction and
Safety Over 4 Weeks Followed by an Optional 4-WeeRpen-Label Extension

Our Phase 2 clinical trial of beloranib as a pagnteatment of HIAO was designed as a randomidedble-blind, and parallel
comparison of 1.8 mg of beloranib and placebo. €lhigcal trial was conducted at four trial sitésp in the United States and two in Austra
14 adult patients, nine female and five male, wihgnetic resonance imaging confirmed hypothalanjizy and rapid weight gain following
resection of craniopharyngioma (n=13) or pituitargcroadenoma (n=1) were randomized to one of tbedtyging arms in a 3:4 ratio, with six
and eight patients being randomized to placebola®idng beloranib treatment, respectively. The ayeege of patients was approximately 32
years with an average BMI of 43 kg2. All patients assigned to beloranib treatment deted randomized treatment, while one patient
assigned to placebo discontinued treatment dupparant sensitivity to the placebo injectate. Thimary objectives of this trial were to
(i) assess the safety and tolerability of beloradiministered twice weekly SC, and (ii) assess tdags effects of beloranib in obese patients
with HIAO. The secondary objectives of this triaére to evaluate changes in quality of life and taurig obese patients with HIAO who have
received beloranib, and to assess responses itafiethiomarkers and plasma exposure to belorandbese patients with HIAO. The
randomized treatment period was followed by anopati open-label extension offering patients theoofymity to continue for an additional
four weeks of treatment with 1.8 mg beloranib.

The key results of this trial are summarized alo¥es:

Four-Week Phase 2 Proof of Concept Trial in Patierst with Hypothalamic Injury-Associated Obesity (ZAF221)

Average
Average p-value (for Weight
Number of Weight Change from
Patients Pe Change during randomizec Baseline to
Baseline End of Open
Protocol Body Randomized treatment Label
Trial Arm Population Weight (kg) Treatment (kg) period) Extension (kg'
Placebc 4 128.( -0.3 — -3.C*
Beloranib 1.8 mg twice week 8 118.5 -3.4 0.01 -6.2

* Patients randomized to placebo received belorailont twice weekly during the open label extens

Beloranib was weltolerated in this trial. No consistent new or uciptted safety issues arose during the coursesafrhent. There we
no deaths or serious adverse events reportedsitrifii. There were no early trial discontinuatiompatients treated with beloranib. Key
tolerability findings were mild dizziness.

20



Table of Contents

The results of this trial suggest that belorandatment leads to a similar rapid pace of weigtg Ingatients with disrupted hypothalamic
structures, and therefore provides, further supjporthe extrahypothalamic mode of action of beloranib, as welita differentiation from oth
weight loss agents that target hypothalamic neliactavity.

Clinical Trial Summary

Our clinical trials suggest that administratiorbeforanib by IV infusion twice weekly for four wegkor eight doses, at dose levels of up
to 3.0 mg was safe and well-tolerated. The incideartd severity of AEs was similar across all doseigs in this range. While these clinical
trials were of short duration and designed to destrate safety and tolerability, significant decesam body weight and large decreases in
sense of hunger were observed in beloranib-trqzagdnts when compared to the placebo group. Auditiclinical trials of longer-term
treatment with beloranib designed to demonstrdieaely are required before we can submit an NDAbigioranib as a treatment for any
indication that we are pursuing. In our ongoing$&h2b clinical trial of beloranib as a treatmemtdevere obesity in the general population an
our ongoing Phase 3 clinical program of beloraila &reatment for patients with PWS, patients aiegotreated with beloranib for a
substantially longer period of time than as treameolur earlier clinical trials. A SC formulatiori beloranib for human use was developed and
completed human testing in a Phase 1b clinicdl tshich showed that doses ranging from 1.0 mg.@ordg administered by SC injection
resulted in statistically significant dose-relategight loss. While the highest dose of 4.0 mg vwes®eiated with the most significant weight
loss, it appeared to be less well-tolerated systaligiand led to more frequent moderate intensiBAES and premature trial withdrawals,
mainly due to gastrointestinal events and sleejpidiance. There have been no deaths or drug-redstés. Laboratory safety measures, vital
signs and electrocardiograms have been unremarkablecompleted clinical trials for all dosestes. A 12-week Phase 2a clinical trial, ZAF-
201, using subcutaneously administered doses ah,8..2 mg and 2.4 mg of beloranib has confirnmede earlier observations, and we have
observed continued weight loss with maintenandb®key favorable drug effects on body composittamger and C-reactiyerotein levels. /
further salutary effect on blood pressure has lidemtified, strengthening our view that beloraniitl have a favorable impact on
cardiovascular disease risk.

ZAF-211 was our first clinical trial in patientstiPWS using doses of 1.2 mg and 1.8 mg beloraimitirdstered by subcutaneous
injection twice weekly for four weeks. This initilinical trial has generated promising resultghviieloranib-treated patients showing
reductions in body mass and body fat content, aleittyimprovements in hyperphagia-related behaw@--221 was our first clinical trial in
patients with HIAO using 1.8 mg beloranib administeby subcutaneous injection. This initial clinit@l in patients with HIAO, similar to
our Phase 2a clinical trial in patients with PW8&s lgenerated promising results, with beloranibtétaatients showing reductions in placebo-
adjusted body weight. Taken together with the tesaflour previous clinical trials, we believe thés a very compelling basis for continued
development of beloranib for the treatment for @editions such as PWS and HIAO, where obesityde-morbidity of an underlying
condition, and severe obesity in the general pdiouna

Next Steps
Pivotal Phase 3 Program of Beloranib for the Treatrnof Patients with PW

Based on discussions with the regulatory authgritbedate, we currently expect that our pivotaldeh@clinical program will consist of
two Phase 3 clinical trials, one in the United &aind the other in the European Union. In the ioiggd. S. trial, ZAF-311, we are evaluating
the efficacy, safety and tolerability of 1.8 mg @&d mg beloranib versus placebo over six monthhamdomized, double-blinded treatment in
approximately 102 patients with PWS. This triallugi followed by an open label extension to all@wfiirther evaluation of beloranib’s
efficacy and safety following an additional six ntiog of treatment for those patients who have cotaglthe six month randomized treatment
period and who agree to remain on treatment.
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The European trial, ZAF-312, is projected to evtduthe efficacy, safety and tolerability of 2.4 twgjoranib versus placebo over twelve
months of randomized, doubl#inded treatment in approximately 150 patienthvAWWS. This trial will be followed by an open lalegtensior
to allow for further evaluation of beloranib’s efficy and safety following an additional six montfisreatment.

Both of these trials will be conducted in outpatisettings, including patients living in family hersettings and in group home settings
specializing in the care of residents with develeptal disabilities, and have a consistent caredov@rovide input to the assessment of
hyperphagia-related behaviors.

Pivotal Phase 3 Clinical Program Endpoin

Based on our communications with the FDA and Eusogeealth authorities, to support an NDA submissiothe FDA and an MAA
submission to the EMA, we must demonstrate in thhage 3 clinical trials a statistically significatd clinically meaningful improvement in
either (i) hyperphagia-related behaviors or (itatdody weight in patients treated with beloracd@impared to patients receiving placebo. In
order to assess efficacy of these dual endpoiath will be evaluated for treatment effect of batob 2.4 mg at a significance level of p less
than 0.025. If the comparison between 2.4mg anckplais statistically significant for an endpothiat endpoint will be evaluated for treatm
effect of beloranib 1.8mg at a significance levighs0.025.

Hyperphagia-related behaviors will be measured Sljgatly modified version of the PWS-HQ that wa®d in our Phase 2a clinical trial
of beloranib in patients with PWS. Per discussidtfithe FDA, this questionnaire has been revisedesbur Phase 2a trial to remove one
guestion. The PW$IQ is undergoing validation under guidance of tBAFStudy Endpoints and Labeling Development staffich we expec
to be completed during the course of our Phase@am but prior to regulatory filing. If we fail walidate the PWS-HQ in time for it to be an
effective tool to support the data from our Phasérical trial, our Phase 3 program and, in twmr regulatory filing may be delayed until we
validate the tool or develop a new one. The PWSwilneed to be further validated for use in muktijgountries with different native
languages in support of the ZAF-312 trial. Thisdation work may be possible outside of the contdxieloranib treatment, per se, or may
require additional validation in the context ofdr@nib treatment. Scientific advice received fréma European Medecines Agency, or EMA,
supported the importance of hyperphagia-relatediels as a meaningful clinical endpoint for the $Wdication and that the ongoing
approach to validation of the PWS-HQ is acceptable.

Total body fat mass, a key physical derangemenbesity that is substantially and pathologicallgréased in patients with PWS, will be
assessed in both ZAF-311 and ZAF-312 as a key dacprendpoint, and is defined as a percentage eharfapdy fat content as measured
using DEXA from baseline to the end of randomizedtment with beloranib treatment compared to aghdrom baseline to end of
randomized treatment in patients treated with glac®/e also will include change in total body massasured by DEXA, as a secondary
endpoint in both of our pivotal Phase 3 clinicals. In addition, we will include other secondandpoints such as the evaluation of chang:
key biomarkers of beloranib response, including ttemsity lipoprotein cholesterol, high density |ypotein cholesterol, C-reactive protein
concentrations, number of active skin lesions eeldb skin-picking behavior, and quality of life.

In addition to efficacy endpoints, our Phase 3icéihtrial protocols assume that in order to supparNDA submission to the FDA and
MAA submission to the EMA, we must demonstrateghgety and tolerability of beloranib over one yehdosing.

Pivotal Phase 3 Clinical Program Tri¢ Design

Each of our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials is adle-blinded, randomized placebo-controlled tNEk are identifying patients through
interactions with physicians specializing in thedical management of PWS and to screen all patfentligibility at their first visit. Patients
who qualify for enrollment and who agree to
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participate in the trial receive subcutaneous tigas of beloranib or placebo twice weekly. We raéethe time at which patients are enrolled
and initiate trial drug treatment as baseline.

The eligibility criteria for inclusion of patients our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials include folowing:
» Genetically confirmed diagnosis of PW
» Age of at least 12 years but not older than 65g/@athe United States and 50 years in the Europkeéon.

e BMI greater than 27 kg/fhbut less than 60 kg/éh, except that for patients between 12 and 18 y&faage, we will require a BMI
Z-score> 2, which means the juveniles’ BMI will be in the 9percentile or higher for children of their age. $a@MI criteria
define obesity in adult and adolescent individuadspectively, and we believe that they encompasst patients with PWS to allc
for a clear assessment of beloranib’s impact ory begight and fat content. The BMI entry criteriebising reduced to 27 kg/f in
order to enhance recruitment of the trials andafature a more representative population of familyné-based patient:

» Baseline PWS-HQ score of 13 or greater in thddd States and greater than 11 in the Europe@amURWSHQ scores of 11 to ]
correspond to moderate behavioral derangementiagstaevith hunger-related behavior typical of PW8e possible range of
scores in the PWS-HQ employed in our Phase 3 aliniials, is 0-36. During our Phase 2a clinicaltof beloranib in patients with
PWS, we observed a floor effect of the PWS-HQ &ndlinical response in patients who had lower PWGddores, which indicates
that the instrument may lose sensitivity to drugpanses in patients with nominally expressed hygia-related behaviors. As a
result, we expect to only include patients withdlime scores of 13 or above in the United Statelsgmeater than 11 in the Europe
Union. We believe this criterion will reduce varilétl in clinical response and further improve @bility to detect differences
between the beloranib treatment groups and thelptagroup for this primary endpoil

We plan to include in our pivotal Phase 3 clinicills those patients with type 2 diabetes, a comommorbid condition in PWS,
particularly in older patients, and those patidrgig treated with growth hormone, a common treatrfeg patients with PWS to assist in their
growth and management of body composition, padityllean body mass. As in our Phase 2a trial #SP ZAF-311 was initiated using sing
use vials for the drug product; matching placelngl, diluent. In the ZAF-311 extension trial, ZAA-2 and all subsequent Phase 2 and 3 stt
we plan to test a pre-filled diluent syringe insted single use glass vials, which were used inRhase 2a clinical trial.

Timing of the Planned Pivotal Phase 3 Clinical Praxg
We initiated our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trialthre United States in September 2014.

We anticipate that it will take at least six to@imonths to fully enroll up to 102 patients with B\iv this trial. We anticipate that the six-
month data from this trial will be available by lgasecond quarter of 2016. We anticipate initiating Phase 3 clinical trial in the European
Union in the middle of 2015. After initiation, waticipate that it will take at least six to nine mtias to fully enroll up to 150 patients with P\
in this trial.

As of December 31, 2014, we had ten active trtaksin the United States with plans to open fivéitamhal trial sites. We anticipate 25
trial sites in the European Union.

Other Clinical Trials

Currently we are also conducting a Phase 2b clitiizd of beloranib as a treatment for severe diés the general population in patie
who also have type 2 diabetes. This trial is beimgducted in severely obese adult patients wite 8/diabetes at 16 trial sites located in
Australia. We anticipate enrolling approximately0Jfatients. Patients in this trial will be treateith either beloranib or placebo for a period of
52 weeks. We are currently using a pre-filled dilugyringe instead of single use glass vials, whiehe used in our Phase 2a trial.
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The primary efficacy endpoint of this trial is clggnin body weight. Secondary endpoints are propoi patients achieving certain change in
body weight benchmarks and changes in key biomaniedated to glycemic control and other cardiometiatparameters. Interim six month
data from this trial is anticipated in late 2015%early 2016.

Pre-clinical

We have conducted toxicology studies of beloranibupport of clinical development. Dose selectiod precautions for ongoing clinical
trials have been informed by toxicology studiesaits, beagle dogs, and rabbits. Toxicological s&idf up to six months in rat and nine mo
duration in dogs using single, daily or intermittdnsing have established no observed adverse &ffads at higher exposures relative to tr
in humans. At higher doses in rats and dogs tlrfgs of toxicological importance were inhibitiohgpermatogenesis (with testicular
atrophy/exfoliation of germ cells in testes/epididgies) and hematopoietic suppression includingifsogimt reductions in platelet and white
blood cell counts, including lymphocytes, thymianiph node and splenic atrophy or lymphoid depletioitd liver and kidney tubular epithe
cell toxicity, gastrointestinal depithelialization, hemorrhage/discoloration andttiiea, and clonic convulsion. Injection site tokeligy in both
rats and dogs has been demonstrated with sevenalifiitions of beloranib and injection site toletdpihas been corroborated in clinical trials.
A T-cell dependent antibody response study inadataonstrated that decreases in immunoglobulin resgsooccurred in males at doses of 0.3
mg/kg and higher, and in females at 3 mg/kg antdrigCollectively, the data indicate that beloramidy be immunosuppressive although
events suggesting immunosuppression have not keted im the clinical trials to date. We plan to @& T-cell and Bsell subpopulations ar
lymphocyte counts in our ongoing clinical trialilve better understand if there is a potentiskin humans. There were no indications of
genotoxicity or specific indicators of phototoxicivith beloranib. Embryo-fetal toxicity findings nats and rabbits have demonstrated
significant embryofetal malformations at exposusiesilar to those achieved in patients. Therefaeadle subjects of child bearing potential
should take appropriate measures to avoid pregnahitg on treatment.

Based on the safety findings in animals, cliniciall$ of beloranib have included monitoring for dbcell changes, sperm counts, sperm
morphology and hormones in men, as well as freguegnancy testing and requirement for redundenqlanted or surgical methods of birth
control in women. To date, the clinical findingsreahown no evidence of the hematological or mgpeaductive findings in humans. We
believe that, as with other anti-obesity drugspiproved, beloranib will carry a Category X labedlde contraindicated in pregnant women or
women looking to become pregnant.

We have initiated a two-year carcinogenicity stirdthe rat and have recently initiated a six-manéimsgenic mouse carcinogenicity
study. Given that PWS manifests during childhoad|iminary juvenile safety studies have been cotepleFollowing discussions of the
pediatric investigational plan with regulatory amilies we are planning to conduct a confirmataygjnile safety study that will potentially
support testing and eventual marketing in the gadipopulation.

Future Product Candidates

We have been working since our inception in 200&xalore and pursue new molecules leveraging thteutic effects of MetAP2
inhibitors in metabolic diseases including sevdresity, type 2 diabetes, NAFLD, and NASH. As adiresult of medicinal chemistry efforts
oriented to the identification of best in class MR inhibitors, we have identified compounds of aseotential back-up or follow-on
compounds supporting beloranib, as well as novebitors with improved pharmacological and phystwemical features. We continue to
explore the utility of these molecules as a compbpéour program, and have identified a rangeasfdidate molecules being prepared for
advancement into early development.

As a part of this effort, we conducted a medicota@mistry discovery program to find reversible biturs of MetAP2 that could be
delivered orally and applied broadly across muitipteas of unmet medical need. The
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program delivered over 250 molecules in seven nutdedamilies, and ZGN-839 was selected from tloibection as a potent inhibitor with
drug-like properties. In pre-clinical studies, Z@&S9 lowered body weight by approximately 9% afteérdays of treatment versus control
animals and reduced plasma cholesterol and gluets®g with improvements in liver fat and the weighabdominal adipose tissue in mice
that were otherwise obese and insulin resistantallang-term exposure to a high fat, obesogenét, &urther, in a mouse model of NAFLD
and NASH, ZGN-839 treatment for four weeks reduttedseverity of NAFLD and NASH and reduced plasim@agse. We believe that
compounds like ZGN-839 will have utility in the atenent of NAFLD and NASH, and will further causepimvements in cardiovascular risk
factors including low density lipoprotein cholestier

A synthetic process to produce ZGN-839 for safesyimg and clinical trials has been developed. Yéecarrently conducting IND-
enabling studies of ZGN-839 and expect to file b in the United States in the middle of 2015. Adbufially, we are currently evaluating
other second-generation MetAP2 inhibitors as pakdevelopment candidates for the treatment oésewvbesity in the general population.

Manufacturing and Supply

Beloranib is a small molecule drug that is synthediwith readily available raw materials using cemtional chemical processes. We
previously used a two vial system which will notused after the ZAF-311 clinical trial. The currenbcess to produce beloranib for clinical
trials involves (i) synthesis of crystalline drughstance, (ii) production of sterile crystallinaidrsubstance, (iii) particle size control,
formulation and production of sterile active drugduct vials, (iv) production of sterile diluentloth prefilled syringes and vials, and
(v) production of sterile placebo vials. We conwar clinical trial supply chain by periodically eiing to assess clinical trial material needs
and status of supply. Clinical trial materials Bmeecasted on a six month rolling basis taking extoount enroliment rates, number of sites,
component inventory and clinical kit shelf-life. &klinical supply forecast is maintained internahd used to aid in decision making for
cGMP manufacturing as well as clinical kit packagand labeling. In addition, the CRO we employ rtedits an inventory of all clinical kits
that are allocated for a clinical study as welabhgomponents needed for the clinical kits. Ouelinal crossunctional working group discuss
inventory on a regular basis. Distribution of Kitsclinical sites is controlled via a validated tgys thus helping to manage inventory at the
CRO. Resupply of finished drug product is in pr@grat our drug product CMO. The manufacturing pgedg under active development and is
not yet validated. Any delays encountered with nfiacturing activities, CMO scheduling or raw matesapply could delay the manufacturing
of finished drug product. Additionally, followingbenmercialization, we plan to establish a convendErsing form of beloranib to improve the
utility, look, convenience and feel of beloranily fiatients—for example a pen injector system wiitigle-use disposable cartridges.

We currently have no manufacturing facilities aindted personnel with manufacturing experience.fdlg on contract manufacturers to
produce both drug substance and drug product edjfar our clinical trials. No long-term supply agments are in place with our contractors,
and each batch is individually contracted undewality and supply agreement. If we engage new agturs, such contractors must be
approved by the FDA and other comparable foreignledory agencies. We plan to continue to rely upamtract manufacturers and,
potentially, collaboration partners to manufacttmenmercial quantities of beloranib, if approvedr @urrent scale of manufacturing is
adequate to support all of our needs for clinidal supplies and launch for orphan markets. Fakpesage in orphan markets and for
indications with larger populations, we will needidentify contract manufacturers or partners mdpice beloranib on a larger scale.

Sales and Marketing

In early 2014, we hired a Chief Commercial Offideowever, given our stage of development, we hatget established a commercial
organization or distribution capabilities, nor have entered into any partnership or co-promotisarayements with an established
pharmaceutical company. To develop the appropriate
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commercial infrastructure to launch beloranib, weyraither do so on our own or by establishing afless with one or more pharmaceutical
company collaborators, depending on, among ottiegshthe applicable indications, the related demelent costs and our available resources

Licenses
CKD License

In July 2009, we entered into an Exclusive LiceAgeeement with Chong Kun Dang Pharmaceutical Cof&outh Korea, or CKD,
pursuant to which we exclusively licensed belordrdin CKD on a worldwide basis, with the exceptafSouth Korea. In consideration of
such exclusive license, we paid an initial licefemto CKD, paid a one-time fee following initiatiof a proof of concept trial, agreed to make
milestone payments of up to $30.0 million (of whi&h5 million has been paid, including $3.3 millidvat was paid in the form of our comm
stock (valued at $3.6 million) as a result of areadment to our license agreement and entry intdacsiption agreement with CKD) to CKD
upon the achievement of certain specified evenis$ agreed to pay a portion of sublicensing incom@KD. Furthermore, if we receive
marketing approval for beloranib, we will pay siegligit royalties to CKD based on annual net safdseloranib on a country-by-country and
product-by-product basis until the later to occlufi)othe expiration of the last to expire patemsiich country within the CKD patent rights
containing a valid claim covering beloranib ortte for which regulatory approval has been obtainedich country, or (ii) ten years from the
first commercial sale of beloranib in such counRyrsuant to this agreement, we committed to usimgmercially reasonable efforts to
develop and commercialize beloranib. This agreeméhtemain in effect on a country-by-country apbduct-by-product basis until royalties
are no longer due in such country, subject to eatdirmination by either party upon mutual consentn the event of uncured breach or
insolvency on the part of the other party, or byarsany reason up to 60 days’ prior notice.

Children’s License

In January 2007, we entered into an Exclusive lsee\greement with Children’s Medical Center Corpiorag or Children’s, pursuant to
which we exclusively licensed certain patent rightsn Children’s on a worldwide basis. The licengadient rights relate to decreasing the
growth of fat tissue, and thereby cover the udeetdranib and related molecules as anti-obesitptagén consideration of such exclusive
license, we paid an initial license fee upon exeoubf the license to Children’s and annual maiatere fees through the fifth anniversary of
the date of the license. We also agreed to malkestoihe payments to Children’s of up to $2.7 milljohwhich $0.4 million has been paid)
with respect to the first licensed product andaifx.3 million with respect to each subsequennbeel product, if any, that is a new chemical
entity upon the achievement of certain specifieeihdy and to pay a portion of sublicensing incom@hidren’s. If we receive marketing
approval for beloranib, we will pay single-digityadties to Children’s based on net sales of belbrantil the later to occur of (i) the expiration
of the last to expire patent in such country witthia licensed patents containing a valid claim dogebeloranib or (ii) 15 years from the date
of the agreement. This agreement will remain iecffor the longer of (i) 15 years and (ii) theldf the last expiring licensed patent, subje:
earlier termination (x) by Children’s in the evefitour insolvency or our failure to cure a breadgthim 60 days (30 days in the case of non-
payment) of receiving written notice thereof, oy iy us for any reason upon 120 days’ prior writtetice.

Intellectual Property

We strive to protect and enhance the proprietarfyrtelogies that we believe are important to ouir®ss, including seeking and
maintaining patents intended to cover our prodantscompositions, their methods of use and any atlientions that are important to the
development of our business. We also rely on tezdeets to protect aspects of our business thaiod@menable to, or that we do not conside
appropriate for, patent protection.
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Our success will depend significantly on our apild obtain and maintain patent and other propmygbaotection for commercially
important technology, inventions and know-how redeto our business, defend and enforce our patemserve the confidentiality of our trade
secrets and operate without infringing the valid anforceable patents and proprietary rights eflitharties. We also rely on know-how,
continuing technological innovation and in-licergsimpportunities to develop, strengthen and mairtteérproprietary position of beloranib and
our other development programs.

Our owned and licensed patents and patent applicatelate to beloranib compositions of mattemnigations, polymorphs, methods of
treating obesity using dosing regimens of beloramt methods of treating hypothalamic obesity. iEbeed U.S. and European patents
generally directed to beloranib compositions ofteratire exclusively licensed and will each expir@019. We own two issued U.S. patents
relating to beloranib polymorph compositions of teathat will expire in 2031 and three issued U&ents to methods of treating obesity that
will expire in 2029. We own pending patent appiizas in Europe to beloranib polymorph compositibmatter and methods of treating
obesity that we expect to expire, once issuedQBi2

As of March 17, 2015, we owned five issued U.Septs, six pending U.S. patent applications anddareounterpart applications, and
one Patent Cooperation Treaty, or PCT, applicatiabwill allow us to seek corresponding protectiaorldwide, all of which relate to
beloranib. We have a license to two U.S. issuedntat one with corresponding issued foreign copattipatents, that also relate to beloranib.
We also co-own one patent application relating &hods of using beloranib.

As of March 17, 2015, we owned nine pending U.$emaapplications with pending foreign countergaplications and three PCT
patent applications, all of which relate to ouemial efforts to discover novel MetAP2 inhibito®. these, one pending U.S. patent applicatior
with pending foreign counterpart patent applicagiand one PCT patent application relate to ouyedgge product candidate ZGN-839.

As of March 17, 2015, we owned one issued patetatpending U.S. patent applications with pendingifyn counterpart patent
applications, one pending PCT patent applicatiahtao U.S. provisional patent applications thaatelto our second-generation injectable
MetAP2 inhibitor program.

The term of individual patents depends upon thellegrm of the patents in the countries in whickythare obtained. In most countries in
which we file, the patent term is 20 years fromdhaée of filing the non-provisional application.the United States, a patent’s term may be
lengthened by patent term adjustment, which congiersa patentee for administrative delays by ti& Patent and Trademark Office, or U.S.
PTO, in granting a patent, or may be shortenegétant is terminally disclaimed over an earliéedfipatent. In addition, in certain instances, ¢
patent term can be extended to recapture a parfitre term effectively lost as a result of the FEp§ulatory review period. However, the
restoration period cannot be longer than five yaasthe total patent term including the restorafieriod must not exceed 14 years following
FDA approval. The duration of foreign patents vaiiireaccordance with provisions of applicable Idawl, but typically is also twenty years
from the earliest effective filing date. Our issymtents will expire on dates ranging from 2012@81. However, the actual protection affor
by a patent varies on a claim by claim and courttrgountry basis for each applicable product ammedds upon many factors, including the
type of patent, the scope of its coverage, thelavility of regulatory related extensions, the éafaility of legal remedies in a particular coun
and the validity and enforceability of the patent.

Furthermore, the patent positions of biotechnolaggt pharmaceutical products and processes like thesntend to develop and
commercialize are generally uncertain and involmmglex legal and factual questions. No consistetity regarding the breadth of claims
allowed in such patents has emerged to date ibtlited States. The patent situation outside theddrbtates is even more uncertain. Change
in either the patent
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laws or in interpretations of patent laws in thdteah States and other countries can diminish olilityato protect our inventions, and enforce
our intellectual property rights and more generatlyuld affect the value of intellectual properycordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of
claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patenin third-party patents.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industriexhegacterized by extensive litigation regardintepts and other intellectual property
rights. Our ability to maintain and solidify ourgmrietary position for our drugs and technologyl @épend on our success in obtaining
effective claims and enforcing those claims on@ntgd. We do not know whether any of the patenliGijons that we may file or license
from third parties will result in the issuance ofygatents. The issued patents that we own or exgjvre in the future, may be challenged,
invalidated or circumvented, and the rights granteder any issued patents may not provide us wipretary protection or competitive
advantages against competitors with similar teabgnol Furthermore, our competitors may be able defpendently develop and commercialize
similar drugs or duplicate our technology, businasslel or strategy without infringing our paterBecause of the extensive time required for
clinical development and regulatory review of aglwee may develop, it is possible that, before aigup drugs can be commercialized, any
related patent may expire or remain in force fdy @short period following commercialization, teby reducing any advantage of any such
patent.

As a result of the America Invents Act of 2011, thated States transitioned to a first-inventoffite-system in March 2013, under
which, assuming the other requirements for patditiabre met, the first inventor to file a pateagiplication will be entitled to the patent. This
will require us to minimize the time from inventiom the filing of a patent application.

We may rely, in some circumstances, on trade searet unpatented know-how to protect our technolbigyvever, trade secrets can be
difficult to protect. We seek to protect our prapairy technology and processes, in part, by emgénto confidentiality agreements with our
consultants, scientific advisors and contractosiamention assignment agreements with our empky@& also seek to preserve the integrity
and confidentiality of our data and trade secrgtmhintaining physical security of our premises phgsical and electronic security of our
information technology systems. While we have aterfice in these individuals, organizations and systagreements or security measures
may be breached and we may not have adequate esfediany breach. In addition, our trade secretg atherwise become known or be
independently discovered by competitors. To themxthat our consultants, contractors or collaloosatise intellectual property owned by
others in their work for us, disputes may ariséoabe rights in related or resulting know-how ameentions. For more information, See “Risk
Factors—Risks Related to our Intellectual Propérty.

Our commercial success will also depend in panatrinfringing the proprietary rights of third pigd. It is uncertain whether the issue
of any third-party patent would require us to atiar development or commercial strategies, or ougslor processes, obtain licenses or ceast
certain activities. Our breach of any license age®ts or failure to obtain a license to proprietagirts that we may require to develop or
commercialize our future drugs may have a matadskrse impact on us. If third parties preparefd@gatent applications in the United
States that also claim technology to which we higlets, we may have to participate in interferepaeceedings in the U.S. PTO, to determine
priority of invention.

In addition, substantial scientific and commercedearch has been conducted for many years irr¢hs & which we have focused our
development efforts, which has resulted in thirdipa having a number of issued patents and permiitent applications. Patent application
the United States and elsewhere are publishedadtdy 18 months from the priority date. The pullma of discoveries in the scientific or
patent literature frequently occurs substantiatgd than the date on which the underlying disdegenere made. Therefore, patent applicat
relating to drugs similar to beloranib and any fatdrugs, discoveries or technologies we might igwvmay have already been filed by others
without our knowledge.
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Competition

The biopharmaceuticals industry is highly competitiThere are many public and private biopharmacautompanies, universities,
governmental agencies and other research orgasmzadictively engaged in the research and develadpofi@noducts that may be similar to our
product candidates or address similar markets.gtaobable that the number of companies seekidgvelop products and therapies similar to
our products will increase. Many of these and othésting or potential competitors have substatigdeater financial, technical and human
resources than we do and may be better equippgehvtElop, manufacture and market products. Thesgetitors may develop and introduce
products and processes comparable or superior$o ou

Obesity Caused by Rare Conditions

There are no current pharmacological treatmentsefpulating hunger and hyperphagia-related behsabpatients with PWS and
patients with HIAO, and bariatric surgery is comtdicated in patients with PWS and not frequenthpiyed in patients with HIAO. We are
aware of a clinical trial that has been completgdrérring Pharmaceuticals, Inc. to evaluate theofigarbetocin, an analogue of a brain peg
hormone oxytocin hypothesized to increase trugtjge anxiety and improve behavior in patients WiS. We also are aware of a clinical
trial being conducted by Essentialis, Inc. to eatduthe safety and tolerability of controlled-raleaiazoxide in patients with PWS and to
explore the effects of diazoxide on hyperphagiated behaviors and energy expenditure. We aageanf an exploratory trial being planned
in its early phase of execution, by Rhythm Pharmticals, Inc. to evaluate the effect of treatmeithyRM-493, a melanocortin receptor
agonist, in patients with PWS. We are not awaranyfclinical trials of drugs specifically targetipgtients with HIAO.

Severe Obesity in the General Populati
Surgical Approaches

Surgical approaches to treat severe obesity antiag increasingly accepted and are believed tindenain form of competition to
beloranib in this indication. Bariatric surgery¢linding gastric bypass and gastric banding proeajus typically employed for obese patients
with a BMI exceeding 40 kg/rhor those with a BMI greater than 30 kg?mvho are experiencing obesity-related complicatisunsh as
diabetes. However, in December 2010, the FDA'’s 80 Committee for Gastroenterology and Urology ibes convened and voted in favor
of recommending to the FDA that gastric bandingcpdures be approved for obese patients with a BlHtgr than 30 kg/fwho are
experiencing obesity related co-morbidities orguats with a BMI greater than 35 kgAwith or without obesity related co-morbidities. ©th
potential competitors in the severe obesity markdude bariatric service providers, and other ptiéd approaches which utilize various
implantable devices or surgical tools that havenkaggproved by the FDA, such as EnteroMedics Imecently FDA-approved (January 2015)
VBlock Therapy, or that are in development by conipa such as Allergan, Inc., Boston Scientific @ogtion, Covidien Ltd., EnteroMedics,
Inc., Gl Dynamics, Inc., Johnson & Johnson and Muett, Inc.

Existing Obesity Drug

In addition, beloranib will compete with orlistédycaserin, phentermine/topiramate, Contrave anei®#a, which are approved and
currently marketed pharmaceutical products in thédd States for the treatment of obesity, andrsg¢wdder agents, indicated for short-term
administration, phentermine, phendimetrazine, beeatgmine and diethylpropion. Orlistat is marketethie United States by the Roche Group
under the brand name Xenical and over-the-countdre United States at half the prescribed dosglaxoSmithKline under the brand name
alli. In June 2013, Arena Pharmaceuticals, Inmdhed its lorcaserin product, which is marketethenUnited States under the name Belviq
and in September 2012, Vivus, Inc. commerciallyntzhed its combination product, phentermine/topitamnander the trade name Qsymia. In
October 2014 Takeda Pharmaceuticals U.S.A., Imt.Grexigen Therapeutics, Inc. launched Contraviréx@ne HCI and bupropion
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HCI) extended-release tablets for chronic weighhaggment in obese adults and in December 2014Deapproved Novo Nordisk A/S’s
Saxenda for weight management in obese and oventvaddients in the presence of at least one retadedorbid condition.

Despite the large market opportunity for anti-obeagents, there are relatively few competitivedoras in late-stage clinical
development. Other companies pursuing pharmacétizaments for obesity include Neurosearch A/S.

We are not aware of any clinical trials of drugedfically targeting patients with severe obesity.

Government Regulation

Government authorities in the United States afeaderal, state and local level and in other coaatextensively regulate, among other
things, the research, development, testing, matwrigoquality control, approval, labeling, packagistorage, record-keeping, promotion,
advertising, distribution, post-approval monitorimgd reporting, marketing and export and impodrofy products such as beloranib.
Generally, before a new drug can be marketed, dersle data demonstrating its quality, safetyeffidacy must be obtained, organized into
a format specific to each regulatory authority,mitted for review and approved by the regulatorthatity.

U.S. Drug Development

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs uttdeFederal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FD&#{ its implementing
regulations. Drugs are also subject to other fddstae and local statutes and regulations. Thegss of obtaining regulatory approvals anc
subsequent compliance with appropriate federak skacal and foreign statutes and regulationsiredbe expenditure of substantial time and
financial resources. Failure to comply with the laggble U.S. requirements at any time during thedpct development process, approval
process or after approval, may subject an applicaatiministrative or judicial sanctions. Thesecsians could include, among other actions,
the FDA's refusal to approve pending applicatiamighdrawal of an approval, a clinical hold, warnilegters, product recalls or withdrawals
from the market, product seizures, total or padiedpension of production or distribution injunogpfines, refusals of government contracts,
restitution, disgorgement, or civil or criminal @des. Any agency or judicial enforcement actionld have a material adverse effect on us.

Our product candidates must be approved by the #bdugh the NDA process before they may be legabyketed in the United States.
The process required by the FDA before a drug neamarketed in the United States generally invotiiesollowing:

e Completion of extensive nonclinical, sometimeferred to as pre-clinical laboratory tests, dmeical animal studies and
formulation studies in accordance with applicalelgulations, including the FC's Good Laboratory Practice, or GLP, regulatic

* Submission to the FDA of an IND, which must becaffective before human clinical trials may bec

» Performance of adequate and well-controlled druciinical trials in accordance with applicabléDidnd other clinical trial-related
regulations, sometimes referred to as current gtinital practices, or cGCPs, to establish thetgadad efficacy of the proposed
drug for its proposed indicatio

»  Submission to the FDA of an NDA, for a new dr
* A determination by the FDA within 60 days of iteegt of an NDA to file the NDA for reviev

» Satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approvaipection of the manufacturing facility or fadéis where the drug is produced to
assess compliance with the FDA's current good nestufing practice requirements, or cGMP, to asthatthe facilities, methods
and controls are adequate to preserve the's identity, strength, quality and puri
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» Potential FDA audit of the p-clinical and/or clinical trial sites that generatbed data in support of the NDA; a

* FDA review and approval of the NDA prior to any aoercial marketing or sale of the drug in the Unigtdtes

The data required to support an NDA is generataaiindistinct development stages: pre-clinical aliwical. For new chemical entities,
the pre-clinical development stage generally ingslgynthesizing the active component, developiagaimulation and determining the
manufacturing process, as well as carrying outmaman toxicology, pharmacology and drug metabo#tidies in the laboratory, which
support subsequent clinical testing. The conduthefre-clinical tests must comply with federaukations, including GLPs. The sponsor
must submit the results of the pre-clinical tesigether with manufacturing information, analytidata, any available clinical data or literature
and a proposed clinical protocol, to the FDA ag phthe IND. An IND is a request for authorizatifrom the FDA to administer an
investigational drug product to humans. The ceritr@ls of an IND submission is on the general itigational plan and the protocol(s) for
human trials. The IND automatically becomes effex80 days after receipt by the FDA, unless the FBifes concerns or questions regardin
the proposed clinical trials and places the INCchmical hold within that 30-day time period. Incdua case, the IND sponsor and the FDA
must resolve any outstanding concerns before thigal trial can begin. The FDA may also imposaicial holds on a drug candidate at any
time before or during clinical trials due to safetncerns or non-compliance. Accordingly, we carrgosure that submission of an IND will
result in the FDA allowing clinical trials to begiar that, once begun, issues will not arise tbatd cause the trial to be suspended or
terminated.

The clinical stage of development involves the adstiation of the drug candidate to healthy volenseor patients under the supervision
of qualified investigators, generally physicians employed by or under the trial sponsocbntrol, in accordance with GCPs, which incluuk
requirement that all research subjects provide thiormed consent for their participation in ardinical trial. Clinical trials are conducted
under protocols detailing, among other things,abjectives of the clinical trial, dosing procedyresbject selection and exclusion criteria, and
the parameters to be used to monitor subject safetyassess efficacy. Each protocol, and any subaéamendments to the protocol, must be
submitted to the FDA as part of the IND. Furthegteclinical trial must be reviewed and approvedbyndependent institutional review
board, or IRB, at or servicing each institutioméich the clinical trial will be conducted. An IRB charged with protecting the welfare and
rights of trial participants and considers suchieas whether the risks to individuals participgimthe clinical trials are minimized and are
reasonable in relation to anticipated benefits. [Ri& also approves the informed consent form thastrbe provided to each clinical trial
subject or his or her legal representative and mastitor the clinical trial until completed. Thesee also requirements governing the reporting
of ongoing clinical trials and completed clinicaht results to public registries.

Clinical trials are generally conducted in threguemntial phases that may overlap, known as PhaBkake 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials.
Phase 1 clinical trials generally involve a smalinber of healthy volunteers who are initially expad$o a single dose and then multiple doses
of the product candidate. The primary purpose e$¢hclinical trials is to assess the metabolisrariphcologic action, side effect tolerability
and safety of the drug. Phase 2 clinical trialsaglty involve studies in disease-affected pati¢ntdetermine the dose required to produce the
desired benefits. At the same time, safety andhéunpharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic informatiaollected, as well as identification
of possible adverse effects and safety risks aelihinary evaluation of efficacy. Phase 3 clinitié#ls generally involve large numbers of
patients at multiple sites, in multiple countrié®in several hundred to several thousand subjaatbare designed to provide the data
necessary to demonstrate the efficacy of the ptddudts intended use, its safety in use, andstalgish the overall benefit/risk relationship of
the product and provide an adequate basis for ptahproval. Phase 3 clinical trials may includenparisons with placebo and/or other
comparator treatments. The duration of treatmeoftéen extended to mimic the actual use of a produdng marketing. Generally, two
adequate and well-controlled Phase 3 clinicaldréak required by the FDA for approval of an NDA.
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Post-approval trials, sometimes referred to asdé#Aadinical trials, may be conducted after initizrketing approval. These trials are
used to gain additional experience from the treatroépatients in the intended therapeutic indaatin certain instances, FDA may mandate
the performance of Phase 4 clinical trials.

Progress reports detailing the results of the @inirials must be submitted at least annualhhoRDA and written IND safety reports
must be submitted to the FDA and the investigdmrserious and unexpected adverse events or adin§ from tests in laboratory animals
that suggests a significant risk for human subjéeiimse 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trialsnmialye completed successfully within any
specified period, if at all. The FDA, the IRB, tietsponsor may suspend or terminate a clinicdlatiany time on various grounds, including a
finding that the research subjects or patientdaieg exposed to an unacceptable health risk. &ilpilan IRB can suspend or terminate
approval of a clinical trial at its institutiontifie clinical trial is not being conducted in acarde with the IRB’s requirements or if the drug ha
been associated with unexpected serious harm iengatAdditionally, some clinical trials are ovees by an independent group of qualified
experts organized by the clinical trial sponsoQwn as a data safety monitoring board or commitféés group provides authorization for
whether or not a trial may move forward at desigdatheck points based on access to certain datetifre trial. We may also suspend or
terminate a clinical trial based on evolving busiebjectives and/or competitive climate. Concurvath clinical trials, companies usually
complete additional animal studies and must alseldg additional information about the chemistrg ginysical characteristics of the drug as
well as finalize a process for manufacturing thedpict in commercial quantities in accordance WiEMP requirements. The manufacturing
process must be capable of consistently produaiiadjty batches of the drug candidate and, amonegrdttings, must develop methods for
testing the identity, strength, quality and pudfythe final drug product. Additionally, appropegbackaging must be selected and tested and
stability studies must be conducted to demonsthatethe drug candidate does not undergo unacdepleterioration over its shelf life.

NDA and FDA Review Proces

Following trial completion, trial data is analyzedassess safety and efficacy. The results of jm&al studies and clinical trials are then
submitted to the FDA as part of an NDA, along witbposed labeling for the product and informatibowt the manufacturing process and
facilities that will be used to ensure product gyatesults of analytical testing conducted on¢hemistry of the drug, and other relevant
information. The NDA is a request for approval tarket the drug and must contain proof of safetyitpupotency and efficacy, which is
demonstrated by extensive pre-clinical and clinieating. The application includes both negativarabiguous results of pre-clinical and
clinical trials as well as positive findings. Datey come from compangponsored clinical trials intended to test thetyadead efficacy of a us
of a product, or from a number of alternative searéncluding studies initiated by investigators.stipport marketing approval, the data
submitted must be sufficient in quality and quaniiit establish the safety and efficacy of the itigegional drug product to the satisfaction of
the FDA. The submission of an NDA is subject toplagment of substantial user fees; a waiver of $eebk may be obtained under certain
limited circumstances. FDA approval of an NDA mistobtained before a drug may be offered for sathé United States.

In addition, under the Pediatric Research Equitt; AcPREA, an NDA or supplement to an NDA musttaondata to assess the safety
and efficacy of the drug for the claimed indication all relevant pediatric subpopulations andupp®rt dosing and administration for each
pediatric subpopulation for which the product ilesand effective. The FDA may grant deferrals fdormission of data or full or partial
waivers.

Under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act, or PDU&®\amended, each NDA must be accompanied by dagsérhe FDA adjusts the
PDUFA user fees on an annual basis. Accordinged-bA’s fee schedule, effective through September 3(6,20& user fee for an applicat
requiring clinical data, such as an NDA, is $2,280. PDUFA also imposes an annual product feedardn drugs ($104,060) and an annual
establishment fee ($554,600) on facilities useshémufacture prescription drugs. Fee waivers oragalus are available in certain
circumstances, including a waiver of the applicafiee for the first application filed by a
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small business. Additionally, no user fees aresseskton NDAs for products designated as orpharsdundess the product also includes a nor
orphan indication.

The FDA reviews all NDAs submitted before it acaefhtem for filing and may request additional infation rather than accepting an
NDA for filing. The FDA must make a decision on apting an NDA for filing within 60 days of receifdnce the submission is accepted
filing, the FDA begins an in-depth review of the NDUnder the goals and policies agreed to by thé EBder PDUFA, the FDA has 10
months from the filing date in which to completgiititial review of a standard NDA and respondne &pplicant, and six months from the
filing date for a priority NDA. The FDA does notays meet its PDUFA goal dates for standard aratipriNDAs, and the review process is
often significantly extended by FDA requests fodiidnal information or clarification.

After the NDA submission is accepted for filingetRDA reviews the NDA to determine, among othemndkij whether the proposed
product is safe and effective for its intended as&, whether the product is being manufactured¢dom@ance with cGMP to assure and
preserve the product’s identity, strength, quadityl purity. The FDA may refer applications for nlogheig products or drug products which
present difficult questions of safety or efficaoyan advisory committee, typically a panel thatudes clinicians and other experts, for review,
evaluation and a recommendation as to whethergplcation should be approved and under what cadit In the case of obesity drugs, the
FDA normally refers such drugs to the Endocrinadcand Metabolic Drugs Advisory Committee. The F3xot bound by the
recommendations of an advisory committee, butnsaers such recommendations carefully when matt@uisions. The FDA will likely re-
analyze the clinical trial data, which could resnlextensive discussions between the FDA and tiagithe review process. The review and
evaluation of an NDA by the FDA is extensive amddiconsuming and may take longer than originabypkd to complete, and we may not
receive a timely approval, if at all.

Before approving an NDA, the FDA will conduct a faeproval inspection of the manufacturing facisitfer the new product to
determine whether they comply with cGMPs. The FDA mot approve the product unless it determines the manufacturing processes and
facilities are in compliance with cGMP requiremeaitsl adequate to assure consistent productioregdrtiduct within required specifications.
In addition, before approving an NDA, the FDA mdsoaaudit data from clinical trials to ensure coiapte with GCP requirements. After the
FDA evaluates the application, manufacturing pre@sl manufacturing facilities, it may issue anrapal letter or a Complete Response
Letter. An approval letter authorizes commerciathkating of the drug with specific prescribing infieation for specific indications. A
Complete Response Letter indicates that the regimbe of the application is complete and the appién is not ready for approval. A
Complete Response Letter usually describes aleEpecific deficiencies in the NDA identified tetFDA. The Complete Response Letter
may require additional clinical data and/or an &iddal pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial(s), and/ohet significant and time-consuming
requirements related to clinical trials, pre-cladistudies or manufacturing. If a Complete Respduegter is issued, the applicant may either
resubmit the NDA, addressing all of the deficiesdentified in the letter, or withdraw the apptioa. Even if such data and information is
submitted, the FDA may ultimately decide that tH2ANdoes not satisfy the criteria for approval. Daldained from clinical trials are not
always conclusive and the FDA may interpret daffedintly than we interpret the same data.

There is no assurance that the FDA will ultimatgiyprove a drug product for marketing in the Unii¢dtes and we may encounter
significant difficulties or costs during the revigrocess. If a product receives marketing apprdkialapproval may be significantly limited to
specific diseases and dosages or the indicationsstomay otherwise be limited, which could resttie commercial value of the product.
Further, the FDA may require that certain contragations, warnings or precautions be included enghoduct labeling or may condition the
approval of the NDA on other changes to the propdaleeling, development of adequate controls aedifpations, or a commitment to
conduct post-market testing or clinical trials auaveillance to
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monitor the effects of approved products. For eXanthe FDA may require Phase 4 testing which imesiclinical trials designed to further
assess a drug safety and effectiveness and mayea¢gsting and surveillance programs to monitershfety of approved products that have
been commercialized. The FDA may also place otbreditions on approvals including the requirementafdREMS to assure the safe use of
drug. If the FDA concludes a REMS is needed, ttonspr of the NDA must submit a proposed REMS. Th& will not approve the NDA
without an approved REMS, if required. A REMS coimdude medication guides, physician communicafitams, or elements to assure safe
use, such as restricted distribution methods, pategistries and other risk minimization tools.yAsf these limitations on approval or
marketing could restrict the commercial promotidistribution, prescription or dispensing of produd®roduct approvals may be withdrawn
non-compliance with regulatory standards or if peais occur following initial marketing.

Orphan Drug Designation

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orptiasignation to a drug or biological product intecidio treat a rare disease or
condition, which is generally a disease or conditimat affects fewer than 200,000 individuals ia tnited States, or more than 200,000
individuals in the United States and for which thiex no reasonable expectation that the cost afldping and making a drug or biological
product available in the United States for thisetgp disease or condition will be recovered frotesaf the product. Orphan product
designation must be requested before submitting2A. After the FDA grants orphan product designatitihe identity of the therapeutic agent
and its potential orphan use are disclosed publiglthe FDA. Orphan product designation does novep any advantage in or shorten the
duration of the regulatory review and approval pssx

If a product that has orphan designation subsetyuerteives the first FDA approval for the diseaseondition for which it has such
designation, the product is entitled to orphan pob@xclusivity, which means that the FDA may nop@ve any other applications to market
the same drug or biological product for the santkécation for seven years, except in limited circtamses, such as a showing of clinical
superiority to the product with orphan exclusivi§ompetitors, however, may receive approval ofedéht products for the indication for wh
the orphan product has exclusivity or obtain apptder the same product but for a different indigatfor which the orphan product has
exclusivity. Orphan product exclusivity also cobldck the approval of one of our products for seyears if a competitor obtains approval of
the same biological product as defined by the FDA& our product candidate is determined to be am@d within the competitor's product for
the same indication or disease. If a drug or bicligyroduct designated as an orphan product resenarketing approval for an indication
broader than what is designated, it may not beleatio orphan product exclusivity. Orphan drudistan the European Union has similar, but
not identical, benefits.

Expedited Development and Review Progra

The FDA has a Fast Track program that is intendezkpedite or facilitate the process for reviewiagv drugs and biological products
that meet certain criteria. Specifically, new dragsl biological products are eligible for Fast krdesignation if they are intended to treat a
serious or life-threatening condition and demortetthhe potential to address unmet medical needbéocondition. Fast Track designation
applies to the combination of the product and fhexHic indication for which it is being studiedh@ sponsor of a new drug or biologic may
request the FDA to designate the drug or biologia &ast Track product at any time during the @ihdevelopment of the product. Unique
Fast Track product, the FDA may consider for revéaetions of the marketing application on a rollragis before the complete application is
submitted, if the sponsor provides a scheduleiersubmission of the sections of the applicatiba,RDA agrees to accept sections of the
application and determines that the schedule ispiable, and the sponsor pays any required useufssn submission of the first section of
application.

Any product submitted to the FDA for marketing,liing under a Fast Track program, may be elidibteother types of FDA programs
intended to expedite development and review, sagiriarity review and accelerated approval. Anydu is eligible for priority review if it
has the potential to provide safe and
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effective therapy where no satisfactory alternatherapy exists or a significant improvement in titeatment, diagnosis or prevention of a
disease compared to marketed products. The FDAattdmpt to direct additional resources to the watidn of an application for a new drug
biological product designated for priority reviemvan effort to facilitate the review. Additionallg,product may be eligible for accelerated
approval. Drug or biological products studied toeit safety and effectiveness in treating seriaugethreatening illnesses and that provide
meaningful therapeutic benefit over existing treaibs may receive accelerated approval, which miébatshey may be approved on the basis
of adequate and well-controlled clinical trialsadsishing that the product has an effect on a gateendpoint that is reasonably likely to
predict a clinical benefit, or on the basis of éie@ on a clinical endpoint other than survivalimeversible morbidity. As a condition of
approval, the FDA may require that a sponsor afug @r biological product receiving acceleratedrappl perform adequate and well-
controlled post-marketing clinical trials. If th®R concludes that a drug shown to be effectivelmasafely used only if distribution or use is
restricted, it will require such post-marketingtriesions as it deems necessary to assure safefilse drug, such as:

» distribution restricted to certain facilities orygicians with special training or experience

« distribution conditioned on the performance of sfied medical procedure

The limitations imposed would be commensurate tithspecific safety concerns presented by the dinugddition, the FDA currently
requires as a condition for accelerated approwabpproval of promotional materials, which could@ely impact the timing of the
commercial launch of the product. Fast Track destign, priority review and accelerated approvahdbchange the standards for approval bu
may expedite the development or approval process.

Pediatric Trials

Recently, the Food and Drug Administration Safetgl mnovation Act, or FDASIA, which was signed ildéov on July 9, 2012, amended
the FDCA. FDASIA requires that a sponsor who isiplag to submit a marketing application for a dangpiological product that includes a
new active ingredient, new indication, new dosagenf new dosing regimen or new route of adminigtrasubmit an initial Pediatric Study
Plan, or PSP, within sixty days of an endRifase 2 meeting or as may be agreed between theosmd FDA. The initial PSP must include
outline of the pediatric study or studies thatspensor plans to conduct, including study objestaed design, age groups, relevant endpoints
and statistical approach, or a justification fot meluding such detailed information, and any resfufor a deferral of pediatric assessments or
full or partial waiver of the requirement to progidata from pediatric studies along with supportirigrmation. FDA and the sponsor must
reach agreement on the PSP. A sponsor can submitchments to an agreegbon initial PSP at any time if changes to the gieidi plan need 1
be considered based on data collected from nonalistudies, early phase clinical trials, and/teotlinical development programs.
Submission of a PSP as defined in FDASIA is notiregl for programs with orphan drug designation.

Pos-Marketing Requirements

Following approval of a new product, a pharmacelitompany and the approved product are subjemdritinuing regulation by the
FDA, including, among other things, monitoring ardordkeeping activities, reporting to the applleaiegulatory authorities of adverse
experiences with the product, providing the regurlatiuthorities with updated safety and efficadpimation, product sampling and
distribution requirements, and complying with pramn and advertising requirements, which includepag others, standards for direct-to-
consumer advertising, restrictions on promotinggdrior uses or in patient populations that aredestribed in the drug’s approved labeling
(known as “off-label use”), limitations on industsponsored scientific and educational activitiesl equirements for promotional activities
involving the internet. Although physicians may smebe legally available drugs for off-label usesnufacturers may not market or promote
such off-label uses. Modifications or enhancememtie product or its labeling or changes of the sf manufacture are often subject to the
approval of the FDA and other regulators, which raaynay not be received or may result in a lengédwew process.

35



Table of Contents

Prescription drug advertising is subject to fedestdte and foreign regulations. In the Unitede&tathe FDA regulates prescription drug
promotion, including direct-to-consumer advertisiRgescription drug promotional materials must tdensitted to the FDA in conjunction with
their first use. Any distribution of prescriptionud) products and pharmaceutical samples must cowifitythe U.S. Prescription Drug
Marketing Act, or the PDMA, a part of the FDCA.

In the United States, once a product is approdsdnanufacture is subject to comprehensive andraong regulation by the FDA. The
FDA regulations require that products be manufactun specific approved facilities and in accorgawith cGMP. We rely, and expect to
continue to rely, on third parties for the prodantof clinical and commercial quantities of ourguots in accordance with cGMP regulations.
cGMP regulations require among other things, qualiintrol and quality assurance as well as theesponding maintenance of records and
documentation and the obligation to investigate @rdect any deviations from cGMP. Drug manufaasiend other entities involved in the
manufacture and distribution of approved drugsregeired to register their establishments withRB&\ and certain state agencies, and are
subject to periodic unannounced inspections byFihA and certain state agencies for compliance e@MP and other laws. Accordingly,
manufacturers must continue to expend time, moawey effort in the area of production and qualitpteol to maintain cGMP compliance.
These regulations also impose certain organizdtipnacedural and documentation requirements veipect to manufacturing and quality
assurance activities. NDA holders using contraatufecturers, laboratories or packagers are reslplerfsir the selection and monitoring of
qualified firms, and, in certain circumstances,liiea suppliers to these firms. These firms antieve applicable, their suppliers are subject tc
inspections by the FDA at any time, and the disopwé violative conditions, including failure to oform to cGMP, could result in enforcem
actions that interrupt the operation of any sudilifees or the ability to distribute products mdactured, processed or tested by them.
Discovery of problems with a product after apprawaly result in restrictions on a product, manufetwor holder of an approved NDA,
including, among other things, recall or withdrawathe product from the market.

The FDA also may require post-approval testing, esimres referred to as Phase 4 testing, risk mirdtitin action plans and post-
marketing surveillance to monitor the effects ofapproved product or place conditions on an appitwd could restrict the distribution or use
of the product. Discovery of previously unknown Ipieoms with a product or the failure to comply wétpplicable FDA requirements can have
negative consequences, including adverse publjcitigial or administrative enforcement, warningides from the FDA, mandated corrective
advertising or communications with doctors, andl @wcriminal penalties, among others. Newly digeed or developed safety or
effectiveness data may require changes to a predaymproved labeling, including the addition of nexarnings and contraindications, and also
may require the implementation of other risk mamaget measures. Also, new government requiremerdisiding those resulting from new
legislation, may be established, or the FDA's geianay change, which could delay or prevent regojaapproval of our products under
development.

Other Regulatory Matters

Manufacturing, sales, promotion and other actigifalowing product approval are also subject gutation by numerous regulatory
authorities in addition to the FDA, including, imetUnited States, the Centers for Medicare & Madi&ervices, other divisions of the
Department of Health and Human Services, the DmfgriEement Administration, the Consumer Produceafommission, the Federal Tr¢
Commission, the Occupational Safety & Health Adsti@tion, the Environmental Protection Agency atatiesand local governments. In the
United States, sales, marketing and scientific/atiogal programs must also comply with state aceérfal fraud and abuse laws. Pricing and
rebate programs must comply with the Medicaid rebatiuirements of the U.S. Omnibus Budget Recaticiti Act of 1990 and more recent
requirements in the Health Care Reform Law, as aeeiby the Health Care and Education AffordabReconciliation Act, or ACA. If
products are made available to authorized usettsedfederal Supply Schedule of the General Ser¥idesinistration, additional laws and
requirements apply. The handling of any controfialistances must comply with the U.S. Controlleds&uizes Act and Controlled Substance
Import and Export Act. Products must meet
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applicable child-resistant packaging requirementeun the U.S. Poison Prevention Packaging Act. N&anturing, sales, promotion and other
activities are also potentially subject to fedenadl state consumer protection and unfair competitio/s.

The distribution of pharmaceutical products is sabjo additional requirements and regulationdutling extensive record-keeping,
licensing, storage and security requirements irgdrid prevent the unauthorized sale of pharmaatioducts.

The failure to comply with regulatory requiremestbjects firms to possible legal or regulatory@ttiDepending on the circumstances,
failure to meet applicable regulatory requiremesats result in criminal prosecution, fines or otpenalties, injunctions, recall or seizure of
products, total or partial suspension of producttemial or withdrawal of product approvals, omussl to allow a firm to enter into supply
contracts, including government contracts. In addjteven if a firm complies with FDA and other vdg@ments, new information regarding the
safety or efficacy of a product could lead the FidAnodify or withdraw product approval. Prohibit®ar restrictions on sales or withdrawa
future products marketed by us could materiallgetfour business in an adverse way.

Changes in regulations, statutes or the interpostaf existing regulations could impact our bussé the future by requiring, for
example: (i) changes to our manufacturing arrangegsn¢i) additions or modifications to product &img; (iii) the recall or discontinuation of
our products; or (iv) additional record-keepinguiggments. If any such changes were to be impdkeg,could adversely affect the operation
of our business.

U.S. Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Exclugy

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifiche FDA approval of our drug candidates, somewfU.S. patents may be eligible
for limited patent term extension under the DrugéCompetition and Patent Term Restoration Act384, commonly referred to as the
Hatch-Waxman Amendments. The Hatch-Waxman Amend@rimit a patent restoration term of up to fivargeas compensation for patent
term lost during product development and the FDgulatory review process. However, patent term rasitn cannot extend the remaining
term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years froendtoduct’s approval date. The patent term restorgteriod is generally one-half the time
between the effective date of an IND and the susimmisdate of an NDA plus the time between the sebioin date of an NDA and the apprc
of that application. Only one patent applicablamcapproved drug is eligible for the extension @redapplication for the extension must be
submitted prior to the expiration of the patenteThS. PTO, in consultation with the FDA, reviewns @pproves the application for any patent
term extension or restoration. In the future, werid to apply for restoration of patent term foe @fi our currently owned or licensed patent
add patent life beyond its current expiration ddepending on the expected length of the clinigalstand other factors involved in the filing
the relevant NDA.

Marketing exclusivity provisions under the FDCA aso delay the submission or the approval of gertearketing applications. The
FDCA provides a five-year period of non-patent nedirkg exclusivity within the United States to tlstfapplicant to obtain approval of an
NDA for a new chemical entity. A drug is a new cheathentity if the FDA has not previously approweety other new drug containing the s
active moiety, which is the molecule or ion respblesfor the action of the drug substance. Durimg éxclusivity period, the FDA may not
accept for review an abbreviated new drug appboatbr ANDA, or a 505(b)(2) NDA submitted by anatltempany for another drug based or
the same active moiety, regardless of whether thg i@ intended for the same indication as theimasignnovator drug or for another
indication, where the applicant does not own orehalegal right of reference to all the data rezplifior approval. However, an application may
be submitted after four years if it contains aifiedtion of patent invalidity or nomfringement to one of the patents listed with Fi2A by the
innovator NDA holder. The FDCA also provides thyears of marketing exclusivity for an NDA, or supplent to an existing NDA if new
clinical investigations, other than bioavailabilgtudies, that were conducted or sponsored byphkcant are deemed by the FDA to be
essential to the approval of the
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application, for example new indications, dosagestrengths of an existing drug. This three-yealesivity covers only the modification for
which the drug received approval on the basis @fi#w clinical investigations and does not prohuet FDA from approving ANDAs for
drugs containing the active agent for the origindlcation or condition of use. Five-year and thyear exclusivity will not delay the
submission or approval of a full NDA. However, gaplicant submitting a full NDA would be requiredd¢onduct or obtain a right of reference
to all of the pre-clinical studies and adequateaatl-controlled clinical trials necessary to demstrate safety and effectiveness. Orphan drug
exclusivity, as described above, may offer a sepgar-period of marketing exclusivity, except inta@r circumstances. Pediatric exclusivity is
another type of regulatory market exclusivity ie tinited States. Pediatric exclusivity, if grantadds six months to existing exclusivity
periods and patent terms. This six-month exclugivithich runs from the end of other exclusivity f@tion or patent term, may be granted
based on the voluntary completion of a pediatiad tn accordance with an FDA-issued “Written Resttiéor such a trial.

European Union Drug Developmer

In the European Union, our future products may akssubject to extensive regulatory requiremenssinAhe United States, medicinal
products can only be marketed if a marketing aightion from the competent regulatory agenciestess obtained.

Similar to the United States, the various phasgs®flinical and clinical research in the Europélmion are subject to significant
regulatory controls. Although the EU Clinical Tgdbirective 2001/20/EC has sought to harmonizeEim®pean Union clinical trials regulatc
framework, setting out common rules for the condmod authorization of clinical trials in the EurepelUnion, the European Union Member
States have transposed and applied the provisiahge ®@irective differently. This has led to signént variations in the member state regimes
Under the current regime, before a clinical triah de initiated it must be approved in each ofEhempean Union countries where the trial is tc
be conducted by two distinct bodies: the Nationain@etent Authority, or NCA, and one or more Ett@@snmittees, or ECs. Under the curr
regime all suspected unexpected serious adversgaresto the investigated drug that occur durtlmgalinical trial have to be reported to the
NCA and ECs of the Member State where they occu

The European Union clinical trials legislation igently undergoing a revision process mainly airaedniforming and streamlining the
clinical trials authorization process, simplifyiagverse event reporting procedures, improving tipeision of clinical trials, and increasing
their transparency.

European Union Drug Review and Approv.

In the European Economic Area, or EEA, (which impoised of the 27 Member States of the Europeanr(@xcluding Croatia) plus
Norway, Iceland and Liechtenstein), medicinal pidican only be commercialized after obtaining akdang Authorization, or MA. Ther
are two types of marketing authorizations:

The Community MA, which is issued by the Europeam@ission through the Centralized Procedure, baedte opinion of the
Committee for Medicinal Products for Human UseCotMP, of the EMA and which is valid throughout thetire territory of the EEA. The
Centralized Procedure is mandatory for certaingygfeoroducts, such as biotechnology medicinal pets] orphan medicinal products, and
medicinal products containing a new active substandicated for the treatment of AIDS, cancer, neegenerative disorders, diabetes, auto-
immune and viral diseases. The Centralized Proecidwptional for products containing a new acfubstance not yet authorized in the EEA,
or for products that constitute a significant thpenatic, scientific or technical innovation or whiate in the interest of public health in the
European Union.

National MAs, which are issued by the competentatities of the Member States of the EEA and owlyet their respective territory,
are available for products not falling within thendatory scope of the
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Centralized Procedure. Where a product has already authorized for marketing in a Member Stath®fEEA, this National MA can be
recognized in another Member States through theidiRecognition Procedure. If the product has aceived a National MA in any Member
State at the time of application, it can be appdosienultaneously in various Member States throinghDecentralized Procedure. Under the
Decentralized Procedure an identical dossier isn#titdd to the competent authorities of each ofMteenber States in which the MA is sought,
one of which is selected by the applicant as tHei@ace Member State, or RMS. The competent atyhofrithe RMS prepares a draft
assessment report, a draft summary of the prodiartcteristics, or SPC, and a draft of the labeding package leaflet, which are sent to the
other Member States (referred to as the Membee$S@oncerned) for their approval. If the Membetest&oncerned raise no objections, b
on a potential serious risk to public health, te #ssessment, SPC, labeling, or packaging profmste: RMS, the product is subsequently
granted a national MA in all the Member States (héhe RMS and the Member States Concerned).

Under the above described procedures, before gratite MA, the EMA or the competent authoritieshef Member States of the EEA
make an assessment of the risk-benefit balandeegiroduct on the basis of scientific criteria @mnéng its quality, safety and efficacy.

European Union New Chemical Entity Exclusivit

In the European Union, new chemical entities, somed referred to as new active substances, qualifgight years of data exclusivity
upon marketing authorization and an additional years of market exclusivity. This data exclusivifygranted, prevents regulatory authorities
in the European Union from referencing the innoratdata to assess a generic application for sigats, after which generic marketing
authorization can be submitted, and the innovattaita may be referenced, but not approved for ®avs; The overall ten-year period will be
extended to a maximum of 11 years if, during th&t #ight years of those ten years, the marketinigagization holder obtains an authorization
for one or more new therapeutic indications whatring the scientific evaluation prior to their hatization, are held to bring a significant
clinical benefit in comparison with existing theieg

European Union Orphan Designation and Exclusivi

In the European Union, the EM&Committee for Orphan Medicinal Products granghan drug designation to promote the developt
of products that are intended for the diagnosisy@nmtion or treatment of life-threatening or choatfly debilitating conditions affecting not
more than 5 in 10,000 persons in the European Usiohfor which no satisfactory method of diagnggisyention, or treatment has been
authorized (or the product would be a significagnéfit to those affected). Additionally, designatie granted for products intended for the
diagnosis, prevention, or treatment of a tifieeatening, seriously debilitating or serious ahtbnic condition and when, without incentivess
unlikely that sales of the drug in the Europeanddnivould be sufficient to justify the necessaryeistment in developing the medicinal
product.

In the European Union, orphan drug designatiortlesta party to financial incentives such as rednabf fees or fee waivers and
ten years of market exclusivity is granted follogiimedicinal product approval. This period may uoed to six years if the orphan drug
designation criteria are no longer met, includirtgeve it is shown that the product is sufficienttpfiiable not to justify maintenance of market
exclusivity. Orphan drug designation must be retptebefore submitting an application for marketipgproval. Orphan drug designation does
not convey any advantage in, or shorten the duratipthe regulatory review and approval process.

Reimbursement

Sales of our products will depend, in part, ongkgent to which our products will be covered bydkparty payors, such as government
health programs, commercial insurance and managglthlcare organizations. These third-party paymrsrereasingly reducing
reimbursements for medical products and services.

39



Table of Contents

Additionally, the containment of healthcare cosis hecome a priority of federal and state govermsnand the prices of drugs have been a
focus in this effort. The U.S. government, statgdiatures and foreign governments have shownf8&igni interest in implementing cost-
containment programs, including price controlsirietions on reimbursement and requirements fosstution of generic products. Adoption
of price controls and cost-containment measura$adoption of more restrictive policies in jurisiiicms with existing controls and measures,
could further limit our net revenue and resultsci2ases in third-party reimbursement for our prodaadidate or a decision by a third-party
payor to not cover our product candidate could cedvhysician usage of the product candidate and hawaterial adverse effect on our sales,
results of operations and financial condition.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, andi®taization Act of 2003, or the MMA, established tfiedicare Part D program to
provide a voluntary prescription drug benefit todiare beneficiaries. Under Part D, Medicare bemies may enroll in prescription drug
plans offered by private entities which provide emge of outpatient prescription drugs. Unlike Madé Part A and B, Part D coverage is not
standardized. Part D prescription drug plan spanae not required to pay for all covered Part iigdr and each drug plan can develop its
drug formulary that identifies which drugs it wélbver and at what tier or level. However, Part Bspription drug formularies must include
drugs within each therapeutic category and clag®weéred Part D drugs, though not necessarilyhalldrugs in each category or class. Any
formulary used by a Part D prescription drug plarstibe developed and reviewed by a pharmacy amdpbetic committee. Government
payment for some of the costs of prescription dimgy increase demand for products for which weivecmarketing approval. However, any
negotiated prices for our products covered by & Pgrescription drug plan will likely be lower thahe prices we might otherwise obtain.
Moreover, while the MMA applies only to drug bengfior Medicare beneficiaries, private payors oflow Medicare coverage policy and
payment limitations in setting their own paymeriesa Any reduction in payment that results fromNA may result in a similar reduction
payments from non-governmental payors.

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 20@%ides funding for the federal government to careghe effectiveness of
different treatments for the same illness. The [fidarthe research was published in 2012 by the Beyt of Health and Human Services, the
Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality and\itéonal Institutes for Health, and periodic reparh the status of the research and relate
expenditures will be made to Congress. Althoughréiselts of the comparative effectiveness studiesiat intended to mandate coverage
policies for public or private payors, it is noeal what effect, if any, the research will havelomsales of our product candidate, if any such
product or the condition that it is intended taatris the subject of a trial. It is also possiltlattcomparative effectiveness research
demonstrating benefits in a competitor's produetid@dversely affect the sales of our product adengi. If third-party payors do not consider
our products to be cost-effective compared to odivailable therapies, they may not cover our prtxlafter approval as a benefit under their
plans or, if they do, the level of payment may Im@tsufficient to allow us to sell our products oprafitable basis.

The Health Care Reform Law, as amended by the K&alte and Education Affordability ReconciliatioetAof 2010, or collectively the
ACA, enacted in March 2010, is expected to havigrificant impact on the health care industry. B@A is expected to expand coverage for
the uninsured while at the same time containingailveealthcare costs. With regard to pharmacelupicaducts, among other things, the ACA
is expected to expand and increase industry ref@tesugs covered under Medicaid programs and nchkeges to the coverage requirement:
under the Medicare Part D program. We cannot préldécimpact of the ACA on pharmaceutical compaagsiany of the ACA reforms
require the promulgation of detailed regulationplementing the statutory provisions which has reitoccurred. For example, pharmaceutica
manufacturers are required to track certain firgrairangements with physicians and teaching haispincluding any “transfer of valuaiade
or distributed to such entities, as well as angstment interests held by physicians and their idiate family members. Manufacturers are
required by ACA to begin tracking this information2013 and to report this information to CMS bexig in 2014.
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In addition, other legislative changes have beep@sed and adopted in the United States since @#ewas enacted. On August 2, 20
the Budget Control Act of 2011 among other thingeated measures for spending reductions by Conghedoint Select Committee on Defi
Reduction, tasked with recommending a targeteatiledduction of at least $1.2 trillion for the ye@013 through 2021, was unable to reach
required goals, thereby triggering the legislatioatutomatic reduction to several government progrdrhis includes aggregate reductions to
Medicare payments to providers of up to 2% pemfigear, started in April 2013. On January 2, 20rg@sident Obama signed into law the
American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, or the ATR#ich delayed for another two months the budget mdandated by these sequestration
provisions of the Budget Control Act of 2011. Th&RA, among other things, also reduced Medicare magsto several providers, including
hospitals, imaging centers and cancer treatmenéirand increased the statute of limitationsqokfor the government to recover
overpayments to providers from three to five ye¥rs.expect that additional federal healthcare reforeasures will be adopted in the future,
any of which could limit the amounts that fedenadl state governments will pay for healthcare prtglaod services, and in turn could
significantly reduce the projected value of cerd@velopment projects and reduce our profitability.

In addition, in some foreign countries, the progbgecing for a drug must be approved before it layawfully marketed. The
requirements governing drug pricing vary widelynfreountry to country. For example, the Europearobpirovides options for its member
states to restrict the range of medicinal prodfatsvhich their national health insurance systemmvigle reimbursement and to control the
prices of medicinal products for human use. A manskete may approve a specific price for the medigbroduct or it may instead adopt a
system of direct or indirect controls on the patitity of the company placing the medicinal prodoe the market. There can be no assuranc
that any country that has price controls or reimborent limitations for pharmaceutical products alibw favorable reimbursement and
pricing arrangements for any of our products. Histdly, products launched in the European Uniomdbfollow price structures of the United
States and generally tend to be significantly lower

Employees

As of March 17, 2015, we employed 22 full-time eayges, including 15 in research and developmensawnen in general and
administrative, and one part-time employee in galreand administrative. We have never had a wonpgtge, and none of our employees is
represented by a labor organization or under aligative-bargaining arrangements. We consider oypleyee relations to be good.

Our Corporate Information

We were incorporated under the laws of the Staf@etdware in 2005. Our principal executive offiees located at 175 Portland Street,
4th Floor, Boston, MA 02114, and our telephone neinib (617) 622-4003. Our website address is wwigezacom.

Available Information

We make available free of charge through our welmitr annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly report$-orm 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filediori$hed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d)eoBecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or the Exchange Act. We make these regatkable through our website as soon as reasppastticable after we electronically
file such reports with, or furnish such reportsti® SEC. You can find, copy and inspect informatie file at the SEC’s public reference
room, which is located at 100 F Street, N.E., Rd&80, Washington, DC 20549. Please call the SEIC8®0-SEC-0330 for more information
about the operation of the SEC'’s public referemma. You can review our electronically filed reoaind other information that we file with
the SEC on the SEC’s web site at http://www.sec.yde also make available, free of charge on oursitepthe reports filed with the SEC by
our executive officers, directors and 10% stockbdcgpursuant to Section 16 under the Exchange Asban as
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reasonably practicable after copies of those filiage provided to us by those persons. The inféomabntained on, or that can be accessed
through, our website is not a part of or incorpedady reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following risks and uncertainties, togethertwatl other information in this Annual Report, inding our consolidated financial
statements and related notes, should be considmnedully. Any of the risk factors we describe betmuld adversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations, anolitd cause the market price of our common stodkitbuate or decline

Risks Related to Product Development, Regulatory Agroval and Commercialization

We depend almost entirely on the success of one@peb candidate, beloranib, which is in Phase 3 étial development for our lead
indication of the treatment of obesity and hypergia in patients with PWS and Phase 2 clinical demgient for HIAO and severe obesity
in the general population. We cannot be certain thae will be able to obtain regulatory approval far successfully commercialize,
beloranib.

We currently have only one product candidate, laglity; in clinical development, and our businessedep almost entirely on its
successful clinical development, regulatory appranal commercialization. We currently have no dougducts for sale and may never be abl
to develop marketable drug products. Beloranibchiig currently in Phase 3 clinical developmena &atment for obesity and hyperphagi
Prader-Willi syndrome, or PWS, Phase 2 clinicaledepment for hypothalamic injury-associated obesityHIAO, and Phase 2b clinical
development for severe obesity in the general @djmu, will require substantial additional cliniazvelopment, testing and regulatory
approval before we are permitted to commence itsneercialization. Our other product candidates,uditlg ZGN-839, are still in pre-clinical
development stages. The clinical trials of our piiccandidates are, and the manufacturing and riiagkef our product candidates will be,
subject to extensive and rigorous review and reguidy numerous government authorities in the &thibtates and in other countries where
we intend to test and, if approved, market any pebdandidate. Before obtaining regulatory apprevat the commercial sale of any product
candidate, we must demonstrate through pre-clitnésting and clinical trials that the product caladié is safe and effective for use in each
target indication. This process can take many yaagsmay include post-marketing studies and suaveié, which will require the expenditure
of substantial resources beyond the proceeds wently have on hand. Of the large number of draggeivelopment in the United States, only
a small percentage will successfully complete ttfe. BFood and Drug Administration, or FDA, regulgtapproval process and is
commercialized. Accordingly, even if we are ableldain the requisite financing to continue to funat development and clinical trials, we
cannot assure you that beloranib or any other opoeduct candidates will be successfully developedommercialized.

We are not permitted to market beloranib in thetéthiStates until we receive approval of a New Dkpglication, or an NDA, from the
FDA, or in any foreign countries until we receibe trequisite approval from such countries. We ridgeompleted three Phase 2 clinical trials
of beloranib, one in patients with PWS, one ingmat with HIAO and one in severely obese patiahis.expect that the FDA will require us to
conduct at least one pivotal trial in order to sittan NDA for beloranib as a treatment for patienith PWS. However, meeting the
requirements of the FDA or certain European regwaauthorities may require that we conduct adddigivotal trials. We expect that the
FDA will also require us to complete our ongoingaBé 2b clinical trial and at least two Phase Jadirtrials to submit an NDA for beloranib
as a treatment for severe obesity in the genegllption, and may require that we conduct a caaoular outcomes trial. Pursuant to the
FDA’s February 2007 draft guidance to industry on #eetbpment of weight management drugs, in ordeedasonably estimate the safety
weight-management drug, Phase 3 clinical trialstrarsdomize approximately 3,000 subjects to adivges of the product and 1,500 subjects
to placebo in clinical trials for a one-year duvati
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We initiated our Phase 3 clinical program, whicplsnned to consist of two Phase 3 clinical triafdyeloranib in patients with PWS,
with the first Phase 3 trial in the United Statasihg started in September 2014. We plan to imittatr second Phase 3 clinical trial of belor:
in patients with PWS in the European Union in thiddie of 2015. We continue to engage in discussiuitis applicable regulatory authorities
to determine if our proposed Phase 3 clinicalgnaill be sufficient to support an NDA submissiantihe FDA and a marketing authorization
application, or MAA, to the European Medicines Aggnor EMA, and other regulatory agencies seekjgraval of beloranib for the treatm:
of obesity and hyperphagia in patients with PW$rRo initiation of our Phase 3 clinical prograor beloranib in patients with PWS, we
submitted pre-clinical animal studies and clinicall results for the FDA's review, and have seVeadditional studies to complete, including a
human factors study to demonstrate patients’ ghititcorrectly use the device for dispensing belidraan abuse potential study and rat and
mouse carcinogenicity studies. However, the FDA meapire additional pretinical animal studies or clinical studies. Weaaisitiated a Pha:
2b clinical trial of beloranib as a treatment fewsre obesity in the general population in patigrits also have type 2 diabetes.

We are also evaluating additional proprietary negtiie aminopeptidase 2, or MetAP2, inhibitors belbaloranib as potential
development candidates that would provide incregs¢ignt convenience in the form of oral dosingaootherwise improved clinical profile.
A decision on whether to subsequently advance aeibrinto pivotal trials for severe obesity or évdrage the opportunity to advance another
MetAP2 inhibitor into early development for seveteesity is anticipated to be made on the basissflts obtained from our Phase 3 clinical
trial in the United States of beloranib in patiewith PWS and discussions with regulatory authesiti

Accordingly, obtaining approval of an NDA is a cde lengthy, expensive and uncertain processtlaaméDA and certain European
regulatory authorities may delay, limit or deny apfal of beloranib for many reasons, including, agothers:

e we may not be able to demonstrate that belbriaréafe and effective in treating obesity anddngpagia in patients with PWS,
HIAO or severe obesity in the general populatiorthe satisfaction of the FDA and certain Europesulatory authorities

» the results of our clinical trials may not meet kel of statistical or clinical significance rergd by the FDA and certain Europe
regulatory authorities for marketing approv

« the FDA and certain European regulatory autlesrimay disagree with the number, design, sizegtaun, conduct or
implementation of our clinical trial:

» the FDA and certain European regulatory authoriti@ay require that we conduct additional clinical or preclinical studies
« the FDA and certain European regulatory authoriti@y not approve the formulation, labeling or sfiegiions of beloranib

» the contract research organizations, or CRi@2d,we retain to conduct our clinical trials makeactions outside of our control that
materially adversely impact our clinical tria

* the FDA and certain European regulatory auttesrimay find the data from pre-clinical studied atinical trials insufficient to
demonstrate that belorars clinical and other benefits outweigh its safétis;

» the FDA and certain European regulatory auttesrimay disagree with our interpretation of daterf our pre-clinical studies and
clinical trials;

» the FDA and certain European regulatory authorities not accept data generated at our clinicdldites;

« ifand when our NDA is submitted and reviewgdan advisory committee, the FDA may have diffimdtscheduling an advisory
committee meeting in a timely manner or the adyismmmittee
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may recommend against approval of our applicatroma&y recommend that the FDA require, as a condifoapproval, additional
pre-clinical studies or clinical trials, limitations @pproved labeling or distribution and use restits;

» the FDA may require development of a Risk Eatibn and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, as a cdodibf approval or post-
approval,

» the FDA and certain European regulatory auttesrimay not approve the manufacturing processésciities of third-party
manufacturers with which we contract;

« the FDA and certain European regulatory authoriti@y change their approval policies or adopt neyulaions.

Any of these factors, many of which are beyondamntrol, could jeopardize our ability to obtain uégtory approval for and successfully
market beloranib. Moreover, because our businealsnigst entirely dependent upon this one produatlickate, any such setback in our pursuit
of regulatory approval would have a material ade@ffect on our business and prospects.

Positive results from early clinical trials of belanib are not necessarily predictive of the resudtslater clinical trials of beloranib. If we
cannot replicate the positive results from our eiarl clinical trials of beloranib in our later-stagelinical trials, we may be unable to
successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval &md commercialize beloranib. It may further be cessary to validate different ¢
additional instruments for measuring subjective gmuints, and to show that beloranib has a clinicaliyeaningful impact on those endpoin
in order to obtain regulatory approval.

Positive results from our Phase 1 and Phase Ziaallimials of beloranib may not necessarily bedmrve of the results from required
later-stage clinical trials. Similarly, even if vaee able to complete our Phase 2b or Phase 3allinials of beloranib according to our current
development timeline, the positive results from Bhase 1 and Phase 2a clinical trials of belorarai not be replicated in our Phase 2b or
Phase 3 clinical trial results. The design of doage 3 clinical program of beloranib as a treatrf@mbesity and hyperphagia in patients with
PWS differs in several aspects from our recentimpieted Phase 2a clinical trial for PWS. For examphtients with PWS will not be limited
to living in closely-controlled PWS-specific grohpmes like they were in our Phase 2a clinical triglwill be predominantly living in family
homes. In addition, patients with PWS will be tezhtvith beloranib for substantially longer thanrfaxeeks and our U.S. Phase 3 extension
trial, European Phase 3 trial for PWS and all sgbeat Phase 2 and 3 studies will test a pre-fillitent syringe instead of single use glass
vials, which were used in our Phase 2a and U.Ssd*Balinical trials. One of the Phase 3 clinicall$ will be conducted in Europe, where we
have not previously conducted clinical trials. Bhse discussions with regulatory authorities, thalgrimary efficacy endpoints for our Phase
3 clinical trials have changed from improvementyperphagia-related behaviors or body fat massipsavements in hyperphagia-related
behaviors or body weight. In our Phase 2a clinigal for PWS we saw statistically significant ingmements in body mass and fat mass; body
weight was also reduced, but not to a statisticgitipificant level. In each Phase 3 trial, thel tidl be considered successful based on a
statistically significant result for either duaimpary efficacy endpoint at a p-value of less th@26. Laterstage clinical trials will utilize highl
rigorous statistical analyses. For example, thelt®sf our Phase 2a clinical trial for severe dlyesere based on a per protocol analysis of
patients who completed the 12-week dosing in thecell trial. Later-stage clinical trials will bevaluated based on an intent-to-treat analysis
that includes all patients randomized in the chhicial, regardless of whether they complete treatt, which may lead to different results. The
draft statistical analysis plan for our U.S. Phageal is still under review by the FDA. Moreovérwe fail to validate a caregiver-administered
PWS-specific hyperphagia-related behaviors questiva, or PWS-HQ, in time for it to be an effectteel to support the data from our
Phase 3 clinical trials, our Phase 3 clinical pamgrand, in turn, our regulatory filing may be deldyntil we validate the tool or develop and
test a new one. This can be a lengthy process.

Many companies in the pharmaceutical and biotecgyoindustries have suffered significant setbankater-stage clinical trials after
achieving positive results in early-stage developtnend we cannot be certain that
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we will not face similar setbacks. These setbaek®tbeen caused by, among other things, pre-diifiichings made while clinical trials were
underway or safety or efficacy observations maddiimcal trials, including previously unreportedwerse events. Moreover, pre-clinical and
clinical data are often susceptible to varyingiiptetations and analyses, and many companies ¢tiaved their product candidates performed
satisfactorily in pre-clinical studies and clini¢ebls nonetheless failed to obtain FDA approifaive fail to produce positive results in our
Phase 2b or Phase 3 clinical trials of beloratie,development timeline and regulatory approval@rmercialization prospects for our
leading product candidate, and, correspondingly bosiness and financial prospects, would be nalgadversely affected.

Failures or delays in the commencement or complatf our planned clinical trials of beloranib couldesult in increased costs to us and
could delay, prevent or limit our ability to gendearevenue and continue our business.

We initiated our Phase 3 clinical trial of belotaais a treatment for obesity and hyperphagia iepaEtwith PWS in the United States in
September 2014. We plan to initiate our secondéBdsal in the European Union in patients with 8Wd the middle of 2015. We also
initiated a Phase 2b clinical trial of beloranibaaseatment for severe obesity in the general jadipn in patients who also have type 2 diab
in December 2014. Despite the guidance received,femd to be received from, these regulatory aitibsy both the FDA and the European
regulatory authorities can change their positiamshe acceptability of our trial designs or thenidal endpoints selected, which may require us
to complete additional clinical trials or imposedter approval conditions than we currently exp&etccessful completion of such clinical tri
is a prerequisite to submitting an NDA to the FD#daconsequently, the ultimate approval and comialemtarketing of beloranib. We do not
know whether any of these Phase 2b or Phase 8allinials will begin or be completed on schediflat all, as the commencement and
completion of clinical trials can be delayed oryaeted for a number of reasons, including, amohgrst

» the FDA or European regulatory authorities mkace an ongoing clinical trial on hold or may dgr@ymission to pursue other
clinical trials we want to initiate

» delays in regulatory filing or receiving regulat@agprovals or additional investigational new drpglaations, or INDs, that may |
required;

* negative results from our ongoing pre-clinisiidies, or the FDA or European regulatory autlegritnay require additional pre-
clinical studies

» delays in reaching or failing to reach agreenoenacceptable terms with prospective CROs amikeli trial sites, the terms of
which can be subject to extensive negotiation aag wary significantly among different CROs andltsites;

» inadequate quantity or quality of a productdidate or other materials necessary to condudtalitrials, for example delays in the
manufacturing of sufficient supply of finished drpgduct;

» difficulties obtaining Institutional Review Boardt IRB, approval to conduct a clinical trial at@gpective site or site

» challenges in recruiting and enrolling patieltparticipate in clinical trials, including thizs and nature of the patient population,
the proximity of patients to trial sites, eligitylicriteria for the clinical trial, the nature dfe clinical trial protocol, the availability
approved effective treatments for the relevantatiseand competition from other clinical trial prages for similar indications

» severe or unexpected drigjated side effects experienced by patients iingal trial, including side effects previouslyedtified in
our completed clinical trials

» delays in validating the PWS-HQ or any othéf-smported measures of hunger and related endpaiilized in a clinical trial,
including delays caused as a result of the ne¢slate the PWS-HQ or other self-reported measoirbunger into European
languages other than Englis
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» the FDA or European regulatory authorities rdesagree with our clinical trial design and oueiptretation of data from clinical
trials, or may change the requirements for appreveh after it has reviewed and commented on thigiéor our clinical trials

» reports from pr-clinical or clinical testing of other weight lodserapies that raise safety or efficacy concernd

« difficulties retaining patients who have enedllin a clinical trial but may be prone to withdrdue to rigors of the clinical trials,
lack of efficacy, side effects, personal issuelss of interest

Clinical trials may also be delayed or terminatecaesult of ambiguous or negative interim resuitaddition, a clinical trial may be
suspended or terminated by us, the FDA, other aggryl authorities, the IRBs, at the sites wherd[&igs are overseeing a clinical trial, a data
and safety monitoring board, or DSMB, overseeirgdlnical trial at issue or other regulatory autties due to a number of factors, including,
among others:

» failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordangih regulatory requirements or our clinical prodts;

» inspection of the clinical trial operations or téites by the FDA or other regulatory authoritileat reveals deficiencies or violatic
that require us to undertake corrective actiorlpgiog the imposition of a clinical holi

» unforeseen safety issues, including any thaldcbe identified in our ongoing pre-clinical stedj adverse side effects or lack of
effectiveness

« changes in government regulations or administrast®ns;
e problems with clinical supply materials; a

» lack of adequate funding to continue the clinicall t

Changes in regulatory requirements, FDA guidance guidance from certain European regulatory authoiés or unanticipated events
during our clinical trials of beloranib may occunwhich may result in changes to clinical trial protmls or additional clinical trial
requirements, which could result in increased cositsus and could delay our development timeline.

Changes in regulatory requirements, FDA guidanagguatance from certain European regulatory auttesrior unanticipated events
during our clinical trials may force us to adjust alinical program or the FDA or certain Europeagulatory authorities may impose
additional clinical trial requirements. For instanthe FDA issued draft guidance on developing yetsifor weight management in February
2007, but this guidance may be revised in the fugare. In March 2012, the FD&’Endrocrinologic and Metabolic Drugs Advisory Coitiee
met to discuss possible changes to how the FDAuates the cardiovascular safety of weight-managedrens. Amendments to our clinical
trial protocols would require resubmission to thi@AFor certain European regulatory authorities aRB$ for review and approval, which may
adversely impact the cost, timing or successfulgletion of a clinical trial. If we experience detagompleting, or if we terminate, any of our
clinical trials, or if we are required to conduddéional clinical trials, the commercial prospeftis beloranib may be harmed and our ability to
generate product revenue will be delayed.

We rely, and expect that we will continue to rebn third parties to conduct any future clinical tals for beloranib. If these third parties do
not successfully carry out their contractual duties meet expected deadlines, we may not be abtdtain regulatory approval for or
commercialize beloranib and our business could béstantially harmed.

We enter into agreements with third-party CROsrtvjgle monitors for and to manage data for our émgyalinical trials. We rely
heavily on these parties for execution of clinicglls for beloranib and control only certain adpesf their activities. As a result, we have less
direct control over the conduct, timing and comiplebf these clinical trials and the managemerdai& developed through the clinical trials
than would be
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the case if we were relying entirely upon our owaifsCommunicating with outside parties can aleachallenging, potentially leading to
mistakes as well as difficulties in coordinatingities. Outside parties may:

» have staffing difficulties
» fail to comply with contractual obligation

e experience regulatory compliance isst

* undergo changes in priorities or become financidibgressed; ¢

» form relationships with other entities, some of gthinay be our competitor

These factors may materially adversely affect tiingness or ability of third parties to conduatrcclinical trials and may subject us to
unexpected cost increases that are beyond ourotoNgvertheless, we are responsible for ensutiageach of our trials is conducted in
accordance with the applicable protocol, legalutatpry and scientific standards, and our reliamt€&ROs does not relieve us of our
regulatory responsibilities. We and our CROs ageiired to comply with current Good Clinical Praeti¢ or cGCPs, which are regulations and
guidelines enforced by the FDA, the Competent Arities of the Member States of the European Econdmnea and comparable foreign
regulatory authorities for any products in clinidevelopment. The FDA enforces these cGCP regukatirough periodic inspections of
clinical trial sponsors, principal investigatorgdanal sites. If we or our CROs fail to comply tviapplicable cGCPs, the clinical data generate
in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable &melFDA or comparable foreign regulatory authesitmay require us to perform additional
clinical trials before approving our marketing dpgtions. We cannot assure you that, upon inspedifie FDA will determine that any of our
clinical trials comply with cGCPs. In addition, otlimical trials must be conducted with productgwoed under current Good Manufacturing
Practices, or cGMPs, regulations and will requitarge number of test subjects. Our failure orfttieire of our CROs to comply with these
regulations may require us to repeat clinical $risthich would delay the regulatory approval precasd could also subject us to enforcement
action up to and including civil and criminal petes.

Although we do design our clinical trials for bedaib, CROs conduct all of the clinical trials. Asesult, many important aspects of our
drug development programs are outside of our daextrol. In addition, the CROs may not performddltheir obligations under arrangements
with us or in compliance with regulatory requirensiut we remain responsible and are subjectfir@ement action that may include civil
penalties up to and including criminal prosecufi@nany violations of FDA laws and regulations agrithe conduct of our clinical trials. If the
CROs do not perform clinical trials in a satisfagtmanner, breach their obligations to us or faicomply with regulatory requirements, the
development and commercialization of beloranib maylelayed or our development program materialtyiereversibly harmed. We cannot
control the amount and timing of resources thes®&€&evote to our program or beloranib. If we arahleto rely on clinical data collected by
our CROs, we could be required to repeat, exteaditiation of, or increase the size of our clintdals and this could significantly delay
commercialization and require significantly grea®penditures.

If any of our relationships with these third-pa@ROs terminate, we may not be able to enter inngements with alternative CROs. If
CROs do not successfully carry out their contrdaduéies or obligations or meet expected deadliii¢bey need to be replaced or if the que
or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is poomised due to the failure to adhere to our dihprotocols, regulatory requirements or for
other reasons, any such clinical trials may berelad, delayed or terminated, and we may not betaldbtain regulatory approval for or
successfully commercialize beloranib. As a result, financial results and the commercial prospg&stdeloranib in the subject indication
would be harmed, our costs could increase andlalityao generate revenue could be delayed.
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The number of patients suffering from each of PW8&HIAO is small and has not been established wttecision. If the actual number of
patients with either of these conditions is smaltbian we estimate or if any approval that we obtagnbased on a narrower definition
these patient populations, our revenue and abilityachieve profitability will be adversely affectgabssibly materially.

There is no current comprehensive patient regatigther method of establishing with precision dlctual number of patients with PWS
or HIAO in any geography. Published population &aastimate that the prevalence of PWS in theddrftates and in the European Union
ranges from 1 in 8,000 to 1 in 50,000. Publishepiyetion studies estimate that the incidence dafiogharyngioma, the leading cause of
HIAO, is 0.13 to 0.17 per 100,000 per year, or agjpnately 400 to 500 cases per year in the UnitateS and 650 to 850 cases per year in th
European Union. The total addressable market oppitytfor beloranib for the treatment of patientishwaPWS or HIAO will ultimately depend
upon, among other things, the diagnosis criteigdunted in the final label for beloranib, if approvi®r sale for these indications, acceptance b
the medical community and patient access, prodiing and reimbursement. If the actual numberaifgmts with PWS or HIAO is lower th
we believe or if any approval that we obtain isdzhen a narrower definition of these patient popartes, then the potential markets for
beloranib for these indications will be smallerrttvee anticipate.

In addition, we plan to seek approval of beloranibally for the treatment of adolescent (12 yeafsge and older) and adult patients
with PWS and adolescent and adult patients with®iI¥e believe that approximately 40-50% of patienith PWS are 12 years of age or
older. We are currently engaged in early discusswith the FDA and EMA regarding plans for devel@minof beloranib for the treatment of
pediatric patients under the age of 12. To supgaptoval for pediatric patients (younger than 1&rgef age) we will need to conduct pedie
clinical trials of beloranib for the treatment bete patients with PWS, but we do not yet havesplagarding when these trials will commence
As a result, any FDA approval would likely, at lesmstially, be limited to use for treating adolest and adult patients with PWS or adolescen
and adult patients with HIAO. This would limit otmitial product revenue and may make it more diffidor us to achieve or maintain
profitability.

We rely completely on third-party suppliers to m&aature our clinical drug supplies for beloranib,ral we intend to rely on third parties to
produce commercial supplies of beloranib and -clinical, clinical and commercial supplies of arfyture product candidate.

We do not currently have, nor do we currently glaacquire, the infrastructure or capability teeimally manufacture our clinical drug
supply of beloranib, or any future product candédafor use in the conduct of our mieical studies and clinical trials, and we lable interna
resources and the capability to manufacture angymocandidates on a clinical or commercial scHie facilities used by our contract
manufacturers, or CMOs, to manufacture the actiug dubstance, sterile drug substance and fingl piroduct must be approved by the FDA
and other comparable foreign regulatory agenciesuaut to inspections that would be conducted afeesubmit our NDA or relevant foreign
regulatory submission to the applicable regulatmgncy.

We do not control the manufacturing process of, amedcompletely dependent on, our CMOs to comptit @GMPs for manufacture of
active drug substance, sterile drug substanceiaistiéd drug products. If our CMOs cannot succdigsfiobanufacture material that conforms
our specifications and the regulatory requiremehtie FDA or applicable foreign regulatory agescihie CMOs will not be able to secure
and/or maintain regulatory approval for their mamtidiring facilities. While we manage our qualityexgtations through a regular audit
program for our vendors and suppliers, we haveirgzidcontrol over our CMOSs’ ability to maintainegliate quality control, quality assurance
and qualified personnel. Furthermore, our CMOseaigaged with third party vendors to supply and/anufacture starting materials or
components for them, which exposes our CMOs tolagany risks for the production of such materiatsl@omponents. As a result, failure to
satisfy the regulatory requirements for the proiuncof those materials and components may affectagulatory clearance of our CMOs’
facilities generally. If the FDA or an applicablaréign regulatory agency does not approve thesiitscfor the manufacture of our product
candidates or if it withdraws its approval in thituire, we may need to find alternative manufactufacilities, which would adversely impact
our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approfal or market our product candidates.
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We control our clinical trial supply chain by petioally meeting to assess clinical trial materieéds and status of supply. Clinical trial
materials are forecasted on a six month rollingsbiadking into account enrollment rates, numbesitagfs, component inventory and clinical kit
shelflife. The clinical supply forecast is maintainedeimally and used to aid in decision making for d&Manufacturing as well as clinical
packaging and labeling. In addition, the CRO we lepnmaintains an inventory of all clinical kits thare allocated for a clinical trial as well as
all components needed for the clinical kits. Owrssrfunctional internal working group discusse®irtery on a regular basis. Distribution of
kits to clinical sites is controlled via a validdtsystem thus helping to manage inventory at th® GResupply of finished drug product is in
progress at our drug product CMO. The manufactupitagess is under active development and is notajletated. Any delays encountered
with manufacturing activities, CMO scheduling owrmaterial supply could delay the manufacturindimiEhed drug product.

We do not have long-term supply agreements in phatteour CMOs, and each batch of beloranib isvidially contracted under a
quality and supply agreement. CMOs are currenthpsuting clinical activities, however CMOs that Witanufacture commercial cGMP
batches for beloranib will need to be approvednegyRDA and other applicable foreign regulatory aigs prior to commercialization. We p
to continue to rely upon CMOs and, potentially l@obration partners to manufacture commercial gtiesof beloranib, if approved. Our
current scale of manufacturing is adequate to stghloof our needs for clinical trial supplies alaginch for orphan markets. For peak usage i
orphan markets and for indications with larger gapaons of affected patients, we will need to idBn€MOs or partners to produce beloranib
on a larger scale.

If we are unable to establish sales and marketirgpabilities or enter into agreements with third gees to market and sell beloranib, we
not be able to generate any revenue.

We do not currently have an infrastructure forshkes, marketing and distribution of pharmaceufpcatiucts. In order to market
beloranib, if approved by the FDA or any other flatpry body, we must build our sales, marketingnaggerial and other non-technical
capabilities or make arrangements with third partteperform these services. If we are unabletabéish adequate sales, marketing and
distribution capabilities, whether independentlynath third parties, or if we are unable to do sooommercially reasonable terms, our
business, results of operations, financial conditiad prospects will be materially adversely affdct

Even if we receive marketing approval for beloranitbthe United States, we may never receive reguiatapproval to market belorani
outside of the United States.

We intend to pursue marketing approval of beloramithe European Union and in other countries weidie. In order to market any
product outside of the United States, we must &steand comply with the numerous and varying safefficacy and other regulatory
requirements of other countries, including potéréditional clinical trials or pre-clinical studieApproval procedures vary among countries
and can involve additional product candidate tgstind additional administrative review periods. Tihee required to obtain approvals in other
countries might differ from that required to obt&BA approval. The marketing approval processesther countries may implicate all of the
risks detailed above regarding FDA approval inlimted States as well as other risks. In particufamany countries outside of the United
States, products must receive pricing and reimipuese approval before the product can be commezeidliObtaining this approval can result
in substantial delays in bringing products to mamesuch countries. Marketing approval in one doudoes not ensure marketing approval in
another, but a failure or delay in obtaining mairigepproval in one country may have a negativecefn the regulatory process or
commercial activities in others. Failure to obtaiarketing approval in other countries or any delagther setback in obtaining such approval
would impair our ability to market beloranib in $uforeign markets. Any such impairment would redieesize of our potential market, whi
could have a material adverse impact on our busjmesults of operations and prospects.
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Even if we receive marketing approval for beloranibmay not achieve broad market acceptance, whiatuld limit the revenue that w
generate from its sale:

The commercial success of beloranib, if approvethy=DA or EMA or other applicable regulatory aarities, will depend upon the
awareness and acceptance of beloranib among theahedmmunity, including physicians, patients dmglthcare payors. Market acceptance
of beloranib, if approved, will depend on a numbkfactors, including, among others:

» beloranib’s demonstrated ability to treat obeand hyperphagia in patients with PWS, HIAO, evere obesity in the general
population and, if required by any applicable re¢pdy authority in connection with the approval fioese indications, to provide
patients with incremental health benefits, as cargbavith other available weight loss therapies,icks/or surgeries

« the relative convenience and ease of subcutesnegections as the necessary method of admiti@traf beloranib, including as
compared with other treatments for severely obasiens;

» the prevalence and severity of any adverseedigets associated with beloranib, such as nawsaaiting, headaches and difficulty
sleeping or falling asleg|

» limitations or warnings contained in the labelimgpeoved for beloranib by the FDA, EMA, or other uégory authorities

» availability of alternative treatments, inclndia number of competitive obesity therapies alregubroved or expected to be
commercially launched in the near futu

» the willingness of the target patient populatiortryonew therapies and of physicians to preschiese therapie:
» the strength of marketing and distribution suppord timing of market introduction of competitiveoducts;

e publicity concerning our products or competing prcts and treatment

e pricing and cost effectivenes

» the effectiveness of our sales and marketing sfiedte

» our ability to increase awareness of beloranibughomarketing efforts

e our ability to obtain sufficient thi-party coverage or reimbursement; ¢

» the willingness of patients to pay -of-pocket in the absence of th-party coverage

If beloranib is approved but does not achieve auadte level of acceptance by patients, physi@adsayors, we may not generate
sufficient revenue from beloranib to become or rienpaofitable. Before granting reimbursement appipkiealthcare payors may require us to
demonstrate that, in addition to treating hyperjdagd obesity in patients, beloranib also provideeemental health benefits to patients. Our
efforts to educate the medical community and tpiady payors about the benefits of beloranib mayire significant resources and may neve
be successful.

Our product candidates may cause undesirable sitleats that could delay or prevent their regulatoapproval, limit the commercial profils
of an approved label, or result in significant netige consequences following marketing approvalaify.

Undesirable side effects caused by our productidates could cause us or regulatory authoritiestesrupt, delay or halt clinical trials
and could result in a more restrictive label ordie&ay or denial of regulatory approval by the FBrAother regulatory authorities. In our
recently completed Phase 2 clinical trials of behilb, the main adverse events, or AEs, includingeheading to premature treatment
discontinuation, in patients dosed with belorahide been sleep disturbances, principally manidestedelayed onset of sleep, as well as
nausea and vomiting.
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The safety data we have disclosed to date repseseninterpretation of the data at the time otldisure and it is subject to our further
review and analysis. There have been no seriousrselevents, or SAEs, attributed to beloranib incompleted clinical trials. However, SA
that are not characterized by clinical investigatas possibly related to beloranib or SAEs thatioaztsmall numbers may not be disclosed to
the public until such time the various documentsnsitted to the FDA as part of the approval pro@ssmade public. We are unable to
determine if the subsequent disclosure of SAEshagille an adverse effect on our stock price. Intewidiour interpretation of the safety data
from our clinical trials is contingent upon the imwv and ultimate approval of the FDA or other regaty authorities. The FDA or other
regulatory authorities may not agree with our mdshof analysis or our interpretation of the results

Further, if beloranib receives marketing approval e or others identify undesirable side effeetssed by the product (or any other
similar product) after the approval, a number aeptially significant negative consequences coa#liit, including:

» regulatory authorities may withdraw or limit thejpproval of the produc
» regulatory authorities may require the additiomatieling statements, such a“boxec” warning or a contraindicatiol

e we may be required to change the way the prtadudistributed or administered, conduct additiataical trials or change the
labeling of the produc

» we may decide to remove the products from the ntpldee;
* we could be sued and held liable for injury causeitidividuals exposed to or taking our productdidates; ant

* our reputation may suffe

Any of these events could prevent us from achiewinghaintaining market acceptance of the affectedyct candidate and could
substantially increase the costs of commercialibngproduct candidates and significantly impaataility to successfully commercialize our
product candidates and generate revenues.

Even if we receive marketing approval for beloranilve may still face future development and reguiatdlifficulties.

Even if we receive marketing approval for beloramédgulatory authorities may still impose signifitaestrictions on beloranib’s
indicated uses or marketing or impose ongoing requénts for potentially costly post-approval stedigeloranib will also be subject to
ongoing FDA and EMA requirements governing the lalge packaging, storage and promotion of the pobdind recordkeeping and
submission of safety and other post-market infoiomafThe FDA has significant post-market authorityluding, for example, the authority to
require labeling changes based on new safety irgftiom and to require post-market studies or clinidals to evaluate serious safety risks
related to the use of a drug. The FDA also hasititlority to require, as part of an NDA or postiappl, the submission of a REMS. Any
REMS required by the FDA may lead to increasedscimstssure compliance with new post-approval e¢go} requirements and potential
requirements or restrictions on the sale of apptqureducts, all of which could lead to lower salekime and revenue.

Manufacturers of drug products and their facilites subject to continual review and periodic inspas by the FDA and other
regulatory authorities for compliance with cGMPsl ather regulations. If we or a regulatory agenisgaver problems with beloranib, such as
adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequenr problems with the facility where belorangonhanufactured, a regulatory agency may
impose restrictions on beloranib, the manufactarers, including requiring withdrawal of belorariibm the market or suspension of
manufacturing. If we or the manufacturing faciti®r beloranib fail to comply with applicable régtory requirements, a regulatory agency
may, among other things:

» issue warning letters or untitled lette

« seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal pkies or monetary fines
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» suspend or withdraw marketing appro\

» suspend any ongoing clinical tria

» refuse to approve pending applications or suppléstenapplications submitted by t

» suspend or impose restrictions on operations, degucostly new manufacturing requirements

» seize or detain products, refuse to permit the inmoexport of products, or request that we itdtia product recal

Competing technologies could emerge, including dea and surgical procedures, adversely affecting opportunity to generate revenue
from the sale of beloranik

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industriesraemsely competitive and subject to rapid andificant technological change. We
have competitors in a number of jurisdictions, mahwhich have substantially greater name recogmjttommercial infrastructures and
financial, technical and personnel resources thaimawe. Established competitors may invest heawityuickly discover and develop novel
compounds that could make beloranib obsolete ocamamical. Any new product that competes with aporaped product may need to
demonstrate compelling advantages in efficacy, eni@nce, tolerability and safety to be commerciaillgcessful. Other competitive factors,
including generic competition, could force us tevdw prices or could result in reduced sales. Iritemfd new products developed by others
could emerge as competitors to beloranib. If wenateable to compete effectively against our cureemd future competitors, our business will
not grow and our financial condition and operatiwil$ suffer.

There are no current pharmacological treatmenteefgulating hunger and hyperphagia-related behawbpatients with PWS or patients
with HIAO, and bariatric surgery is contraindicaiacpatients with PWS and is not frequently emptbyepatients with HIAO. We are aware
of a clinical trial that was recently completedfsrring Pharmaceuticals, Inc. to evaluate the @isarbetocin, an analogue of a brain peptide
hormone oxytocin hypothesized to increase trusijece anxiety and improve behavior in patients WiS. We also are aware of a clinical
trial being conducted by Essentialis, Inc. to eatduhe safety and tolerability of controlled-releaiazoxide in patients with PWS and to
explore the effects of diazoxide on hyperphagiated behaviors and energy expenditure. We aaeeanf an exploratory trial being planned
in its early phase of execution, by Rhythm Pharmaticals, Inc. to evaluate the effect of treatmeithvRM-493, a melanocortin receptor
agonist, in patients with PWS. In addition, anyaf competitors may develop a drug to treat patienith PWS at any time. We are not aware
of any clinical trials of drugs specifically targed patients with HIAO.

Other potential competitors in the severe obesayket include bariatric service providers, and pff@ential approaches which utilize
various implantable devices or surgical tools tiemte been approved by the FDA, such as EnteroMéulic's recently FDAapproved (Janua
2015) VBlock Therapy, or that are in developmentbgnpanies such as Allergan, Inc., Boston Scien@ifirporation, Covidien Ltd.,

Gl Dynamics, Inc., Johnson & Johnson and Medtrdnic, In addition, beloranib will compete with atat, phentermine/topiramate and
lorcaserin, approved and currently marketed phaentizal products in the United States for the treatdt of obesity, and several older agents,
indicated for short-term administration, includipigentermine, phendimetrazine, benzphetamine atlaytfieopion. Orlistat is marketed in the
United States by the Roche Group under the brantenéenical and over-the-counter in the United Statehalf the prescribed dose by
GlaxoSmithKline under the brand name alli. In J&6&3, Arena Pharmaceuticals, Inc. launched itsb®dn product, which is marketed in the
United States under the name Belvig and in Septe@f?, Vivus, Inc. commercially launched its condtion product,
phentermine/topiramate, under the trade name Qsym@ctober 2014 Takeda Pharmaceuticals U.S.A&.,dnd Orexigen Therapeutics, Inc.
launched Contrave (naltrexone HCI and bupropion)l#&tended-release tablets for chronic weight mamamt in obese adults and in
December 2014 the FDA approved Novo Nordisk A/Sizehda for weight management in obese and overtveaitents in the presence of at
least one related co-morbid condition. Neurose&v&his also pursuing pharmaceutical treatmentebasity.
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Our future growth depends, in part, on our abilitp penetrate foreign markets, where we would bejsuabto additional regulatory burdens
and other risks and uncertainties.

Our future profitability will depend, in part, oruoability to commercialize beloranib in foreign rkets for which we may rely on
collaborations with third parties. If we commerdalbeloranib in foreign markets, we would be sabje additional risks and uncertainties,
including:

e our customer ability to obtain reimbursement for beloranib imdign markets

» our inability to directly control commercial actiis because we are relying on third part

» the burden of complying with complex and changiogeifgn regulatory, tax, accounting and legal rezpaients
» different medical practices and customs in fora@igantries affecting acceptance in the marketpl

e import or export licensing requiremen

» longer accounts receivable collection tim

* longer lead times for shippin

» language barriers for technical trainit

» reduced protection of intellectual property rigimtsome foreign countrie:

» foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;

* the interpretation of contractual provisions gowsliby foreign laws in the event of a contract disy

Foreign sales of beloranib could also be advera#cted by the imposition of governmental contrplalitical and economic instability,
trade restrictions and changes in tariffs.

We are subject to healthcare laws and regulatiom$iich could expose us to criminal sanctions, cigiénalties, contractual damages,
reputational harm and diminished profits and futurearnings.

Healthcare providers, physicians and others waly/@ primary role in the recommendation and prpton of beloranib, if approved. Our
future arrangements with third-party payors wilpege us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse dret bealthcare laws and regulations that
may constrain the business or financial arrangesreemd relationships through which we market, sl distribute beloranib, if we obtain
marketing approval. Restrictions under applicabiefal and state healthcare laws and regulati@hsdia the following:

» The federal healthcare anti-kickback statuténjtnits, among other things, persons from knowiragig willfully soliciting, offering,
receiving or providing remuneration, directly odirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or rewaither the referral of an individual
for, or the purchase, order or recommendationmf,giod or service, for which payment may be mauteufederal healthcare
programs such as Medicare and Medic

* The federal False Claims Act imposes crimimal aivil penalties, including those from civil whablower or qui tam actions,
against individuals or entities for knowingly prasag, or causing to be presented, to the federadgqment, claims for payment
that are false or fraudulent or making a falseest@nt to avoid, decrease, or conceal an obligédiggay money to the federal
government

e The federal Health Insurance Portability angdduntability Act of 1996, as amended by the Heldfbrmation Technology for
Economic and Clinical Health Act, imposes crimiaad civil liability for executing a scheme to defdaany healthcare benefit
program and also imposes obligations, including ¢asory contractual terms, with respect to safeguagrthe privacy, security and
transmission of individually identifiable healtHfénmation.
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* The federal false statements statute prohioitsvingly and willfully falsifying, concealing orawvering up a material fact or making
any materially false statement in connection wlih delivery of or payment for healthcare benettiésns or services

» The federal transparency requirements, somstieferred to as the “Sunshine Act,” under thedpatProtection and Affordable
Care Act, require manufacturers of drugs, devibEdpgics and medical supplies to report to the @tpent of Health and Human
Services information related to physician paymaemis other transfers of value and physician ownprahd investment interes

* Analogous state laws and regulations, suctietis anti-kickback and false claims laws and transpcy laws, may apply to sales or
marketing arrangements and claims involving healthdems or services reimbursed by non-governrh#ritd-party payors,
including private insurers, and some state lawsiregpharmaceutical companies to comply with tharptaceutical industry’s
voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevamgitance guidance promulgated by the federal gawent in addition to
requiring drug manufacturers to report informatietated to payments to physicians and other hemithgroviders or marketing
expenditures and drug pricir

Ensuring that our future business arrangementsthitti parties comply with applicable healthcanedaand regulations could be costh
is possible that governmental authorities will dode that our business practices do not comply waitinent or future statutes, regulations or
case law involving applicable fraud and abuse beohealthcare laws and regulations. If our openatiincluding anticipated activities to be
conducted by our sales team, were found to bedlatibn of any of these laws or any other governtalenegulations that may apply to us, we
may be subject to significant civil, criminal andnainistrative penalties, damages, fines and examtubom government funded healthcare
programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, any oflvbould substantially disrupt our operations ny af the physicians or other providers or
entities with whom we expect to do business is fboot to be in compliance with applicable lawsytheay be subject to criminal, civil or
administrative sanctions, including exclusions frgovernment funded healthcare programs.

The FDA and other regulatory agencies actively erde the laws and regulations prohibiting the proniot of off-label uses. If we are four
to have improperly promoted off-label uses, we n@gome subject to significant liability.

The FDA and other regulatory agencies strictly taguthe promotional claims that may be made aprescription products, such as
beloranib, if approved. In particular, a productymat be promoted for uses that are not approvettidy¥DA or such other regulatory agencie:
as reflected in the product’s approved labelingvdfreceive marketing approval for beloranib agatment for obesity and hyperphagia in
patients with PWS or patients with HIAO physicianay nevertheless prescribe beloranib to their ptim a manner that is inconsistent with
the approved label. If we are found to have proohstech offlabel uses, we may become subject to significabillty. The federal governme
has levied large civil and criminal fines againstipanies for alleged improper promotion and hasieejl several companies from engagin
off-label promotion. The FDA has also requested tloanpanies enter into consent decrees or permarenttions under which specified
promotional conduct is changed or curtailed. Ifa@anot successfully manage the promotion of beibyérapproved, we could become
subject to significant liability, which would mataity adversely affect our business and financtaldition.

Even if approved, reimbursement policies could ltrour ability to sell beloranib

Market acceptance and sales of beloranib will ddmemreimbursement policies and may be affectelddajthcare reform measures.
Government authorities and third-party payors, agprivate health insurers and health maintenargamizations, decide which medications
they will pay for and establish reimbursement Ievfel those medications. Cost containment is agmynaoncern in the U.S. healthcare indu
and elsewhere. Government authorities and thesk ity payors have attempted to control costbnbiying coverage and the amount of
reimbursement for particular medications. We catm@osure that reimbursement will be available for
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beloranib and, if reimbursement is available, thesl of such reimbursement. Reimbursement may itrthacdemand for, or the price of,
beloranib. If reimbursement is not available cavailable only at limited levels, we may not beeatal successfully commercialize beloranib.

In some foreign countries, particularly in Canadd European countries, the pricing of prescrippbarmaceuticals is subject to strict
governmental control. In these countries, priciegatiations with governmental authorities can tsikeo 12 months or longer after the receipt
of regulatory approval and product launch. To abfaivorable reimbursement for the indications sowglpricing approval in some countries,
we may be required to conduct a clinical trial tbatpares the cost-effectiveness of beloranib woiitler available therapies. If reimbursement
for beloranib is unavailable in any country in whige seek reimbursement, if it is limited in scgp@mount, if it is conditioned upon our
completion of additional clinical trials, or if ming is set at unsatisfactory levels, our operatesylts could be materially adversely affected.

Even though we have received orphan drug designatior PWS, we may not receive orphan drug exclugivior beloranib.

As part of our business strategy, we have obtaimpldan drug designation in the United States aadtiropean Union for beloranib for
the treatment of patients with PWS. In the Unit¢at&s, the company that first obtains FDA appréeabh designated orphan drug for the
specified rare disease or condition receives orpliag marketing exclusivity for that drug for a jeer of seven years. This orphan drug
exclusivity prevents the FDA from approving anothpplication, including a full NDA to market thensa drug for the same orphan indication,
except in very limited circumstances, including whiee FDA concludes that the later drug is safemeneffective or makes a major
contribution to patient care. For purposes of smallecule drugs, the FDA defines “same drug” asug that contains the same active
chemical entity and is intended for the same ugbeadrug in question. To obtain orphan drug exeltysfor a drug that shares the same active
chemical entity as an already orphan designategl drmust be demonstrated to the FDA that the dswgfer or more effective than the
approved orphan designated drug, or that it makeajar contribution to patient care. In additiordesignated orphan drug may not receive
orphan drug exclusivity if it is approved for a ubat is broader than the indication for whicheiteived orphan designation. In addition, orp
drug exclusive marketing rights in the United Stateay be lost if the FDA later determines thatrdmest for designation was materially
defective or if the manufacturer is unable to asswfficient quantity of the drug to meet the neefdsatients with the rare disease or condition
or if another drug with the same active moietyasedmined to be safer, more effective, or reprassamhajor contribution to patient care.

In the European Union, orphan drug designation aigitles a party to financial incentives sucheduction of fees or fee waivers. In
addition, ten years of market exclusivity is grahtellowing drug product approval, meaning thattaeo application for marketing
authorization of a later similar medicinal prodfmtthe same therapeutic indication will generalbt be approved in the European Union. Thi:
period may be reduced to six years if the orphaig designation criteria are no longer met, inclgdirhere it is shown that the product is
sufficiently profitable to not justify maintenanoémarket exclusivity.

Our product development programs for candidatesatlthan beloranib may require substantial financiaésources and may ultimately be
unsuccessful.

In addition to the development of beloranib, we maysue development of our other early-stage dewedémt programs. None of our
other potential product candidates has commencedlanical trials, and there are a number of FDAl aertain European regulatory
requirements that we must satisfy before we cameence clinical trials. Satisfaction of these reguients will entail substantial time, effort
and financial resources. We may never satisfy theggirements. Any time, effort and financial resms we expend on our other early-stage
development programs may adversely affect ourtghdi continue development and commercializatiobelbranib, and we may never
commence clinical trials of such development progra
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despite expending significant resources in puiduiteir development. If we do commence clinic&lls of our other potential product
candidates, such product candidates may nevergre\agdl by the FDA or other regulatory authorities.

Risks Relating to Our Intellectual Property Rights

If we are unable to adequately protect our propeaey technology or maintain issued patents which amefficient to protect beloranib, othel
could compete against us more directly, which woblave a material adverse impact on our businessutes of operations, financial
condition and prospects.

Our commercial success will depend in part on ogcess in obtaining and maintaining issued patemdsother intellectual property
rights in the United States and elsewhere and ginteour proprietary technology. If we do not adatgly protect our intellectual property and
proprietary technology, competitors may be ables® our technologies and erode or negate any ciaiv@eaidvantage we may have, which
could harm our business and ability to achieveitaoiity.

Our owned and licensed patents and patent applicsatelate to beloranib compositions of mattemnigations, polymorphs, methods of
treating obesity using dosing regimens of beloraaitl methods of treating hypothalamic obesity. iEkaed U.S. and European patents
generally directed to beloranib compositions ofteradre exclusively licensed and will each expir@019. We own two issued U.S. patents
relating to beloranib polymorph compositions of teathat will expire in 2031 and two issued U.Sepés to methods of treating obesity that
will expire in 2029. We own pending patent applicas in Europe to beloranib polymorph compositibmatter and methods of treating
obesity that we expect to expire, once issuedQBi2

As of March 17, 2015, we owned five issued U.Sept, six pending U.S. patent applications anddareounterpart applications, and
one Patent Cooperation Treaty, or PCT, applicatiahwill allow us to seek corresponding protectieoridwide, all of which relate to
beloranib. We have a license to two U.S. issuedntat one with corresponding issued foreign coparépatents, that also relate to beloranib.
We also co-own one patent application relating &hods of using beloranib.

As of March 17, 2015, we owned nine pending U.$emaapplications with pending foreign countergplications and three PCT
patent applications, all of which relate to ouemial efforts to discover novel MetAP2 inhibito@. these, one pending U.S. patent applicatior
with pending foreign counterpart patent applicadsiand one PCT patent application relate to ouy-etalge product candidate ZGN-839.

As of March 17, 2015, we owned one issued U.S.npateo pending U.S. patent applications with pagdoreign counterpart patent
applications, one pending PCT patent applicatiahtawo U.S. provisional patent applications thahtelto our second-generation injectable
MetAP2 inhibitor program.

We cannot provide any assurances that any of dentshave, or that any of our pending patent apfiins that mature into issued
patents will include, claims with a scope suffidgiemprotect beloranib or our other product cantlidaOther parties have developed
technologies that may be related or competitiveuioapproach, and may have filed or may file paggmtications and may have received or
may receive patents that may overlap or conflithwiur patent applications, either by claiming shene methods or formulations or by
claiming subject matter that could dominate oueptposition. The patent positions of biotechnolagy pharmaceutical companies, including
our patent position, involve complex legal and datjuestions, and, therefore, the issuance, svafidity and enforceability of any patent
claims that we may obtain cannot be predicted weétfiainty. Patents, if issued, may be challengednted unenforceable, invalidated, or
circumvented. U.S. patents and patent applicatioag also be subject to interference proceediegpartereexamination, ointer partes
review proceedings, supplemental examination aadlerfges in district court.
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Patents may be subjected to opposition, post-gesew, or comparable proceedings lodged in varfousign, both national and regional,
patent offices. These proceedings could resulitieeloss of the patent or denial of the patemliaption or loss or reduction in the scope of
one or more of the claims of the patent or patpptieation. In addition, such proceedings may b&tlgoThus, any patents that we may own ol
exclusively license may not provide any protectgrinst competitors. Furthermore, an adverse aecisian interference proceeding can
result in a third party receiving the patent rightight by us, which in turn could affect our abitid develop, market or otherwise
commercialize beloranib.

Furthermore, though an issued patent is presunm@tiared enforceable, its issuance is not conclua&/éo its validity or its enforceability
and it may not provide us with adequate propriepantection or competitive advantages against cditope with similar products. Competitc
may also be able to design around our patentsr@#rées may develop and obtain patent protedbomore effective technologies, design
methods. We may not be able to prevent the unamt#itbdisclosure or use of our technical knowledgeare secrets by consultants, vendors,
former employees and current employees. The lawsmi foreign countries do not protect our proprietights to the same extent as the law
of the United States, and we may encounter sigmifiproblems in protecting our proprietary righitshese countries. If these developments
were to occur, they could have a material adveffseteon our sales.

Our ability to enforce our patent rights depend®onability to detect infringement. It is diffiduio detect infringers who do not advertise
the components that are used in their productseblar, it may be difficult or impossible to obt@widence of infringement in a competitor’s
or potential competitor’s product. Any litigation &nforce or defend our patent rights, even if veeento prevail, could be costly and time-
consuming and would divert the attention of our aggment and key personnel from our business opagatiVe may not prevail in any
lawsuits that we initiate and the damages or attveedies awarded if we were to prevail may notdraroercially meaningful.

In addition, proceedings to enforce or defend @iepts could put our patents at risk of being iickz&d, held unenforceable, or
interpreted narrowly. Such proceedings could aleeqke third parties to assert claims againstn@uding that some or all of the claims in
one or more of our patents are invalid or otherwisenforceable. If any of our patents covering taglih are invalidated or found
unenforceable, our financial position and resultsperations would be materially and adversely ioted. In addition, if a court found that
valid, enforceable patents held by third partiegeced beloranib, our financial position and resafteperations would also be materially and
adversely impacted.

The degree of future protection for our proprietagits is uncertain, and we cannot ensure that:

« any of our patents, or any of our pending padgplications, if issued, will include claims hagia scope sufficient to protect
beloranib or any other products or product caneis};

« any of our pending patent applications will issegatents

« we will be able to successfully commercialize batob, if approved, before our relevant patentsrex
* we were the first to make the inventions covere@dgh of our patents and pending patent applicsi
» we were the first to file patent applications foese inventions

» others will not develop similar or alternative taologies that do not infringe our pater

« any of our patents will be found to ultimately kadigt and enforceablt

e any patents issued to us will provide a basisah exclusive market for our commercially viapteducts, will provide us with any
competitive advantages or will not be challengedHind parties
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» we will develop additional proprietary technolog@sproduct candidates that are separately patientat

» that our commercial activities or products will mofringe upon the patents of othe

We rely upon unpatented trade secrets, unpatemni@a-kow and continuing technological innovatiord&velop and maintain our
competitive position, which we seek to protectpamt, by confidentiality agreements with our emgley and our collaborators and consultants
We also have agreements with our employees andtsdleonsultants that obligate them to assign theentions to us and have non-compete
agreements with some, but not all, of our constatdhis possible that technology relevant to lousiness will be independently developed
person that is not a party to such an agreemerthémmore, if the employees and consultants wheartes to these agreements breach or
violate the terms of these agreements, we mayaa hdequate remedies for any such breach oriviojand we could lose our trade secrets
through such breaches or violations. Further, ade secrets could otherwise become known or tepamtiently discovered by our
competitors.

We may infringe the intellectual property rights ofthers, which may prevent or delay our product depment efforts and stop us from
commercializing or increase the costs of commerizislg beloranib, if approved.

Our success will depend in part on our ability pei@te without infringing the intellectual propegyd proprietary rights of third parties.
We cannot assure you that our business, produdtmathods do not or will not infringe the patent®ther intellectual property rights of third
parties.

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgresite litigation regarding patents and other ietélial property rights. Other parties
may allege that beloranib or the use of our teabgiek infringes patent claims or other intellecturalperty rights held by them or that we are
employing their proprietary technology without aatilzation. Patent and other types of intellectuaberty litigation can involve complex
factual and legal questions, and their outcomec®rtain. Any claim relating to intellectual propeinfringement that is successfully asserted
against us may require us to pay substantial dasnawsuding treble damages and attorney’s feegifire found to be willfully infringing
another party’s patents, for past use of the a$émtellectual property and royalties and othersideration going forward if we are forced to
take a license. In addition, if any such claim wawecessfully asserted against us and we couldbtain such a license, we may be forced to
stop or delay developing, manufacturing, sellingthrerwise commercializing beloranib.

Even if we are successful in these proceedingsnaseincur substantial costs and divert managenimaetand attention in pursuing these
proceedings, which could have a material advefeetedn us. If we are unable to avoid infringing fatent rights of others, we may be
required to seek a license, defend an infringeraetibn or challenge the validity of the patentsaurt, or redesign our products. Patent
litigation is costly and time consuming. We may have sufficient resources to bring these actiorssguccessful conclusion. In addition,
intellectual property litigation or claims couldrée us to do one or more of the following:

» cease developing, selling or otherwise commerdnaibeloranib
e pay substantial damages for past use of the adsetédlectual property

« obtain a license from the holder of the asserttadl@ttual property, which license may not be ag# on reasonable terms, if at
and

» in the case of trademark claims, redesignepame, beloranib to avoid infringing the intelledtproperty rights of third parties,
which may not be possible and, even if possiblalctcbe costly and tin-consuming

Any of these risks coming to fruition could haveaterial adverse effect on our business, resultgpefations, financial condition and
prospects.
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We may be subject to claims challenging the investop or ownership of our patents and other intetieial property.

We may also be subject to claims that former eng#sy collaborators or other third parties havevameoship interest in our patents or
other intellectual property. Litigation may be nesary to defend against these and other claim&algatg inventorship or ownership. If we
fail in defending any such claims, in addition &yjmg monetary damages, we may lose valuable éatelhl property rights, such as exclusive
ownership of, or right to use, valuable intelle¢im@perty. Such an outcome could have a matetiadse effect on our business. Even if we
are successful in defending against such claitigation could result in substantial costs and léstraction to management and other
employees.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depds on compliance with various procedural, docurhenbmission, fee payment and
other requirements imposed by governmental pategeacies, and our patent protection could be reducecliminated for non-compliance
with these requirements.

The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or U.S. Par@, various foreign governmental patent agencigsine compliance with a number
of procedural, documentary, fee payment and ott@rigions during the patent process. There aratsitas in which noncompliance can result
in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patentegifuh, resulting in partial or complete loss ofgud rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In such
an event, competitors might be able to enter theket@arlier than would otherwise have been the.cas

We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enfem@ur patents or the patents of our licensors, whiould be expensive, time-consuming
and unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe our patents or the patehtur licensors. To counter infringement or uhauwized use, we may be required to
file infringement claims, which can be expensivd Eime-consuming. In addition, in an infringememqgeeding, a court may decide that a
patent of ours or our licensors is not valid, iemiorceable and/or is not infringed, or may refiessstop the other party from using the
technology at issue on the grounds that our pattnt®ot cover the technology in question. An adveesult in any litigation or defense
proceedings could put one or more of our patentslabf being invalidated or interpreted narrowatyd could put our patent applications at ris|
of not issuing.

Interference proceedings provoked by third paielsrought by us may be necessary to determinpribaty of inventions with respect
to our patents or patent applications or thoseuofioensors. An unfavorable outcome could requséo cease using the related technology ol
to attempt to license rights to it from the prewggjlparty. Our business could be harmed if the gitieng party does not offer us a license on
commercially reasonable terms. Our defense o#liiign or interference proceedings may fail andpe¥/successful, may result in substantial
costs and distract our management and other enrgdoyee may not be able to prevent, alone or witHioensors, misappropriation of our
intellectual property rights, particularly in coties where the laws may not protect those rightfsilasas in the United States.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amounsobdery required in connection with intellectuabperty litigation, there is a risk that
some of our confidential information could be coomised by disclosure during this type of litigatidiere could also be public
announcements of the results of hearings, motiowsh@r interim proceedings or developments. Ifisiéies analysts or investors perceive tt
results to be negative, it could have a materigbesk effect on the price of our common stock.

Issued patents covering our product candidates ebbé found invalid or unenforceable if challenged tourt.

If we or one of our licensing partners initiateddéproceedings against a third party to enforpatant covering our product candidate,
the defendant could counterclaim that the patew¢iiog our product candidate
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is invalid and/or unenforceable. In patent litigatin the United States, defendant counterclaimegjialg invalidity and/or unenforceability are
commonplace. Grounds for a validity challenge idelalleged failures to meet any of several stagutguirements, including lack of novelty,
obviousness or hon-enablement. Grounds for unesdibility assertions include allegations that soreemmnected with prosecution of the
patent withheld relevant information from the UPS.O, or made a misleading statement, during présecurhird parties may also raise
similar claims before administrative bodies in tha@ted States or abroad, even outside the confditigation. Such mechanisms include re-
examination, post grant review and equivalent pedaggs in foreign jurisdictions, e.g., oppositiangeedings. Such proceedings could result
in revocation or amendment of our patents in suslaathat they no longer cover our product caneislar competitive products. The outcome
following legal assertions of invalidity and unerdeability is unpredictable. With respect to validfor example, we cannot be certain that
there is no invalidating prior act, of which we ahé patent examiner were unaware during proseatutfi@ defendant were to prevail on a le
assertion of invalidity and/or unenforceability, weuld lose at least part, and perhaps all, optitent protection on our product candidates.
Such a loss of patent protection would have a nishtgdverse impact on our business.

We do not seek to protect our intellectual properights in all jurisdictions throughout the world ad we may not be able to adequately
enforce our intellectual property rights even ingtjurisdictions where we seek protection.

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on prbdandidates in all countries and jurisdiction®tighout the world would be
prohibitively expensive, and our intellectual prageights in some countries outside the Unitededt@ould be less extensive than those in th
United States. In addition, the laws of some fareiguntries do not protect intellectual properghts to the same extent as federal and state
laws in the United States. Consequently, we mayeatble to prevent third parties from practicitng imventions in all countries outside the
United States, or from selling or importing produetade using our inventions in and into the Un8&ates or other jurisdictions. Competitors
may use our technologies in jurisdictions wherehaee not obtained patent protection to develop theh products and further, may export
otherwise infringing products to territories where have patent protection, but enforcement is sati@ng as that in the United States. These
products may compete with our products and oumpsiar other intellectual property rights may netdsfective or sufficient to prevent them
from competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problienprotecting and defending intellectual propeigyts in foreign jurisdictions.
The legal systems of certain countries, particulaegrtain developing countries, do not favor thiBberement of patents and other intellectual
property protection, particularly those relatingotopharmaceuticals, which could make it difficialt us to stop the infringement of our patents
or marketing of competing products in violationoafr proprietary rights generally. Proceedings tfoere our patent rights in foreign
jurisdictions could result in substantial costs digbrt our efforts and attention from other aspextour business, could put our patents at
of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly, coplat our patent applications at risk of not issuamgl could provoke third parties to assert
claims against us. We may not prevail in any latesthiat we initiate and the damages or other regsealivarded, if any, may not be
commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our effortsénforce our intellectual property rights arouhnd world may be inadequate to obtain a
significant commercial advantage from the intell@ttproperty that we develop or license.

We are dependent on licensed intellectual propettyve were to lose our rights to licensed intelteal property, we may not be able to
continue developing or commercializing beloranib our other product candidates, if approved.

We have licensed our rights to beloranib from Chknog Dang Pharmaceutical Corp. of South Korea, WDCOur license with CKD
imposes various obligations on us, including a irepient to use commercially reasonable effortseteetbp beloranib and provides CKD the
right to terminate the license thereunder in thenéwf a material breach. For example, CKD maygelldhat we have breached our license
agreement and may accordingly seek to terminatéicanse with them. Termination of our license fr@D could result in our loss of the
right to use the licensed intellectual propertyjclibcould materially adversely affect our ability t
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develop and commercialize beloranib, if approvedyall as harm our competitive business positiah@ur business prospects. We also have
an exclusive license with Children’s Medical CerZarporation, or Children’s, pursuant to which welasively licensed certain patient rights
relating to decreasing the growth of fat tissueft@hildren’s on a worldwide basis.

We may enter into additional license(s) to thirdtpantellectual property that are necessary ofulde our business. Future licensor(s)
may also allege that we have breached our licegrimment and may accordingly seek to terminatdi@amse with them. In addition, future
licensor(s) may decide to terminate our licensailit If successful, this could result in our loskthe right to use the licensed intellectual
property, which could materially adversely affeat ability to develop and commercialize a prodwididate or product, if approved, as well
as harm our competitive business position and asinless prospects.

We have not yet registered trademarks for a comrigrizade name for beloranib and failure to secuseich registrations could adversely
affect our business.

We have not yet registered trademarks for a comaidrade name for beloranib. Any future trademaplklications may be rejected
during trademark registration proceedings. Althoughwould be given an opportunity to respond teéejections, we may be unable to
overcome such rejections. In addition, in the BPBO and in comparable agencies in many foreigsdligiions, third parties are given an
opportunity to oppose pending trademark applicati@mmd to seek to cancel registered trademarks. Sitfggoor cancellation proceedings may
be filed against our trademarks, and our trademakg not survive such proceedings. Moreover, amyenae propose to use with our product
candidates in the United States must be approveldebifDA, regardless of whether we have registagred applied to register it, as a
trademark. The FDA typically conducts a review mgsed product names, including an evaluatioroténtial for confusion with other
product names. If the FDA objects to any of oumpmsed proprietary product names, we may be reqtoregpend significant additional
resources in an effort to identify a suitable sitiost name that would qualify under applicable &nmérk laws, not infringe the existing rights
third parties and be acceptable to the FDA.

If we do not obtain additional protection under theatch-Waxman Amendments and similar foreign legislatitny extending the patent
terms and obtaining data exclusivity for beloranibur business may be materially harmed.

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifficS@A marketing approval of beloranib, one or mofehe U.S. patents we license
may be eligible for limited patent term restorationder the Drug Price Competition and Patent Teastétation Act of 1984, referred to as the
Hatch-Waxman Amendments. The Hatch-Waxman Amend@rimit a patent restoration term of up to fivargeas compensation for patent
term lost during product development and the FDgutatory review process. However, we may not batgghan extension because of, for
example, failing to apply within applicable deaeé#n failing to apply prior to expiration of relevgratents or otherwise failing to satisfy
applicable requirements. Moreover, the applicaibhe fperiod or the scope of patent protection affdrdould be less than we request. If we ar
unable to obtain patent term extension or restumair the term of any such extension is less thameguest, our competitors may obtain
approval of competing products following our patexpiration, and our ability to generate revenumdd:be materially adversely affected.

Changes in U.S. patent law could diminish the valakpatents in general, thereby impairing our aliilito protect our products.

The United States has recently enacted and isrtlyienplementing the America Invents Act of 20Which is wide-ranging patent
reform legislation. Further, the U.S. Supreme Cbas ruled on several patent cases in recent yegdrsr narrowing the scope of patent
protection available in certain circumstances oakeaing the rights of patent owners in certainasitins. In addition to increasing uncertainty
with regard to our ability to obtain future paterités combination of events has created unceptaiith respect to the value of
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patents, once obtained. Depending on decisionedWtS. Congress, the federal courts and the .S, Ehe laws and regulations governing
patents could change in unpredictable ways thatdwwaaken our ability to obtain new patents orrioece our existing patents or future
patents.

We may be subject to damages resulting from clathest we or our employees have wrongfully used asdibsed alleged trade secrets of
their former employers.

Our employees have been previously employed at bibéechnology or pharmaceutical companies, inalgidur competitors or
potential competitors. Although we are not awararf claims currently pending against us, we maguigect to claims that these employees
or we have inadvertently or otherwise used or dsadl trade secrets or other proprietary informatiothe former employers of our employees
Litigation may be necessary to defend against thieses. Even if we are successful in defendingresjahese claims, litigation could result in
substantial costs and be a distraction to managefeve fail in defending such claims, in additithpaying money claims, we may lose
valuable intellectual property rights or personieloss of key personnel or their work product ebidbmper or prevent our ability to
commercialize beloranib, which would materially atsely affect our commercial development efforts.

General Company-Related Risks

We will need to develop and expand our company, aredmay encounter difficulties in managing this ddepment and expansion, which
could disrupt our operations.

As of March 17, 2015, we had 22 full-time employaed one part-time employee, and as we advancedn@anto later-stage clinical
trials, we expect to increase our number of emmeyand the scope of our operations. To managentigipated development and expansion,
we must continue to implement and improve our mariaj operational and financial systems, expandaeilities and continue to recruit and
train additional qualified personnel. Also, our ragament may need to divert a disproportionate atmflits attention away from its day-to-
day activities and devote a substantial amounita to managing these development activities. Duaut limited resources, we may not be
able to effectively manage the expansion of ouratpens or recruit and train additional qualifieerponnel. This may result in weaknesses in
our infrastructure, give rise to operational missKoss of business opportunities, loss of emgewad reduced productivity among remainin
employees. The physical expansion of our operatiagng lead to significant costs and may divert ftiahresources from other projects, such
as the development of beloranib. If our managernsemable to effectively manage our expected dgraénmt and expansion, our expenses
increase more than expected, our ability to geaeyaincrease our revenue could be reduced andayenot be able to implement our busines:
strategy. Our future financial performance andahility to commercialize beloranib, if approveddasompete effectively will depend, in part,
on our ability to effectively manage the future dimpment and expansion of our company.

Our future success depends on our ability to retaiar Chief Executive Officer, and to attract, retaiand motivate qualified personnel.

We are highly dependent on Dr. Thomas E. HugheasCbief Executive Officer. We have entered intceamployment agreement with
Dr. Hughes, but he may terminate his employmerti wit at any time. Although we do not have any nedsdelieve that we will lose the
services of Dr. Hughes in the foreseeable futlme]dss of his services might impede the achievewfesur research, development and
commercialization objectives. We also do not haweley-man life insurance on Dr. Hughes. We relyconsultants and advisors, including
scientific and clinical advisors, to assist usamfulating our development and commercializatioatsgy. Our consultants and advisors ma
employed by employers other than us and may havenitnents under consulting or advisory contracth wther entities that may limit their
availability to us and may not be subject to oandard non-compete agreements. Recruiting andhiregagualified scientific personnel and
sales and marketing personnel will also be criticadur success. We may not be able to attractetath these personnel
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on acceptable terms given the competition amongenous pharmaceutical and biotechnology compantiesiiidlar personnel. We also
experience competition for the hiring of scientifiersonnel from universities and research institisti Failure to succeed in clinical trials may
make it more challenging to recruit and retain tiga scientific personnel.

Our employees may engage in misconduct or otherrioper activities, including violating applicable gailatory standards and requirements
or engaging in insider trading, which could signdantly harm our business.

We are exposed to the risk of employee fraud ceratisconduct. Misconduct by employees could inelidentional failures to comply
with the regulations of the FDA and applicable ndi$. regulators, provide accurate information ®BDA and applicable non-U.S.
regulators, comply with healthcare fraud and albass and regulations in the United States and ahmegport financial information or data
accurately or disclose unauthorized activitiesdolo particular, sales, marketing and businesmgements in the healthcare industry are
subject to extensive laws and regulations intenidgevent fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self-deptind other abusive practices. These law:
and regulations restrict or prohibit a wide ran§ericing, discounting, marketing and promotionlgsacommission, customer incentive
programs and other business arrangements. Empioigeenduct could also involve the improper userafluding trading on, information
obtained in the course of clinical trials, whichutdbresult in regulatory sanctions and serious harour reputation. We have adopted a code ¢
conduct, but it is not always possible to identifyd deter employee misconduct, and the precautiertake to detect and prevent this activity
may be ineffective in controlling unknown or unmged risks or losses or in protecting us from gowemtal investigations or other actions or
lawsuits stemming from a failure to comply with skedaws or regulations. If any such actions artiied against us, and we are not succe
in defending ourselves or asserting our rightssehactions could have a significant impact on ausiress, including the imposition of
significant fines or other sanctions.

We face potential product liability exposure, anficlaims are brought against us, we may incur stiastial liability.

The use of beloranib in clinical trials and theesal beloranib, if approved, exposes us to theafghroduct liability claims. Product
liability claims might be brought against us byieats, healthcare providers or others selling bewise coming into contact with beloranib.
For example, we may be sued if any product we dgvallegedly causes injury or is found to be otheewinsuitable during product testing,
manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such prodiatility claims may include allegations of defeaisnanufacturing, defects in design, a
failure to warn of dangers inherent in the prodimatluding as a result of interactions with alcobobther drugs, negligence, strict liability and
a breach of warranties. Claims could also be asdender state consumer protection acts. If werbecgubject to product liability claims and
cannot successfully defend ourselves against thentould incur substantial liabilities. In additioegardless of merit or eventual outcome,
product liability claims may result in, among othieings:

» withdrawal of patients from our clinical trial

» substantial monetary awards to patients or ottemelnts;

» decreased demand for beloranib or any future ptozhrdidates following marketing approval, if obid;
« damage to our reputation and exposure to adveldeiby

» increased FDA warnings on product lab

» litigation costs;

« distraction of manageme's attention from our primary busine

* loss of revenue; ar

« the inability to successfully commercialize belabaor any future product candidates, if approy
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We maintain product liability insurance coveragedar clinical trials with a $10.0 million annuajgregate coverage limit. Nevertheless.
our insurance coverage may be insufficient to reirs® us for any expenses or losses we may suffaedwer, in the future, we may not be
able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasowabter in sufficient amounts to protect us agdwsses, including if insurance coverage
becomes increasingly expensive. If and when weinbtarketing approval for beloranib, we intend xp&nd our insurance coverage to incl
the sale of commercial products; however, we maybrable to obtain this product liability insuraran commercially reasonable terms. Lz
judgments have been awarded in class action lasvisagted on drugs that had unanticipated side effélae cost of any product liabili
litigation or other proceedings, even if resolveaur favor, could be substantial, particularlyigit of the size of our business and financial
resources. A product liability claim or series t&#ims brought against us could cause our stoclepadecline and, if we are unsuccessful in
defending such a claim or claims and the resujtidgments exceed our insurance coverage, our fiaarandition, business and prospects
could be materially adversely affected.

We must maintain effective internal control ovemnfincial reporting, and if we are unable to do sbgtaccuracy and timeliness of our
financial reporting may be adversely affected, whicould have a material adverse effect on our buess and stock price

We must maintain effective internal control overafincial reporting in order to accurately and tintelgort our results of operations and
financial condition. In addition, as a public comgathe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarb&hdey Act, requires, among other things,
that we assess the effectiveness of our disclasan&ols and procedures quarterly and the effesige of our internal control over financial
reporting at the end of each fiscal year. We gpditei being first required to issue management'sameport on internal control over financial
reporting, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbd@dsy Act, in connection with issuing our consotigld financial statements as of and for the
year ending December 31, 20:

The rules governing the standards that must bdeneur management to assess our internal contei financial reporting pursuant to
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act are compheikraquire significant documentation, testing anssible remediation. These stringent
standards require that our audit committee be adwasd regularly updated on managensergview of internal control over financial repagi
Our management may not be able to effectively andly implement controls and procedures that adedyieespond to the increased
regulatory compliance and reporting requiremeras Will be applicable to us as a public companyvéffail to staff our accounting and fina
function adequately or maintain internal controépfinancial reporting adequate to meet the demératswill be placed upon us as a public
company, including the requirements of the Sarb&nwsy Act, our business and reputation may be ledramd our stock price may decline.
Furthermore, investor perceptions of us may be @aWeaffected, which could cause a decline inntfagket price of our common stock.

In order to satisfy our obligations as a public cgrany, we will need to hire additional qualified asenting and financial personnel witt
appropriate public company experience.

As a newly public company, we will need to estdbhsid maintain effective disclosure and financ@altools and make changes in our
corporate governance practices. We will need te &étditional accounting and financial personnehwappropriate public company experience
and technical accounting knowledge, and it mayifficalt to recruit and maintain such personneleBvf we are able to hire appropriate
personnel, our existing operating expenses andatipas will be impacted by the direct costs of tlenployment and the indirect conseque
related to the diversion of management resouroes froduct development efforts.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryfoands and certain tax credit carryforwards may belgect to limitation.

As of December 31, 2014, we had federal and stiteperating loss carryforwards of $17.0 milliord&9.6 million, respectively. Our
federal net operating loss carryforwards begin<are in 2026 and our state net
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operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in@08s of December 31, 2014, we also had federaktateé research and development tax
credit carryforwards of $7.7 million and $1.9 nolli, respectively, which begin to expire in 2026 @0@1, respectively. Under Section 382 of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amendetledCode, changes in our ownership may limit thewarhof our net operating loss
carryforwards and research and development taxtaadyforwards that could be utilized annuallyotffset our future taxable income, if any.
This limitation would generally apply in the evearita cumulative change in ownership of our compafniyore than 50% within a three-year
period. Any such limitation may significantly reduour ability to utilize our net operating lossrgéorwards and research and development ta
credit carryforwards before they expire. Our redetibw-on public offering, IPO, private placemersd other transactions that have occurrec
since our inception, may trigger such an ownershgnge pursuant to Section 382. Any such limitatiamether as the result of our recent
follow-on public offering, IPO, prior private plagents, sales of our common stock by our existingks$tolders or additional sales of our
common stock by us, could have a material advdfseten our results of operations in future ye&lve have not completed a study to assess
whether an ownership change for purposes of Se88@rhas occurred, or whether there have beenptautiivnership changes since our
inception, due to the significant costs and comfiksxassociated with such study.

Unfavorable global economic conditions could advekgaffect our business, financial condition or relis of operations.

Our results of operations could be adversely agfittly general conditions in the global economyiarttie global financial markets. The
recent global financial crisis caused extreme ¥dlaaind disruptions in the capital and credit kets. A severe or prolonged economic
downturn, such as the recent global financial grisbuld result in a variety of risks to our busiencluding, weakened demand for our
product candidates and our ability to raise add#@l@apital when needed on acceptable termsail.ad weak or declining economy could also
strain our suppliers, possibly resulting in supgilsruption, or cause our customers to delay magagnents for our services. Any of the
foregoing could harm our business and we canndtipate all of the ways in which the current ecomuotimate and financial market
conditions could adversely impact our business.

Our internal computer systems, or those of our ttiparty CROs or other contractors or consultantsaynfail or suffer security breaches,
which could result in a material disruption of oubeloranib development programs.

Despite the implementation of security measuresirdarnal computer systems and those of our thady CROs and other contractors
and consultants are vulnerable to damage from ctenpiruses, unauthorized access, natural disasegrerism, war and telecommunication
and electrical failures. While we have not experezhany such system failure, accident, or sechriéach to date, if such an event were to
occur and cause interruptions in our operationsyuid result in a material disruption of our prags. For example, the loss of clinical trial
for beloranib could result in delays in our regaigtapproval efforts and significantly increase oasts to recover or reproduce the data. To tt
extent that any disruption or security breach tednla loss of or damage to our data or applioatar other data or applications relating to our
technology or product candidates, or inappropidéelosure of confidential or proprietary inforntatj we could incur liabilities and the further
development of beloranib could be delayed.

We may not be successful in our efforts to identifiydiscover additional product candidates.

The success of our business depends primarily apoability to identify, develop and commercializ@ducts based on our weight loss
platform. Although beloranib is currently in clisicdevelopment, our research programs may fadeatify other potential product candidates
for clinical development for a number of reasonsr @search methodology may be unsuccessful irtifgiery potential product candidates or
our potential product candidates may be shown ve harmful side effects or may have other charmties that may make the products
unmarketable or unlikely to receive marketing appto

If any of these events occur, we may be forcetmedon our development efforts for a program og@ms, which would have a
material adverse effect on our business and cautkehpially cause us to cease
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operations. Research programs to identify new prodandidates require substantial technical, firdraod human resources. We may focus
our efforts and resources on potential progranmmaduct candidates that ultimately prove to be oosssful.

We may acquire businesses or products, or form tgigéc alliances, in the future, and we may not re the benefits of such acquisitions or
alliances.

We may acquire additional businesses or produats) trategic alliances or create joint ventureth Wiird parties that we believe will
complement or augment our existing business. laegulire businesses with promising markets or tdogines, we may not be able to realize
the benefit of such transactions if we are unabkutcessfully integrate such businesses with xigtileg operations and company culture. We
may encounter numerous difficulties in developmmgnufacturing and marketing any new products riesuftom a strategic alliance or
acquisition that delay or prevent us from realizingir expected benefits or enhancing our busin&&escannot assure you that, following any
such transaction, we will achieve the expected igyjee to justify the transaction.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need foCapital

We have not generated any revenue from product sal¥e have incurred significant operating lossesc® our inception, and anticipate
that we will incur continued losses for the foresdse future.

Biopharmaceutical product development is a higpkycsilative undertaking and involves a substangatee of risk. Our operations to
date have been limited primarily to organizing ataffing our company and conducting research ardldpment activities for beloranib and
ZGN-839. We have never generated any revenue frodupt sales. We have not obtained regulatory agsdor any of our product
candidates.

Since our inception, we have focused substant#lligf our efforts and financial resources on depélg beloranib, which is currently in
Phase 3 clinical development for our lead indigatibthe treatment of hyperphagia and obesity tiepts with PWS and Phase 2 clinical
development for HIAO and severe obesity in the garmopulation. We have funded our operations te ttaough proceeds from sales of
redeemable convertible preferred stock, convertielet and proceeds from our IPO and follow-on pubffering, and have incurred losses in
each year since our inception. Our net losses $@B8e5 million for the year ended December 31, 2@&&1of December 31, 2014, we had a
deficit accumulated of $105.4 million. Substanyialll of our operating losses resulted from caostsiired in connection with our development
programs for beloranib and ZGN-839, licensing ntdee fees and from general and administrative assteciated with our operations. We
expect to incur increasing levels of operatingésssver the next several years and for the foreseéature. Our prior losses, combined with
expected future losses, have had and will contiodgve an adverse effect on our stockholderstdefind working capital. We expect our
research and development expenses to significamtgase in connection with our additional clinitté&ls of beloranib and development of
ZGN-839 and of any other product candidates we ochapse to pursue. In addition, if we obtain margetipproval for beloranib, we will
incur significant sales, marketing and outsourcedhufiacturing expenses. Now that we are a publicpamy, we will incur additional costs
associated with operating as a public company. Asalt, we expect to continue to incur significantl increasing operating losses for the
foreseeable future. Because of the numerous risksiacertainties associated with developing phaemiéeal products, we are unable to
predict the extent of any future losses or whemwiliebecome profitable, if at all. Even if we dodmme profitable, we may not be able to
sustain or increase our profitability on a quayten annual basis.

Our ability to become profitable depends upon duility to generate revenue. To date, we have noegeed any revenue from our lead
product candidate, beloranib, and we do not knowrwlor if, we will generate any revenue. We doexgtect to generate significant revenue
unless and until we obtain marketing
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approval of, and begin to sell, beloranib. Ourigbtb generate revenue depends on a number afriaéhcluding, but not limited to, our abil
to:

» initiate and successfully complete li-stage clinical trials that meet their clinical eniys;

» initiate and successfully complete all safdtydges required to obtain U.S. and foreign markgtipproval for beloranib in the
indications we are pursuin

« commercialize beloranib, if approved, by developngales force or entering into collaborations whihd parties; an

» achieve market acceptance of beloranib in the rméd@ammunity and with thi-party payors

Absent our entering into a collaboration or parshgr agreement, we expect to incur significantsaled marketing costs as we prepa
commercialize beloranib. Even if we initiate andssfully complete our pivotal clinical trialstedloranib, and beloranib is approved for
commercial sale, and despite expending these dmdtganib may not be a commercially successfuljdvde may not achieve profitability
soon after generating product sales, if ever. lfaneeunable to generate sufficient product reveweewyill not become profitable and may be
unable to continue operations without continuedifng.

We will need to raise additional funding, which manot be available on acceptable terms, or at aldilére to obtain this necessary capital
when needed may force us to delay, limit or termtimaur product development efforts or other opeoats.

We are currently advancing beloranib through cihaevelopment. Developing small molecule prodigtxpensive, and we expect our
research and development expenses to increasasstidibg in connection with our ongoing activitigerticularly as we advance beloranib in
later-stage, more costly clinical trials. Dependamgthe status of regulatory approval or, if apgdiwommercialization of beloranib, as well as
the progress we make in selling beloranib, we negyire additional capital to fund operating nedasdafter. We may also need to raise
additional funds sooner if we choose to pursuetaidil indications and/or geographies for belorarilotherwise expand more rapidly than
presently anticipate.

As of December 31, 2014, our cash and cash equigadend marketable securities were $115.5 milNgr.also completed our follow-on
public offering on January 28, 2015, which raisetiproceeds of approximately $129.5 million, basedhe public offering price of $35.00 |
share, after deducting underwriting discounts amdmissions, and estimated offering expenses. Weatxpat the net proceeds from the
follow-on public offering, together with our cashdacash equivalents prior to the follow-on publifeang, will be sufficient to fund our
current operations for at least the next 18 mortlasvever, our operating plan may change as a resuaitany factors currently unknown to us,
and we may need to seek additional funds soonargtned, through public or private equity or diéfdncings, government or other third-
party funding, marketing and distribution arrangataeand other collaborations, strategic allianceklicensing arrangements or a combinatiol
of these approaches. In any event, we will reqaidlditional capital to obtain regulatory approval #and to commercialize, our product
candidates. Raising funds in the current economiirenment may present additional challenges. Eiese believe we have sufficient funds
for our current or future operating plans, we megksadditional capital if market conditions arediable or if we have specific strategic
considerations.

Any additional fundraising efforts may divert ouanagement from their day-to-day activities, whiciymadversely affect our ability to
develop and commercialize our product candidateadtlition, we cannot guarantee that future finagneiill be available in sufficient amounts
or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. Moreotteg, terms of any financing may adversely affecthtbiglings or the rights of our stockholders
and the issuance of additional securities, whetheity or debt, by us, or the possibility of sussuance, may cause the market price of our
shares to decline. The sale of additional equitgamvertible securities would dilute all of our@tholders. The incurrence of indebtedness
would result in increased fixed payment obligatians we
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may be required to agree to certain restrictiveecants, such as limitations on our ability to inadditional debt, limitations on our ability to
acquire, sell or license intellectual property tggand other operating restrictions that could esklg impact our ability to conduct our busin
We could also be required to seek funds througimgements with collaborative partners or othenaisen earlier stage than otherwise would
be desirable and we may be required to relinquggtts to some of our technologies or product caatgier otherwise agree to terms
unfavorable to us, any of which may have a matedakrse effect on our business, operating reantigprospects.

If we are unable to obtain funding on a timely bagsie may be required to significantly curtail,ajebr discontinue one or more of our
research or development programs or the commeratadh of any product candidate or be unable t@egmur operations or otherwise
capitalize on our business opportunities, as daéswhich could materially affect our business, fioi@al condition and results of operations.

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to pexisting stockholders, restrict our operations mrquire us to relinquish rights

We may seek additional capital through a combimatibprivate and public equity offerings, debt fiecings, collaborations and strategic
and licensing arrangements. To the extent thatamse additional capital through the sale of commstoek or securities convertible or
exchangeable into common stock, your ownershigésten our company will be diluted. In additiohetterms of any such securities may
include liquidation or other preferences that matlgradversely affect your rights as a stockhold@bt financing, if available, would increase
our fixed payment obligations and may involve agreets that include covenants limiting or restrigtour ability to take specific actions, such
as incurring additional debt, making capital expmds or declaring dividends. If we raise addidibfunds through collaboration, strategic
partnerships and licensing arrangements with {hardies, we may have to relinquish valuable rigbtiseloranib, our intellectual property,
future revenue streams or grant licenses on tdratsate not favorable to us.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
We expect that our stock price may fluctuate sigcaintly.

Our IPO was completed on June 24, 2014 at a pfi§@&00 per share and our follow-on public offgrinas completed on January 28,
2015 at a price of $35.00 per share. A public midideour common stock has only been in existeocafshort period of time. An active put
market for our common stock may not develop orusasned.

In addition, the market price of shares of our canratock could be subject to wide fluctuationsdsponse to many risk factors listed in
this section, and others beyond our control, inicigd

» plans for, progress of or results from-clinical studies and clinical trials of beloran

» the failure of the FDA or the EMA to approve beluig

* announcements of new products, technologies, coniaheelationships, acquisitions or other eventaibyr our competitor:
» the success or failure of other weight loss thes

» regulatory or legal developments in the United &ta@nd other countrie

« failure of beloranib, if approved, to achieve connored success

» fluctuations in stock market prices and tradinguvoés of similar companie

» general market conditions and overall fluctuations.S. equity markets

» variations in our quarterly operating resu
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» changes in our financial guidance or securitiedyats’ estimates of our financial performan

» changes in accounting principle

e our ability to raise additional capital and therieron which we can raise

» sales of large blocks of our common stock, inclgdiales by our executive officers, directors agdificant stockholders
» additions or departures of key personi

» discussion of us or our stock price by the preskstgnonline investor communities; a

» other risks and uncertainties described in theskefaictors

These and other market and industry factors magecthe market price and demand for our common s$toftluctuate substantially,
regardless of our actual operating performanceghviriay limit or prevent investors from readily sl their shares of common stock and may
otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of oumamon stock. In addition, the stock market in gehenrad NASDAQ listed and
biopharmaceutical companies in particular, haveeggpced extreme price and volume fluctuations lilaae often been unrelated or
disproportionate to the operating performance es¢hcompanies. In the past, when the market priaestck has been volatile, holders of tha
stock have instituted securities class actiondtimn against the company that issued the stoaanyfof our stockholders brought a lawsuit
against us, we could incur substantial costs défgrtthe lawsuit. Such a lawsuit could also divhe time and attention of our management.

Our executive officers, directors, and principalostkholders exercise significant control over ourropany.

As of March 17, 2015, the existing holdings of executive officers, directors, principal stockhakland their affiliates, including
investment funds affiliated with Atlas Ventures Aitas, investment funds affiliated with Third Roglentures, or TRV, investment funds
affiliated with Alta Partners, or Alta, and ent#iaffiliated with Fidelity Investment, or Fidelityepresent beneficial ownership, in the aggre:
of approximately 62.3% of our common stock. Assule these stockholders, if they act togetherahite to influence our management and
affairs and control the outcome of matters submhitteour stockholders for approval, including thecdon of directors and any sale, merger,
consolidation, or sale of all or substantiallyallour assets. The concentration of voting poweoragrthese stockholders may have an adverse
effect on the price of our common stock. In additithis concentration of ownership might adversdfgct the market price of our common
stock by:

» delaying, deferring or preventing a change of aardf us;
» impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or othesiness combination involving us;

» discouraging a potential acquirer from making alégroffer or otherwise attempting to obtain conobls.

Future sales of our common stock may cause our &tpdce to decline.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our camrstock in the public market or the perceptiori thase sales might occur could
significantly reduce the market price of our comnstock and impair our ability to raise adequatdteathrough the sale of additional equity
securities.
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We will have broad discretion in how we use the geeds of our IPO and our follow-on public offeringVe may not use these proceeds
effectively, which could affect our results of oions and cause our stock price to decline.

We will have considerable discretion in the applaaof the net proceeds of our IPO and our follewpublic offering. We intend to use
the net proceeds to advance the clinical developwofdreloranib as a treatment for obesity and hyipagia in PWS patients and HIAO, to
develop multiple back-up molecules of beloranila@aeatment for severe obesity in the general @tjoul, to continue the development and
initiate clinical development of ZGN-839, to devela peninjector system for eventual commercial use in PWIBO and severe obesity in 1
general population and to fund new and ongoingareseand development activities, working capital ather general corporate purposes,
which may include funding for the hiring of additial personnel, capital expenditures, early comméreition activities and the costs of
operating as a public company. As a result, invesidll be relying upon management’s judgment vaitity limited information about our
specific intentions for the use of the balancehefriet proceeds. We may use the net proceedsrfoogrs that do not yield a significant return
or any return at all for our stockholders. In aidlit pending their use, we may invest the net prdsén a manner that does not produce inc
or that loses value.

We may be at an increased risk of securities classon litigation.

Historically, securities class action litigationshaften been brought against a company followidgdine in the market price of its
securities. This risk is especially relevant folbesause biotechnology and pharmaceutical comphaigsexperienced significant stock price
volatility in recent years. If we were to be suig@dpould result in substantial costs and a divergsibmanagement’s attention and resources,
which could harm our business.

We are an “emerging growth company” and have availeurselves of reduced disclosure requirements &atlle to emerging growth
companies, which could make our common stock ledgaative to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defineth@nJumpstart our Business Startups Act of 2018H@dOBS Act, and we have
taken advantage of certain exemptions from variepsrting requirements that are applicable to opludalic companies that are not “emerging
growth companies” including not being required donply with the auditor attestation requirementSeétion 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding etigelcompensation in our periodic reports and prstatements, and exemptions from the
requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vamieexecutive compensation and shareholder appofaly golden parachute payments not
previously approved. In addition, Section 107 & J©BS Act also provides that an emerging growthgamy can take advantage of the
extended transition period provided in Section (2(#B) of the Securities Act, for complying withwer revised accounting standards. In o
words, an emerging growth company can delay thetamoof certain accounting standards until thdaedards would otherwise apply to
private companies. However, we are electing ntdlte advantage of such extended transition pesiod,as a result we will comply with new
or revised accounting standards on the relevaesdat which adoption of such standards is reqdimedon-emerging growth companies.
Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that our degito not take advantage of the extended tramsfigriod for complying with new or
revised accounting standards is irrevocable. Waagpredict if investors will find our common stoless attractive because we may rely on
any of the exemptions available under the JOBS IAsbme investors find our common stock less etiva as a result, there may be a less
active trading market for our common stock andsiack price may be more volatile. We may take athga of these reporting exemptions
until we are no longer an emerging growth compa&yg.will remain an emerging growth company until &zliest of (i) the last day of the
fiscal year in which we have total annual grosenexe of $1.0 billion or more; (ii) the last dayaufr fiscal year following the fifth anniversary
of the date of the completion of our IPO; (iii) thate on which we have issued more than $1.0 billilcnonconvertible debt during the previ
three years; and (iv) the date on which we are éeleim be a large accelerated filer under the rfiglse SEC.
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We have never paid dividends on our common stocH ame do not anticipate paying any dividends in fleeeseeable future. Consequently,
any gains from an investment in our common stocKlikely depend on whether the price of our commstock increases.

We have not paid dividends on any of our commouoksto date and we currently intend to retain albof future earnings, if any, to fund
the development and growth of our business. Asaltiecapital appreciation, if any, of our commaock will be your sole source of gain for
the foreseeable future. Consequently, in the feasle future, you will likely only experience agéiom your investment in our common sti
if the price of our common stock increases.

If equity research analysts do not publish resear@hreports about our business or if they issue aabrable commentary or downgrade o
common stock, the price of our common stock couktline.

The trading market for our common stock reliesant pn the research and reports that equity relsearalysts publish about us and our
business. We do not control these analysts. Tlve jfiour common stock could decline if one or mexaity analysts downgrade our common
stock or if analysts issue other unfavorable contargror cease publishing reports about us or osiness.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our amended amstated certificate of incorporation and amendeddarestated bylaws, as well as
provisions of Delaware law, could impair a takeovatempt.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamatimended and restated bylaws and Delaware lataiogorovisions which could
have the effect of rendering more difficult, detayior preventing an acquisition deemed undesifapleur board of directors. Our corporate
governance documents include provisions:

« creating a classified board of directors whose nemnberve staggered th-year terms

» authorizing “blank check” preferred stock, whicould be issued by our board of directors withstatkholder approval and may
contain voting, liquidation, dividend, and otheghis superior to our common sto

« limiting the liability of, and providing indemnifation to, our directors and officel
» limiting the ability of our stockholders to call édbring business before special meetir

* requiring advance notice of stockholder propofa business to be conducted at meetings oftmakholders and for nominations
of candidates for election to our board of direst

» controlling the procedures for the conduct and datieg of board of directors and stockholder megsijranc

« providing our board of directors with the exggg@ower to postpone previously scheduled annualings and to cancel previously
scheduled special meeting

These provisions, alone or together, could delgyrevent hostile takeovers and changes in controhanges in our management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subjectdwigions of Delaware law, including Section 203fté Delaware General Corporation
law, which prevents some stockholders holding ntloa@ 15% of our outstanding common stock from emgpip certain business
combinations without approval of the holders ofstahtially all of our outstanding common stock.

Any provision of our amended and restated certdicd incorporation, amended and restated bylavidetaware law that has the effec
delaying or deterring a change in control couldtlittne opportunity for our stockholders to receavpremium for their shares of our common
stock, and could also affect the price that sormestors are willing to pay for our common stock.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We have leased approximately 5,952 square fedffioéspace at 175 Portland Street, 4th Floor, 8osMassachusetts from May 15,
2014 to July 31, 2017, with an option to extendtfoee additional years. We believe that our exisfacilities are adequate for our current
needs. When our lease expires, we may renew tktrexiease or look for additional or alternatecgpfor our operations. We believe that any
additional space we may require will be availablecommercially reasonable terms.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As of the date of this Annual Report, we were rartyto any legal matters or claims. In the futwve,may become party to legal matters
and claims arising in the ordinary course of bussnéhe resolution of which we do not anticipateilddiave a material adverse impact on our
financial position, results of operations or caskvt.

ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock commenced trading under the syfalbgEN" on the NASDAQ Global Market on June 19, 20Prior to that time,
there was no public market for our common stock. €mmon stock in our initial public offering pritet $16.00 per share on June 18, 2014
The following table sets forth on a per share hdsishe periods indicated, the low and high pgioé our common stock as reported by the
NASDAQ Global Market for our fiscal year ended Deatxer 31, 2014 since our initial public offerir

High Low
2014
Second Quarter (from June 19, 20 $21.01 $19.2¢
Third Quartel $21.9¢ $17.0¢
Fourth Quarte $32.2¢ $16.01

On March 17, 2015, the last reported sales priaotommon stock on the Nasdaq Global Market wi&s5F and as of March 17, 2015,
there were approximately 27 holders of record afammmon stock. However, because many of our audgitg shares are held in accounts
with brokers and other institutions, we believelvawe more beneficial owners.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid dividends on oumeomstock and do not expect to pay dividends orcoormon stock for the
foreseeable future. Instead, we anticipate thaifalur earnings in the foreseeable future willised for the operation and growth of our
business. Any future determination to declare dimits will be subject to the discretion of our boafrdirectors and will depend on various
factors, including applicable laws, our result®pérations, financial condition, future prospeats] any other factors deemed relevant by our
board of directors. In addition, the terms of outstanding indebtedness restrict our ability to gaydends, and any future indebtedness that
we may incur could preclude us from paying dividend

73



Table of Contents

Stock Performance Graph

This graph is not “soliciting material,” is not deed “filed” with the SEC and is not to be incorpedhby reference into any of our filings
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,eoE#turities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended hshetade before or after the date herec
and irrespective of any general incorporation lagguin any such filing.

The following graph shows the total stockholdeuretof an investment of $100 in cash on June 194 Zthe first day of trading of our
common stock), through December 31, 2014 for (f)ammmon stock, (ii) the NASDAQ Composite Index iyl the NASDAQ
Biotechnology Index. Pursuant to applicable Semsidand Exchange Commission rules, all values assamvestment of the full amount of
dividends, however no dividends have been declaneaur common stock to date. The stockholder reshown on the graph below is not
necessarily indicative of future performance, ardde not make or endorse any predictions as tod@iockholder returns.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

For information regarding securities authorizediésuance under equity compensation plans, seélPdiem 12—Security Ownership
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management andted|Stockholder Matters.”

Sales of Unregistered Securities
On February 28, 2014, we issued an aggregate 91@04hares of Series E redeemable convertiblemeef stock to four investors for
aggregate consideration of $443,409 in cash.

On November 20, 2014, we issued an aggregate o780 Ehares of common stock to one of our collabeosan lieu of a cash payment
of $3,250,000 in milestone payments.

No underwriters were used in the foregoing transast All sales of securities described above wea€e in reliance upon the exemption
from registration provided by Section 4(2) of thec8rities Act (and/or Regulation D promulgated ¢uerder) for transactions by an issuer not
involving a public offering. All of the foregoingesurities are deemed restricted securities fopthiposes of the Securities Act.
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Upon the closing of our IPO, all of the outstandét@res of our convertible preferred stock wereveded into 15,077,621 shares of
common stock. The shares of common stock issuesipat to such conversion were issued in relianadb®@exemption from registration
provided by Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Adtjch exemption is available for transactions imitod securities exchanged by the issuer
its existing security holders exclusively whereaoonmission or other remuneration is paid or givieaatly or indirectly for soliciting such
exchange.

From January 1, 2014 through June 19, 2014, weeptatock options to purchase an aggregate of 58%bares of our common stock,
with exercise prices ranging from $9.67 to $16.60ghare, to employees, directors and consultamsupnt to our stock option plan. The
issuances of these securities were exempt eithieu@nt to Rule 701, as a transaction pursuanttorgensatory benefit plan, or pursuant to
Section 4(2), as a transaction by an issuer nathing a public offering.

Use of Proceeds

On June 24, 2014, we closed the sale of 6,900 0&@s of common stock to the public (inclusive @ 900 shares of common stock
sold by us pursuant to the full exercise of an aletment option granted to the underwriters) ptiae of $16.00 per share, before underwri
discounts. The offer and sale of the shares inOrwas registered under the Securities Act puttsisaregistration statements on Form S-1
(File No. 377-00464), which was filed with the SBR& January 31, 2014 and amended subsequently aladatkeffective by the SEC on
June 18, 2014, and Form S-1MEF (File No. 333-19588hich was filed with the SEC on June 18, 2014 antomatically effective upon
filing. There has been no change in the use ofgads from our IPO.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuemnd Affiliated Purchasers

None.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected financial data set forth below aseddnber 31, 2014 and 2013 and for each of the pealesd December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012, has been derived from the audited cataeli financial statements of the Company, whiehiraeluded elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 1&. The selected financial data as of December 8122nd 2011 and for each of the years then enaletiden derived fro
the audited consolidated financial statementsmgtided in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Theomfiation set forth below should be read
in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion andalsis of Financial Condition and Results of Opera” and the audited consolidated
financial statements, and the notes thereto, amer dihancial information included herein. Our bigtal results are not necessarily indicativ:

our future results.

Statement of Operations Data
Revenue
Operating expense
Research and developm
General and administrati\
Total operating expens
Loss from operation
Other income (expense
Interest incomi
Interest expens
Foreign currency transaction gains (losses)
Total other income (expense), |
Net loss
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stockedemption valu
Net loss attributable to common stockholc

Net loss per share attributable to common stocldrs|dasic and diluted(
Weighted average common shares outstanding, bagidiluted

Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents and marketable sect
Working capital (2]

Total asset

Notes payable, net of discount, long te
Redeemable convertible preferred st

Total stockholder equity (deficit)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012 2011
(in thousands, except per share datz
$ — $ — $ — $ —
27,39: 9,561 11,54« 11,40:
8,141 4,21¢ 2,24 1,75]
35,53: 13,78( 13,79 13,15¢

(35,539 (13,780  (13,79) (13,159

28 — — —
(870) — (97) —
(104) (247) 8 ©)
(94€) (247) (89) 3)

(36,47¢) (14,02)  (13,88)  (13,15)

(92) (215 (67) (53)

$(36,570  $(14,240  $(13,94)  $(13,210
$ (300 $ (1959 $(19.65 $ (19.19
12,18¢ 72¢ 71C 68¢

December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

$115,46: $ 35,511 $ 9,93t $ 1,467

110,29 34,44 7,39¢ (414)
117,51 38,13 10,98¢ 1,62¢
6,177 — — —

— 103,79 62,78 40,57
104,44: (68,579 (54,729 (40,916

(1) See Note 10 to our audited consolidated firgrstatements for further details on the calcutatibbasic and diluted net loss per share

attributable to common stockholde
(2) We define working capital as current assets lesgntliabilities.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our firahcondition and results of operations should bad together with our “Selected
Financial Date” and our consolidated financial statements, rethteotes, and other financial information includdsesvhere in this Annual
Report on Form 1-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statais that involve risks and uncertainties. Our attesults could differ
materially from those described in, or implied the forward-looking statements. Factors that catddse or contribute to those differences
include, but are not limited to, those identifiezldw and those discussed above in the sectioeshtRisk Factors.”

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company dedicated tofsigntly improving the health and well-being dtients affected by obesity and
complex metabolic disorders. Beloranib, our leamtipct candidate, is a novel, first-in-class, twieeekly subcutaneous injection being
developed for the treatment of multiple indicatioingluding severe obesity in two rare diseasead@&rWilli syndrome, or PWS, and
hypothalamic injury-associated obesity, or HIACclirding craniopharyngiomassociated obesity; and severe obesity in the gepepulation

Obesity is a complex medical disorder involving etite dysregulation and altered lipid and energyalaism that results in excessive
accumulation of fat tissue. Weight loss and humgettrol are urgently needed for certain subpopaatiof obese patients, in which obesity is
life-threatening and a catorbidity of an underlying condition such as PWE# &1AO that, while rare, occurs most commonly a®asequenc
of treatment for craniopharyngioma and other migibtumors. PWS and HIAO are characterized by umotiable hunger resulting from
damage to or impaired functioning of the hypothalajman area of the brain responsible for many fanstincluding the neurophysiological
drive to eat.

Since our inception in November 2005, we have d=Vsubstantially all of our resources to develofiepranib and ZGN-839, building
our intellectual property portfolio, developing aupply chain, business planning, raising capéadl providing general and administrative
support for these operations. Prior to our ingiablic offering, or IPO, in June 2014, we funded operations primarily through sales of
redeemable convertible preferred stock and, teseleextent, through the issuances of convertitmmigsory notes. From our inception thro
December 31, 2014, we have received gross procded94.0 million from such transactions. Duringid2014, we completed our IPO with
net proceeds of $102.7 million after deducting umaiéing discounts and commissions paid by us. lge acurred offering costs of
$2.5 million related to the IPO.

On January 28, 2015, we completed a follow-on ofteof our common stock, which resulted in the 418,942,200 shares at a price of
$35.00 per share. We received net proceeds frorfollogv-on offering of approximately $129.5 millidsased upon the price of $35.00 per
share and after deducting underwriting discounts@mmissions, and estimated offering expenses.

We have never generated any revenue and haveadcoet losses in each year since our inceptionh&@Ve an accumulated deficit of
$105.4 million as of December 31, 2014. Our net lwas $36.5 million, $14.0 million and $13.9 mitlifor the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. These losses tesulted principally from costs incurred in coctien with in-licensing our product
candidates, research and development activitiegandral and administrative costs associated wittoperations. We expect to incur
significant expenses and increasing operating fofesethe foreseeable future.
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We expect that our expenses will increase substhnith connection with our ongoing activities, \as:

» advance the clinical development of belorarsiladreatment for obesity and hyperphagia in pegieith PWS through our Phase 3
clinical trials;

» advance the clinical development of beloranib as@ment for patients with HIAC

» initiate Investigational New Drug Applicatioor IND, enabling studies and clinical developmeZ@N-839 and our second-
generation MetAP2 inhibitor:

» advance the clinical development of beloramsiladreatment for severe obesity in the generallptipn through a Phase 2b clinical
trial;

» seek to identify additional indications for beloitar

» seek to obtain regulatory approvals for our proaacididates

» add operational, financial and management inforomagiystems

e add personnel, including personnel to support codyct development and future commercializationt

e maintain, leverage and expand our intellectual grigpportfolio.

As a result, we will need additional financing tgport our continuing operations. Until such tirhattwe can generate significant
revenue from product sales, if ever, we expecin@anice our operations through a combination of ipudl private equity or debt financings or
other sources, which may include collaboration$ihird parties. Arrangements with collaborator®thrers may require us to relinquish rights
to certain of our technologies or product candislalte addition, we may never successfully compdieteclopment of any of our product
candidates, obtain adequate patent protectionuiotezhnology, obtain necessary regulatory apprimrabur product candidates or achieve
commercial viability for any approved product catades. Adequate additional financing may not bélale to us on acceptable terms, or at
all. Our failure to raise capital as and when ndedleuld have a negative impact on our financialditbon and our ability to pursue our
business strategy. We will need to generate siifirevenue to achieve profitability, and we mayer do so.

We expect that our existing cash and cash equitsatard marketable securities as of December 34,20¢ether with the net proceeds
of our follow-on offering completed in January 20%8ll enable us to fund our operating expensesaapital expenditure requirements for at
least the next 18 months. See “—Liquidity and GapResources.”

Financial Operations Overview
Revenue

We have not generated any revenue from producs salee our inception, and do not expect to geaeray revenue from the sale of
products in the near future. If our developmenbrsf result in clinical success and regulatory apakor collaboration agreements with third
parties for our product candidates, we may geneeatenue from those product candidates.

Operating Expenses

The majority of our operating expenses since inoagiave consisted primarily of in-licensing cost®ur product candidate beloranib,
research and development activities, and genedaadministrative costs.
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Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses, which consisdrfly of costs associated with our product reskand development efforts, are
expensed as incurred. Research and developmemsegeonsist primarily of:

» personnel costs, including salaries, relatetefiess and stock-based compensation for employegaged in scientific research and
development function:

» third-party contract costs relating to research, fornmuatmanufacturing, p-clinical studies and clinical trial activitie
» external costs of outside consultal

e payments made under our tl-party licensing agreemen

» laboratory consumables; a

» allocated facilit-related costs

We have been developing beloranib, ZGN-839, andsecond-generation MetAP2 inhibitors, and typicalg our employee, consultant
and infrastructure resources across our developpregtams. We track outsourced development cosgsdjuct candidate or development
program, but we do not allocate personnel costsreal consultant costs, payments made under @gmding agreements or other internal cost
to specific development programs or product cartdilanless the payments are specifically identdiat a development program or product
candidate. We record our research and developmeshses net of any research and development tartines we are entitled to receive from
government authorities.

The following table summarizes our research aneldgwment expenses by program:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

(in thousands)
Beloranib $19,73¢ $5,881 $ 6,952
ZGN-839 and other early stage development activ 1,562 29t 2,19:¢
Unallocated expens: 6,091 3,38¢ 2,39¢
Total research and development expel $27,39: $9,561 $11,54¢

Research and development activities are centi@litdousiness. Product candidates in later stagelnafal development generally have
higher development costs than those in earlierestafj clinical development, primarily due to thergased size and duration of later-stage
clinical trials. We expect that our research aneettgoment expenses will continue to increase irfdheseeable future as we pursue later st
of clinical development of our product candidates.

We cannot determine with certainty the duration emehpletion costs of the current or future clinitéls of our product candidates or if,
when, or to what extent we will generate revenoenfthe commercialization and sale of any of oudpo candidates that obtain regulatory
approval. We may never succeed in achieving regmylapproval for any of our product candidates. @heation, costs, and timing of clinical
trials and development of our product candidatdlsdepend on a variety of factors, including:

* the scope, rate of progress, and expense adr@oing as well as any additional clinical triated other research and development
activities;

» future clinical trial results
* uncertainties in clinical trial enroliment ratedesign;

» significant and changing government regulat
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» the timing and receipt of any regulatory approvatsj

» the FDA's or other regulatory author’s influence on trial desigi

A change in the outcome of any of these variabliéls rgspect to the development of a product candidauld mean a significant change
in the costs and timing associated with the dewekq of that product candidate. For example, ifRB&, or another regulatory authority were
to require us to conduct clinical trials beyondgohat we currently anticipate will be requiredtfte completion of clinical development of a
product candidate, or if we experience signifiadglays in enrollment in any of our clinical tria¥ge could be required to expend significant
additional financial resources and time on the detign of clinical development.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist piliynafrpersonnel costs, consisting of salaries,teeldbenefits and stock-based
compensation, of our executive, finance, businadscarporate development and other administratimetfons. General and administrative
expenses also include travel expenses, allocatdiyfaelated costs not otherwise included in @®h and development expenses, insurance
expenses, and professional fees for auditing, naXegal services, including legal expenses toyripatent protection of our intellectual

property.

We expect that general and administrative expengkescrease in the future as we expand our ojregeadctivities and incur additional
costs associated with operating as a public compEmgse public company related increases will yiketlude additional costs related to
personnel; legal, accounting and audit servicesgthrs’ and officers’ liability insurance premiupasd investor relations. In addition, if we
obtain marketing approval for beloranib, we wiltum significant sales and marketing expenses.

Other Income (Expense)

Interest incomelnterest income consists of interest earned orcasin equivalents and marketable securities. Oergstincome has not
been significant due to low interest earned onste balances. We anticipate that our interesiiecwill increase in the future due to
increased invested balances from cash proceedseddeom our IPO in June 2014 and the follow-ofedhg that we closed in January 2015.

Interest expensénterest expense consisted of interest expenseooutstanding convertible promissory notes atstiged interest rates
and interest expense related to the amortizatiatefgfrred financing costs associated with our isses of the convertible promissory notes. As
of December 31, 2012, all of our outstanding cotilier promissory notes and accrued interest had beeverted into shares of our
redeemable convertible preferred stock. As a resgltno longer incur interest expense relateditodbbt. Since March 2014, we have reco
interest expense for outstanding borrowings undgedit facility that we entered into on March 20,14, consisting of the stated interest of
8.1% per year due on outstanding borrowings, d fiagment of 6% of amounts drawn down that is beaaprded as interest expense over the
term through the maturity date using the effectiverest method, the amortization of deferred faiag costs, the accretion of debt discount
relating to the credit facility, and a fee whichsadue to the lender upon the completion of our IPO.

Foreign currency transaction gains (losses), Iir@ireign currency transaction gains (losses), nesists of the realized and unrealized
gains and losses from foreign currency-denomineasth balances, vendor payables andéteted receivables from the Australian governn
We currently do not engage in hedging activitidatesl to our foreign currency-denominated receiealind payables; as such, we cannot
predict the impact of future foreign currency tractfon gains and losses on our operating resws.*S-Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk.”
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Income Taxes

Since our inception in 2005, we have not recorded S. federal or state income tax benefits ferribt losses we have incurred in eact
year or our earned research and development tdksrdue to our uncertainty of realizing a beniéi those items. As of December !
2014, we had federal and state net operating Esgforwards of $17.0 million and $9.6 million, petively. Our federal net operating loss
carryforwards begin to expire in 2026 and our st&teoperating carryforwards begin to expire in@08&e also had federal and state research
and development tax credit carryforwards of $7.lfioni and $1.9 million, respectively, as of DecemBg&, 2014, which begin to expire in 2(
and 2021, respectively.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgmats and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with generally accepted accountiimgiples in the United States of
America. The preparation of our consolidated finainstatements and related disclosures requirés mske estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amount of assets, liabilitesenue, costs and expenses, and related disctosMeebelieve that the estimates and
assumptions involved in the accounting policiescdbed below may have the greatest potential impaaiur consolidated financial stateme
and, therefore, consider these to be our criticabanting policies. We evaluate our estimates asdraptions on an ongoing basis. Our actual
results may differ from these estimates under diffeassumptions and conditions. See also NoteoRiroéonsolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on ForrK1idr information about these critical accountipgjicies as well as a description of our
other significant accounting policies.

JOBS Act

On April 5, 2012, the Jumpstart Our Business Spartiict, or the JOBS Act, was signed into law. TB83 Act contains provisions that,
among other things, reduce certain reporting requénts for an “emerging growth company.” As an “ggimegy growth company,” we are
electing not to take advantage of the extendeditian period afforded by the JOBS Act for the iemplentation of new or revised accounting
standards and, as a result, we will comply with @ewevised accounting standards on the relevaesdm which adoption of such standards i
required for non-emerging growth companies. Section of the JOBS Act provides that our decisiontadake advantage of the extended
transition period is irrevocable.

As an “emerging growth company” we are relying #meo exemptions and reduced reporting requirem@otgded by the JOBS Act. As
such, we have elected not to (i) provide an auditmitestation report on our system of internaltama over financial reporting pursuant to
Section 404, (ii) provide all of the compensatigsctbsure that may be required of non-emerging gngwblic companies under the Dodd-
Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection &9 comply with any requirement that may beoated by the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory tfigih rotation or a supplement to the auditor'pad providing additional information
about the audit and the financial statements (audiscussion and analysis), and (iv) discloseategxecutive compensatigalated items sur
as the correlation between executive compensatidrparformance and comparisons of the Chief Exee@ifficer's compensation to median
employee compensation. These exemptions apply fferiad of five years following the completion afrdPO in June 2014 or until we no
longer meet the requirements of being an “emergnogvth company,” whichever is eatrlier.

Research and Development Expen:

As part of the process of preparing our consoldi&iteancial statements, we are required to estimateaccrued research and
development expenses. This process involves rerteopen contracts and purchase orders, commurdoatth our personnel and outside
vendors to identify services that have been perfdron our behalf and estimating the level of serpierformed and the associated costs
incurred for the services when we have not yet li@aviced or otherwise notified of the actual co3tise majority of our service providers
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invoice us in arrears for services performed, pneadetermined schedule or when contractual miest@re met; however, some require
advance payments. We make estimates of our acengehses as of each balance sheet date in ourlidaso financial statements based on
facts and circumstances known to us at that timantples of estimated accrued research and devetdmrpenses include fees paid to:

e contract research organizations, or CROs, in cdiorewith clinical trials;
» investigative sites or other providers in connecttidth clinical trials;
« vendors in connection with g-clinical development activities; at

» vendors related to product candidate manufactudagelopment and distribution of clinical suppli

We base our expenses related to clinical trialeworestimates of the services received and eféogpended pursuant to contracts with
multiple CROs that conduct and manage clinicalgra our behalf. The financial terms of these agrents are subject to negotiation, vary
from contract to contract and may result in unepayment flows. There may be instances in which gatmmade to our vendors will exceed
the level of services provided and result in a ayapent of the clinical expense, pre-clinical exggms manufacturing activities. Payments
under some of these contracts depend on factohsasuthe successful enrollment of patients andahgpletion of clinical trial milestones. In
accruing service fees, we estimate the time peri@d which services will be performed, enrolimehpatients, number of sites activated and
the level of effort to be expended in each peribthe actual timing of the performance of servioeshe level of effort varies from our
estimate, we adjust the accrual or prepaid accglglillithough we do not expect our estimates taragerially different from amounts actually
incurred, our understanding of the status and tjnoinservices performed relative to the actualustaind timing of services performed may \
and may result in us reporting amounts that aréhiglb or too low in any particular period. To dates have not made any material adjustment
to our prior estimates of accrued research andldgvent expenses.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have historically issued equity awards to emgésy directors and consultants, generally in tha faf options to purchase shares of
our common stock and, to a lesser extent, shamestificted common stock. We measure stock-basaddavgranted to employees and
directors at fair value on the date of grant amdbgaize the corresponding compensation expendwsétawards, net of estimated forfeitures,
over the requisite service period, which is gegtak vesting period of the respective award. Galhg we issue stock options and restricted
stock awards with only service-based vesting caomttand record the expense for these awards tlengraight-line method. We measure
stock-based awards granted to consultants and nogees at the fair value of the award on the datehich the related service is complete.
Compensation expense is recognized over the pdtiadg which services are rendered by such congsland nonemployees until completed
At the end of each financial reporting period ptmicompletion of the service, the fair value afgb awards is re-measured using the then-
current fair value of our common stock and updateslimption inputs in the Black-Scholes option-pgainodel.

We estimate the fair value of each stock optiomguaing the Black-Scholes option-pricing modeljchhuses as inputs the fair value of
our common stock and assumptions we make for ttadilty of our common stock, the expected ternoaf stock options, the riskee interes
rate for a period that approximates the expected tf our stock options and our expected divideiattly Until completion of our IPO in June
2014, we were a private company and lacked compgegific historical and implied volatility informah. Therefore, we estimated our
expected volatility based on the historical voigtibf our publicly traded peer companies and expecontinue to do so until such time as we
have adequate historical data regarding the vityatif our traded stock price. The expected terrowfoptions has been determined utilizing
the “simplified” method for awards that qualify ‘gdain-vanilla” options, while the expected termair options granted to consultants and
nonemployees has been determined based on thaciatrterm of the options. The risk-free interas¢ is determined by reference to the
U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the timegodint of the award for time
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periods approximately equal to the expected terth@hward. Expected dividend yield is based orfabethat we have never paid cash
dividends and do not expect to pay any cash diddémthe foreseeable future.

The assumptions we used to determine the fair waflséock options granted to employees and direcioe as follows, presented on a
weighted average basis (we did not grant any shptibns to employees or directors during the yedled December 31, 2012):

Year Ended
December 31
2014 2013
Risk-free interest rate 1.9(% 1.12%
Expected term (in year 6.2F 6.2¢F
Expected volatility 90% 85%
Expected dividend yiel 0% 0%

These assumptions represented our best estimatahghestimates involve inherent uncertaintiestaedapplication of our judgment. As
a result, if factors change and we use signifigatifferent assumptions or estimates, our stoaked compensation expense could be mate
different. We recognize compensation expense foy thie portion of awards that are expected to Vesieveloping a forfeiture rate estimate
for pre-vesting forfeitures, we have consideredtistorical experience of actual forfeitures. It duture actual forfeiture rate is materially
different from our estimate, our stock-based comsptian expense could be significantly differentiravhat we have recorded in the current
period.

The following table summarizes the classificatiémor stock-based compensation expenses recoginizad consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

(in thousands)
Research and developm $ 49C $17€ $ 68
General and administrati\ 1,06: 21¢ _ 53

$1,55¢ $39¢ $121
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Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2014 and3201
The following table summarizes our results of ofiers for the years ended December 31, 2014 and:201
Year Ended December 31 Increase

2014 2013 (Decrease
(in thousands)

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue $  — $ — $ —
Operating expense
Research and developm 27,39: 9,561 17,83(
General and administrati\ 8,141 4,21¢ 3,927
Total operating expens 35,53: 13,78( 21,75:
Loss from operation (35,53)) (13,780) (21,757)
Other income (expense
Interest incomi 28 — 28
Interest expens (870 — (870
Foreign currency transaction gains (losses) (104) (247) 142
Total other income (expense), | (94€) (247) (699
Net loss $ (36,479 $ (14,029 $(22,457)
Research and development expen
Year Ended December 31 Increase
2014 2013 (Decrease
(in thousands)
Direct research and development expenses by proi
Beloranib:
Pre-clinical and manufacturin $ 8,07 $ 2,89¢ $ 5,17¢
Clinical trials 4,64 2,98: 1,65¢
Licensing, milestone and licensing maintenance 7,01¢ — 7,01¢
Subtotal 19,73¢ 5,881 13,857
ZGN-839 and other early stage development activ 1,562 29t 1,267
Subtotal 21,30( 6,17¢ 15,12«
Unallocated expense
Personnel relate 3,261 1,25¢ 2,00z
Consultants 2,35¢ 1,981 37¢
Other 471 14¢€ 32E
Subtotal 6,091 3,38t 2,70¢
Total research and development expe! $ 27,39 $ 9,561 $ 17,83(

Research and development expenses for the yead @atember 31, 2014 increased $17.8 million conthtoehe year ended December 31,
2013. The increase was primarily due to increasstsmf $13.9 million associated with our belorgmibgram, $1.3 million associated with
ZGN-839 and other early-stage development prog(aorssisting of our second-generation MetAP2 inbits}, and $2.7 million in our
unallocated expenses. Of the increase in our b@lmmogram, pre-clinical and manufacturing costseased by $5.2 million period over
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period as a result of our focus on drug manufaetuaind other pre-clinical activities related todvahib in order to prepare for clinical trials, as
well as toxicology studies required for our NDA mubsion. Additionally, clinical trial expenses foeloranib increased by $1.7 million period
over period as a result of timing of our clinicdls in 2014 and 2013. Clinical trial activitieadertaken by our Australian subsidiary are
recorded net of a 45% research and developmeini¢artive from the Australian government. Lastigehsing, milestone and licensing
maintenance fees increased $7.0 million due tatihéevement of a milestone related to the initiatda first Phase 3 clinical trial in belorar
which we initiated in September 2014. Costs relédedGN-839 and other early-stage development airogrincreased in 2014 as a result of
our increased focus on our early-stage prograr@®1d. Unallocated expenses increased period ovirdpgrimarily due to an increase in
personnel related costs of $2.0 million and andase in consultant expenses of $0.4 million. Persdarosts increased due to 11 new
employees in 2014, which resulted in a $1.3 millierease in salaries, a $0.4 million increasednus, and a $0.3 million increase in stock
compensation. Consultant expenses increased dgalitional activity with regard to FDA meetingsiti@tion of clinical trials, and nonclinical
activity.

General and administrative expenses

Year Ended December 31 Increase
2014 2013 (Decrease

(in thousands)
Personnel relate $ 3,304 $ 1,35¢ $ 1,94¢
Professional fee 3,31« 2,46: 851
Travel and othe 1,52 39¢ 1,12¢
Total general and administrative expen $ 8,141 $ 4,21¢ $ 3,92:

General and administrative expenses for the yedgdkBDecember 31, 2014 increased $3.9 million coethtr the year ended
December 31, 2013. The increase was primarily duecreased personnel related costs of $1.9 mjllimreased travel and other related costs
of $1.1 million and increased professional fee$@® million period over period. Of the increasgarsonnel related expenses the hiring of
new employees increased $0.8 million, stock-basedpensation increased $0.8 million related to #ww amployees and bonuses increased
$0.3 million. The increase in travel and otherteddlecosts is the result of an increase in dire@ogsofficer’s insurance of $0.5 million due to
becoming a public company, an increase of $0.4amillelating to commercial marketing projects a8l @e various other increases including
information technology-related expenses to suppartoperating as a public company and increaseéceafént due to the office move in July
2014. The professional fees increase is primatily  $0.5 million of consulting fees, $0.2 milliohattorney fees, and $0.2 million increase
in fees for being a public company.

Other income (expense), net

Interest expensénterest expense for the year ended December 34, \®@s related to interest expense on our outstgrimbrrowings
under the credit facility that we entered into oarkh 31, 2014, consisting of $0.9 million of thatetl interest of 8.1% per year due on
outstanding borrowings, a final payment of 6% obamts drawn down that is being recorded as intengstnse over the term through the
maturity date using the effective-interest metttbd,amortization of deferred financing costs, drelaccretion of debt discount relating to the
credit facility, both approximately $0.1 millionnd $0.2 million related to a fee which was dueh lender upon the completion of our IPO.
We had no debt outstanding during 2013.

Foreign currency transaction gains (losses), gt foreign currency transaction losses of $0.lionilfor the year ended December 31,
2014 were primarily due to the re-measurement adivables, denominated in Australian dollars, fibea Australian government for research
and development tax incentives.
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 and?201

The following table summarizes our results of ofiere for the years ended December 31, 2013 and:201

Year Ended December 31 Increase
2013 2012 (Decrease
(in thousands)
Revenue $ — $ — $ —
Operating expense
Research and developm 9,561 11,54« (1,987
General and administratiy 4,21¢ 2,24 1,972
Total operating expens 13,78( 13,79: (11
Loss from operation (13,780 (13,79) 11
Other income (expense
Interest incomi — — —
Interest expens — (97) 97
Foreign currency transaction gains (losses) (247) 8 (259
Total other income (expense), | (247) (89) (15¢)
Net loss $(14,02) $ (13,880 $ (149
Research and development expenses
Year Ended December 31 Increase
2013 2012 (Decrease

(in thousands)
Direct research and development expenses by proi

Beloranib:
Pre-clinical and manufacturin $2,89¢ $ 4,365 $ (1,467)
Clinical trials 2,98: 2,437 54€
Licensing, milestone and license maintenance — 15C (150
Subtotal 5,881 6,952 (1,077
ZGN-839 and other ear-stage developmel 29t 2,19: (1,899
Subtotal 6,17¢ 9,14¢ (2,969

Unallocated expense

Personnel relate 1,25¢ 90z 35€
Consultants 1,981 1,371 61C
Other 14¢€ 12¢€ 20
Subtotal 3,38t 2,39¢ 98¢
Total research and development expel $9,561 $11,54¢ $ (1,989

Research and development expenses for the yead &wtember 31, 2013 were $9.6 million, comparedlltb.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012. The decrease of $1.@millas primarily due to the decreased costs of §illlbn associated with ZGN-839 and
other early-stage development programs (consistirayir second-generation MetAP2 inhibitors) andredased costs of $1.1 million associatec
with beloranib, partially offset by an increaseconsultant expenses of $0.6 million and an incr@apersonnel related costs of $0.4 million.
During 2013, we focused our research and developaféarts primarily on our ongoing clinical trialsr beloranib as opposed to our early-
stage programs. Expenses related to beloranib aesnieyear over year as a result of a $1.5 millesrehse in pre-clinical and manufacturing
expenses,
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partially offset by an increase of $0.5 millionfi@ur clinical trial expenses. Pre-clinical and mfacturing costs decreased year over year as
result of completing a significant portion of owev@lopment-enabling toxicology and other pre-chhictivities related to beloranib in 2012.
Clinical trial expenses for beloranib increasedsbys million year over year as a result of expemsesrred for our 12-week Phase 2a clinical
trial for severe obesity and for our $&ek Phase 2a clinical trial for PWS that were lmthoing in 2013, as compared to expenses inctor
our 12-week Phase 2a clinical trial for severe ipéisat started in 2012 and for our 4-week Phdselihical trial for severe obesity that was
started and completed in 2012. Expenses for ousd”Ba clinical trial for severe obesity, which feom the third quarter of 2012 through the
second quarter of 2013, were recorded net of as¥#arch and development tax incentive from theralign government of $1.2 million and
$0.6 million during the years ended December 3132thd 2012, respectively. Consultant costs inectay $0.6 million year over year
primarily due to expenses incurred in conjunctiathweur IND filing for our Phase 2a clinical tritdr PWS. Personnel related costs increased
by $0.4 million year over year primarily due to thieing of a new employee of $0.2 million and iresed stock-based compensation of $0.1
million.

General and administrative expenses

Year Ended
December 31, Increase
2013 2012 (Decrease

(in thousands)

Personnel relate $1,35¢ $ 91C $ 44¢
Professional fee 2,46: 947 1,51¢
Travel and othe 39¢ 39C 8
Total general and administrative expen $4,21¢ $2,247 $ 1,97¢

General and administrative expenses for the yededbDecember 31, 2013 were $4.2 million, compawekPt2 million for the year end:
December 31, 2012. The increase of $2.0 millioganeral and administrative expenses was primauniégtd increased professional fees of ¢
million and increased personnel related costs of $flllion year over year. The increase in profesal fees consisted primarily of a
$1.0 million increase in accounting and audit, legal investor relations fees due to ongoing bussiraetivities as well as an increase of $0.4
million related to two external market researchdis that were conducted in 2013. Personnel retadet increased by $0.4 million year over
year primarily due to employee salary and bonueegmes of $0.2 million and increases in s-based compensation of $0.2 million.

Other income (expense), net

Interest expenselnterest expense for the year ended Decembé3P, was related to interest on convertible proamisaotes issued in
August 2012 that were subsequently converted imdoes of our Series D redeemable convertible pefestock in November 2012. We hac
debt outstanding during 2013.

Foreign currency transaction gains (losses), iNgt foreign currency transaction losses of $0.2ionilfor the year ended December 31,
2013 were primarily due to the re-measurementadiv@bles, denominated in Australian dollars, fitim Australian government for research
and development tax incentives, reflecting bottrengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to the &akan dollar and an increase in our
receivable balances for such tax incentives dutiegyear ended December 31, 2013.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2014, we had cash and cashaqote and marketable securities totaling $115Ibomi We invest our cash in
money market funds, U.S. government securitieparate bonds, and commercial paper, with the psirobjectives to preserve principal,
provide liquidity and maximize income without si§joantly increasing risk.
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Since our inception in November 2005, we have eoegated any revenue and have incurred recurrinigsees. As of December 31,
2014, we had an accumulated deficit of $105.4 arillWe have funded our operations since inceptionasily through sales of redeemable
convertible preferred stock and, to a lesser exteriaugh the issuances of convertible promissotes In June 2014, we completed an IPO o
common stock with net proceeds of $102.7 millidteradeducting underwriting discounts and commissidVe also incurred offering costs of
$2.5 million related to the IPO.

On January 28, 2015, we completed a follow-on ofteof our common stock, which resulted in the 4l8,942,200 shares at a price of
$35.00 per share. We received net proceeds frorfollegv-on offering of $129.5 million based uporetprice of $35.00 per share and after
deducting underwriting discounts and commissiond, @stimated offering expenses.

On March 31, 2014, we entered into a loan and ggagreement, or the 2014 Credit Facility, whichyided for initial borrowings of
$7.5 million and additional borrowings of up to $.illion. On that same date, we received proceé®y.5 million from the issuance of
promissory notes under a term loan as part of @4 Zredit Facility. Of the additional $12.5 mili@f borrowings that was available to us,
$7.5 million was available to be drawn down ungp&mber 30, 2014 and $5.0 million was availableet@rawn down for a 30-day period
upon the completion of our IPO that occurred ineJ2614. We elected not to draw down the $7.5 milbothe $5.0 million and these amounts
are no longer available to us. All promissory nasssied under the 2014 Credit Facility are colklieed by substantially all of our personal
property, other than our intellectual property. fehare no financial covenants associated with éie fhcility; however, there are negative
covenants restricting our activities, includingiliations on dispositions, mergers or acquisiti@ms;umbering or granting a security interest in
our intellectual property; incurring indebtednesdiens; paying dividends; making certain investtseand certain other business transactions

Upon entering into this 2014 Credit Facility, weres@bligated to make monthly, interest-only payraent any term loans funded under
the 2014 Credit Facility until December 1, 2014 ahéreafter, to pay 36 consecutive, equal morittgallments of principal and interest from
January 1, 2015 through December 1, 2017. As petetims of the agreement, in June 2014, upon tmpledion of our IPO, the term of
monthly, interest-only payments was extended Jntile 1, 2015. Outstanding term loans under the 20édit Facility bear interest at an
annual rate of 8.1%. In addition, a final paymemqual to 6.0% of any amounts drawn under the fgasitdue upon the earlier of the maturity
date, acceleration of the term loans or prepaymkall or part of the term loans. We were also gdied to pay a separate fee upon any initial
public offering; a sale of substantially all of assets; or a merger, reorganization or sale ofatimg equity securities where existing voting
stockholders hold less than 50% of voting equiuséies after such transaction. During the yeateehDecember 31, 2014, we recorded
interest expense of $0.2 million relating to the faid to the lender upon completion of our IPO.

The following table summarizes our sources and aseash for each of the periods presented below:

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Cash used in operating activiti $(28,24)) $(15,00¢) $(13,589)
Cash used in investing activiti (57,319 ()] 2
Cash provided by financing activiti 108,14. 40,60: 22,05¢
Net increase in cash and cash equival $ 22,58¢ $ 25,58: $ 8,46¢
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Net cash used in operating activitit

During the year ended December 31, 2014, operatitigities used $28.2 million of cash, resultingrfr our net loss of $36.5 million,
partially offset by non-cash charges of $5.3 milliand net cash provided by changes in our opgrassets and liabilities of $3.2 million. Our
net loss was primarily attributed to research agektbpment activities related to our beloranib paog, licensing milestones and our general
and administrative expenses, as we had no reverthe period. Our net non-cash charges during ¢lae gnded December 31, 2014, consiste
primarily of common stock issued in lieu of a mitese payment of $3.6 million and stock-based comaton expense of $1.6 million. Net
cash provided by changes in our operating asset$ahilities during the year ended December 31L&Z@onsisted primarily of a $1.1 million
decrease in tax incentive receivable, $0.8 millimrease in accounts payable and a $2.3 milliorease in accrued expenses, partially offs:

a $1.1 million increase in prepaid expenses anerathrrent assets.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, operatitigities used $15.0 million of cash, primarilsuéting from our net loss of $14.0
million and from net cash used by changes in oerating assets and liabilities of $1.6 million, fily offset by non-cash charges of $0.7
million. Our net loss was primarily attributed ®search and development activities related to aeilbrand our general and administrative
expenses, as we had no revenue in the period.dsktused by changes in our operating assets dnidiga during the year ended
December 31, 2013, consisted primarily of a $1 oniincrease in our research and developmenineentive receivable from the Australian
government and a $0.8 million decrease in accrupdreses, partially offset by a $0.2 million deceeamsprepaid expenses and other current
assets and a $0.2 million increase in accountsip@y@ur net non-cash charges during the year eDédedmber 31, 2013, consisted primarily
of stock-based compensation expense of $0.4 miflimhunrealized foreign currency transaction los$&®.3 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, operatitigities used $13.6 million of cash, primarilsuvéting from our net loss of
$13.9 million, partially offset by non-cash chargé$0.2 million and by cash provided from chaniesur operating assets and liabilities of
$0.1 million. Our net loss was primarily attributedresearch and development activities relateslitdeloranib and ZGN-839 programs and
our general and administrative expenses, as wahaevenue in the period. Our net non-cash chatgesg the year ended December 31,
2012, primarily consisted of stock-based compeasatkpense of $0.1 million and neash interest expense of $0.1 million. Net cashigeal
by changes in our operating assets and liabilitietng the year ended December 31, 2012, congistetarily of a $1.0 million increase in
accounts payable and accrued expenses, partiéigtddy a $0.6 million increase in our research dexklopment tax incentive receivable fr
the Australian government and a $0.3 million inseem prepaid expenses and other current asseat@r€paid expenses and other current
assets, accounts payable and accrued expensedsmlaae affected by the timing of vendor invoicargl payments.

Net cash used in investing activitit

During the year ended December 31, 2014, we puechamrketable securities of $57.2 million. We gdaochased equipment of $0.1
million and paid a security deposit on our newafiease of $0.1 million. We used an immaterial amof cash during the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 to purchase propertegumgment.

Net cash provided by financing activitie

During the year ended December 31, 2014, net aashded by financing activities was $108.1 millias a result of proceeds of $102.7
million from our IPO, net of underwriting discourgad commissions, of $7.4 million from the issuaatdebt and of $0.4 million from
issuances of our Series E redeemable convertibfemped stock, the total of which was partiallyseff by payments of $2.3 million of offering
costs related to our IPO that were paid duringytee.
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During the year ended December 31, 2013, net aashded by financing activities was $40.6 millios a result of net proceeds of $6.0
million from issuances of our Series D redeemablevertible preferred stock and $34.8 million frassuances of our Series E redeemable
convertible preferred stock, partially offset bypeents of $0.2 million of offering costs made priorour IPO that we completed in June 2014

During the year ended December 31, 2012, net aastided by financing activities was $22.1 milliddet cash provided by financing
activities primarily resulted from net proceedss@6.1 million raised from issuances of our Serieed@emable convertible preferred stock an
Series D redeemable convertible preferred stocknahgroceeds of $6.0 million from the issuancearfvertible promissory notes.

Beloranib is still in clinical development and ZG&89 and our second-generation MetAP2 inhibitorsrmpre-clinical development. We
expect to continue to incur significant expensa$ianreasing operating losses for the foreseeaibled. We anticipate that our expenses will
increase substantially if and as we:

» advance the clinical development of belorarsiladreatment for obesity and hyperphagia in pttigith PWS through Phase 3
clinical trials;

« advance the clinical development of beloranib as@ment for patients with HIAC

e initiate IND-enabling studies and clinical deyament of ZGN-839 and our second-generation Met&Ribitors through the
initiation of Phase 1 clinical developme

» advance the clinical development of beloramsiladreatment for severe obesity in the generallptipn through a Phase 2b clinical
trial;

» seek to identify additional indications for beloitar

» seek to obtain regulatory approvals for our proaacididates

» add operational, financial and management inforomagiystems

e add personnel, including personnel to support codyct development and future commercializationt

e maintain, leverage and expand our intellectual erigpportfolio.

We expect that our existing cash and cash equitsatard marketable securities as of December 34,20¢ether with the net proceeds
of our follow-on offering, that was completed imdary 2015, of $129.5 million will enable us to fuour operating expenses and capital
expenditure requirements for at least the next @Bths. We have based this estimate on assumphiahsialy prove to be wrong, and we may
use our available capital resources sooner thacuwently expect. Because of the numerous risksuacdrtainties associated with the
development of beloranib, ZGN-839 and our secontegdion MetAP2 inhibitors and because the ex@mthich we may enter into
collaborations with third parties for developmenhtteese product candidates is unknown, we are ertaldstimate the amounts of increased
capital outlays and operating expenses associdatha&empleting the research and development ofoooduct candidates. Our future capital
requirements for beloranib, ZGN-839 and our seagageration MetAP2 inhibitors will depend on mangtdas, including:

» the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory revi
» the costs of future research and development desyincluding clinical trials

» the costs of preparing, filing and prosecufagent applications, maintaining and enforcingiotellectual property rights and
defending intellectual prope-related claims

» the extent to which we acquire o-license other products and technologies;

e our ability to establish any future collaboratianemgements on favorable terms, if at
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Until such time, if ever, as we can generate sultisigproduct revenue, we expect to finance ouh c¢eeseds through a combination of
equity offerings, debt financings, collaboratiosategic alliances and licensing arrangementsh&@xtent that we raise additional capital
through the sale of equity or convertible debt siéies, the ownership interest of our stockholdeilsbe diluted, and the terms of these
securities may include liquidation or other prefexes that adversely affect your rights as a comstackholder. Debt financing, if available,
may involve agreements that include covenantsitignior restricting our ability to take specific @mcts, such as incurring additional debt,
making capital expenditures or declaring divideadd may require the issuance of warrants, whictdgootentially dilute your ownership
interest. If we raise additional funds through abtirations, strategic alliances or licensing areamgnts with third parties, we may have to
relinquish valuable rights to our technologiesufatrevenue streams, research programs of beloaGiN-839 or our second-generation
MetAP2 inhibitors or grant licenses on terms thaymot be favorable to us. If we are unable toeraditional funds through equity or debt
financings when needed, we may be required to dihait, reduce or terminate our product developtr@rfuture commercialization efforts or
grant rights to develop and market beloranib, Z&G9-8r our second-generation MetAP2 inhibitors thatwould otherwise prefer to develop
and market ourselves.

Since our inception in 2005, we have not recordgd S. federal or state income tax benefits ferribt losses we have incurred in eact
year or our earned research and development tdksrdue to our uncertainty of realizing a beniéin those items. As of December
2014, we had federal and state net operating Esgforwards of $17.0 million and $9.6 million, pestively. Our federal net operating loss
carryforwards begin to expire in 2026 and our stetieoperating loss carryforwards begin to expir2030. As of December 31, 2014, we also
had federal and state research and developmeantedit carryforwards of $7.7 million and $1.9 nulii, respectively, which begin to expire in
2026 and 2021, respectively. We have not completgtddy to assess whether an ownership changeadjgraefined as a greater than 50%
change (by value) in the equity ownership of oupooate entity over a three-year period, has oecuor whether there have been multiple
ownership changes since our inception, due toitheficant costs and complexities associated witthsstudies. Accordingly, our ability to
utilize our tax carryforwards may be limited. Additally, U.S. tax laws limit the time during whithese carryforwards may be utilized agains
future taxes. As a result, we may not be ableke fall advantage of these carryforwards for fetlaral state tax purposes.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual gdgions at December 31, 2014 and the effect sulipadions are expected to have on
our liquidity and cash flow in future periods:

Payments Due by Perioc

Less Thar More Than
Total (2) 1- 3-
(3) 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years 5 Years
(in thousands)
Operating lease commitments $ 60: $ 22¢ $ 374 $ — $ —
Debt commitments (£ 9,06: 1,96t 7,09¢
Total (2)(3) $9,66¢ $ 2,19¢ $7,47: $ — $  —

(1) We entered into an operating lease for nevcefiipace in Boston, Massachusetts on May 15, 20fbttive as of July 28, 2014, with a
term expiring on July 31, 2017, and an option tterd the lease for three additional ye

(2) We have acquired exclusive rights to develdemad compounds and related know-how under licgrsgreements for beloranib with
two third parties. The licensing rights obligatetosnake payments to the licensors for license, fedsstones, license maintenance fees
and royalties. We are also responsible for patesggrution costs. We are obligated to make futulestone payments under these
agreements of up to $12.3 million, upon achieviegain pre-commercialization milestones, such ecell trials and government
approvals, and up to $12.5 million upon achieviagain product commercializatic
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milestones. In addition, under one of the licergr@@ments, we are obligated to pay up to $1.3anillvith respect to each subsequent
licensed product, if any, that is a new chemicakgrnFor the year ended December 31, 2014, werdecban expense of $7.0 million in
our consolidated financial statements, including$8illion that was paid in the form of our comm&tnck (valued at $3.6 million), for
milestones achieved under these licensing agresndening 2014. In addition, we will owe single-dighyalties on sales of commercial
products developed using these licensed technalpifjieny. We are obligated to pay to the licensopercentage of fees received if and
when we sublicense the technologies. As of Decer®bg2014, we had not yet developed a commercaalymt using the licensed
technologies and we had not entered into any srdie agreements for the technoloc

(3) We enter into contracts in the normal coursbusiness with clinical research organizationfimical trials, pre-clinical research studies
and testing, manufacturing and other services aodugts for operating purposes. These contractsrgiy provide for termination upon
notice, and therefore we believe that our-cancelable obligations under these agreementsoaraaterial.

(4) Debt commitments include principal, interest, aré¥afinal payment of the amounts drawn under tleglitfacility.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have during the periods presented, andawnot currently have, any off-balance sheengements, as defined under
Securities and Exchange Commission rules, sucblasanships with unconsolidated entities or finahpartnerships, which are often referred
to as structured finance or special purpose estigistablished for the purpose of facilitating ficiag transactions that are not required to be
reflected on our balance sheets.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014 R#&gsentation of Financial Statements—Going Concéitme new guidance addresses
management’s responsibility to evaluate whetheetieesubstantial doubt about an entitgbility to continue as a going concern and twigle
related footnote disclosures. Management'’s evalnahould be based on relevant conditions and stkat are known and reasonably
knowable at the date that the financial statemargsssued. The standard will be effective forftte interim period within annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Earbptdn is permitted. We are evaluating the efflat this guidance will have on our
consolidated financial statements.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure alout Market Risk
Interest Rate Fluctuation Risl

Our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable sexsuati of December 31, 2014 consisted of cash, igmestt securities, corporate bonds,
commercial paper, and money market accounts. Tiheapy objectives of our investment activities avgteserve principal, provide liquidity
and maximize income without significantly increagiisk. Our primary exposure to market risk is ia income sensitivity, which is affected
by changes in the general level of U.S. interasstaHowever, because of the short-term naturkeofristruments in our portfolio, a sudden
change in market interest rates would not be erpetct have a material impact on our financial cbodiand/or results of operation.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Foreign currency transaction exposure results pifiynfaom transactions with our CROs and other pdevs related to our clinical trials
that are denominated in currencies other thanuhetional currency of the legal entity in which th@nsaction is recorded by us, primarily the
Australian dollar. Any transaction gains or lossesulting from currency fluctuations is recordedaoseparate line in our consolidated
statement of
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operations. Net foreign currency transaction losg&9.1 million, $0.2 million, and $8,000 were oeded for the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.

Currently, our largest foreign currency exposuresthose with respect to the Australian dollar.a®eé to foreign currency exposures
existing as of December 31, 2014, a 10% unfavonadmieement in foreign currency exchange rates wexfibse us an increase in net loss. Fc
the year ended December 31, 2014, we estimated tha% unfavorable movement in foreign currencyharge rates would have increased
our net loss by $0.1 million. This amount is basad sensitivity analysis performed on our finahp@sition as of December 31, 2014. We
have experienced and we will continue to experid¢haduations in our net income (loss) as a resfifevaluing our assets and liabilities that

are not denominated in the functional currencyheféntity that recorded the asset or liabilityti#$ time, we do not hedge our foreign curre
risk.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Zafgen, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated badasheets and the related consolidated statenfenpei@tions and comprehensive loss, of
changes in redeemable convertible preferred stodlstockholders’ equity (deficit) and of cash flopresent fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Zafgen, Inc. and its subsiiia at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the reasutteir operations and their cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended Dece®ih014 in conformity with accounting principlgsnerally accepted in the United States
of America. These financial statements are thearsipility of the Company management. Our responsibility is to expresspaman on thes
financial statements based on our audits. We cdadwur audits of these statements in accordantetiné standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Thdaadards require that we plan and perform the dadibtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of malterisstatement. An audit includes examining, é@sé basis, evidence supporting the amc
and disclosures in the financial statements, asgpte accounting principles used and signifiestimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@riaWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbhsis for our opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 24, 2015
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ZAFGEN, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31

2014 2013
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 58,10: $ 35,51:
Marketable securitie 57,35¢ —
Tax incentive receivabl 391 1,617
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 1,34 224
Total current asse 117,19¢ 37,35¢
Property and equipment, r 79 37
Other asset 242 745
Total asset $ 117,51 $ 38,13¢
Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stoclkand Stockholder¢ Equity (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 2,34¢ $ 2,01¢
Accrued expense 3,17 90C
Notes payable, curre 1,381 —
Total current liabilities 6,901 2,91¢
Notes payable, net of discount, l-term 6,177 —
Total liabilities 13,07¢ 2,91¢

Commitments and contingencies (Note
Redeemable convertible preferred stock (Series,AG,BD and E), $0.001 par valt
No shares and 99,292,610 shares authorized at ece3h, 2014 and 2013, respectively; no shares an
94,483,404 shares issued and outstanding at Dec&hp2014 and 2013, respectively; aggregate
liquidation preference of $104,588 at December2813 — 103,79
Stockholder' equity (deficit):
Preferred stock; $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 anshiaoes authorized at December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively; no shares issued and outstandinge¢mber 31, 2014 and 20 — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 115,000,000 start®rized at December 31, 2014 and 2013;

22,879,160 and 729,391 shares issued and outstpatdidecember 31, 2014 and 2013, respecti 23 1
Additional paic¢in capital 209,83t 332
Accumulated defici (105,389 (68,907
Accumulated other comprehensive |i (35) —

Total stockholder equity (deficit) 104,44: (68,574
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferstdck and stockholde equity (deficit) $ 117,51¢ $ 38,13¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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ZAFGEN, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE LOSS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenue

Operating expense
Research and developm
General and administrati\

Total operating expens
Loss from operation
Other income (expense
Interest incom
Interest expens
Foreign currency transaction gains (losses)

Total other income (expense), |
Net loss
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stockedemption valu

Net loss attributable to common stockholc

Net loss per share attributable to common stocldrs|dasic and dilute
Weighted average common shares outstanding, badidited
Comprehensive los

Net loss

Other comprehensive los
Unrealized loss on marketable securi

Total other comprehensive la
Total comprehensive lo:

Year Ended December 31

2013

$ —

9,561
4,21¢

13,78(

(13,780)

(247

(247)

(14,02
(219)

$ (14,240

$ (19.59

729,00:

$(14,02)

$(14,02)

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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»
|

11,54«
2,245
13,79:

(13,79)

Qm
Lom\\I/

(13,88

L4

13,947
19.6¢
709,67¢

Bl

$(13,880)

$(13,880)
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ZAFGEN, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CO NVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(In thousands, except share data)

Balances at January 1, 201

Issuance of Series C redeemable convertible pesferr
stock, net of issuance costs of

Issuance of Series D redeemable convertible pesf
stock, net of issuance costs of ¢

Conversion of promissory notes and accrued intéoe
Series D redeemable convertible preferred s

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkrg

Stocl-based compensation expel

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stox
redemption valu

Net loss

Balances at December 31, 20!

Issuance of Series D redeemable convertible pesf
stock, net of issuance costs of

Issuance of Series E redeemable convertible pesferr
stock, net of issuance costs of $:

Repurchase and retirement of common stock, at

Stocl-based compensation expel

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stox
redemption valu

Net loss

Balances at December 31, 20!

Issuance of Series E redeemable convertible peef
stock, net of issuance costs of

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stox
redemption valu

Conversion of redeemable convertible preferredkstoc
common stocl

Issuance of common sto

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkrg

Issuance of common stock in lieu of milestone payr

Stocl-based compensation expel

Unrealized loss on marketable securi

Net loss

Balances at December 31, 20!

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.

Series A,B,C,Dand E

Redeemable Accumulated Total
Convertible Preferred Additional Other Stockholders’
Stock Common Stock Accumulated Comprehensive
Par Paid-in Equity
Shares Amount Shares Value Capital Deficit Loss (Deficit)
54,553,36 $ 40,57t 719,95 $ 1 3 83 $ (41,000 $ — $ (40,91¢)
7,808,401 7,067 — — — — — —
6,653,98! 8,99( — — — — — —
4,975,26! 6,08¢ — — — — _ _
— — 16,06¢ — 13 — — 13
— — — —_ 121 — — 121
— 67 — — (67) — — (67)
— — — — — (13,88() — (13,88()
73,991,01 62,78¢ 736,02( 1 15C (54,88() — (54,729
4,381,91 5,95¢ — — — — _ _
16,110,47 34,84+
— — (6,63%) — — — —
— — — — 39t — — 39t
— 213 — — (219) — — (213)
— — — — — (14,027 — (14,027
94,483,40 103,79 729,39: 1 332 (68,907 — (68,579
204,10: 442 — — — — — —
_ 92 — — (92) — — (92
(94,687,50) (104,33) 15,077,62 15 104,31t — — 104,33:
— — 6,900,00! 7 100,15 — — 100,16
— — 39¢ — 3 — — 3
— — 171,75 — 3,56¢ — — 3,56¢
— — — — 1,55 — — 1,558
— — — — — — (35) (35)
— — — _ — (36.479 = (36,479
— 3 — 22,879,16 $ 23 $ 209,83t $ (105,38) $ (35) $ 104,44
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ZAFGEN, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activitie:
Stoclk-based compensation expel
Non-cash interest expen
Depreciation expens
Common stock issued in lieu of milestone payn
Unrealized foreign currency transaction los
Premium on marketable securit
Amortization of discount on marketable securi
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Tax incentive receivabl
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Net cash used in operating activit
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of marketable securi
Purchases of property and equipm
Deposits
Net cash used in investing activiti
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertibfemped stocl
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable, netudise cost
Payments of debt offering cos
Issuance of convertible promissory notes, netafaace cosi
Proceeds from exercise of common stock opt
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of conasions and underwriting discoul
Payments of initial public offering cos
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Net increase in cash and cash equivaler
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

Supplemental disclosure of no-cash investing and financing activities
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stockedemption value

Deferred offering costs included in accounts pagald accrued expens
Conversion of redeemable preferred stock to comshack
Conversion of milestone liabilities to common st

Conversion of convertible promissory notes andwetinterest for shares of redeemable conver
preferred stocl
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for intere:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

$(36,479) $(14,02)  $(13,880

1,55¢ 39t 121
46 — 97

16 12 11
3,56¢ — —
93 25C —
(225) — —
31 — —

(1,12) 16 (26¢)
1,13¢ (1,237) (630)
81t 237 727
2,321 (799 234

(28,247 (15,009 (13,589

(57,200) — —
(58) (17) (@)
(57 —

(57,31 17) )
44z 40,79 16,05’
7,38¢ — —
(49) — —
— — 5,98¢

3 — 13

102,67: — —
(2,317) (19€) —

108,14 40,60 22,05¢

22,58¢ 25,58: 8,46¢

35,51 9,03t 1,467

$ 58,10 $35517 $ 9,93t

$ 92 $ 212 $ 67

$ 14¢ $ 547 $ —

$10433; $ — 0§ —
$ 356¢ $ — $ —
$ — $ — % 608¢
$ 632 $ — $ —
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ZAFGEN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per shareath)

1. Nature of the Business and Basis of Presentation

Zafgen, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated orv&lmber 22, 2005 under the laws of the State ofwaie. The Company is a
biopharmaceutical company dedicated to signifigaintiproving the health and well-being of patienffeeted by obesity and complex
metabolic disorders. Zafgen is focused on devetppvel therapeutics that treat the underlyingdgadal mechanisms through the MetAP2
pathway. Beloranib, the Company’s lead product idatd, is a novel, first-in-class, twice-weekly sutaneous injection being developed for
the treatment of multiple indications, including/see obesity in two rare diseases, Prader-Willdsgme and obesity caused by hypothalamic
injury, including craniopharyngioma-associated dyeand severe obesity in the general populatBince its inception, the Company has
devoted substantially all of its efforts to reséaaad development, recruiting management, acquapegating assets and raising capital.

The Company is subject to risks common to compani#se biotechnology industry including, but nimtited to, new technological
innovations, protection of proprietary technolodgpendence on key personnel, compliance with govenih regulations and the need to obtai
additional financing. Product candidates currentiger development will require significant additnesearch and development efforts,
including extensive pre-clinical and clinical testiand regulatory approval, prior to commercial@at These efforts require significant
amounts of additional capital, adequate persomfieddtructure, and extensive compliance-reporteqopobilities.

The Company’s product candidates are all in theeldgment stage. There can be no assurance th@btheany's research and
development will be successfully completed, thacphte protection for the Compasyntellectual property will be obtained, that grgducts
developed will obtain necessary government regojaapproval or that any approved products will benmercially viable. Even if the
Companys product development efforts are successful,unisertain when, if ever, the Company will genesgmificant revenue from prodt
sales. The Company operates in an environmenpal change in technology and substantial compaet#tiom pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies. In addition, the Compangeipendent upon the services of its employees@msliltants.

The consolidated financial statements include tuwwants of the Company and its wholly owned subsiels Zafgen Securities
Corporation, Zafgen Australia Pty Limited, and ZaigAnimal Health, LLC. All significant intercompatalances and transactions have been
eliminated.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieane been prepared in conformity with accountiriggiples generally accepted in
the United States of America (“GAAP”).

On June 24, 2014, the Company completed an iitialic offering (“IPO”) of its common stock, whiglksulted in the sale of 6,900,000
shares at a price of $16.00 per share. The Conmemeyved net proceeds from the IPO of approxim&i&l2,672 based upon the price of
$16.00 per share and after deducting underwritiagadints and commissions paid by the Company. Tdrepany also incurred offering costs
of $2,508 related to the IPO.

On January 28, 2015, the Company completed a fetlowffering of its common stock, which resulted in g#ade of 3,942,200 shares i
price of $35.00 per share. The Company receivegneeeds from the follow-on offering of approxilgt$129,500 based upon the price of
$35.00 per share after deducting underwriting dist®and commissions, and estimated offering exg®er&ee Note 16—Subsequent Events.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith GAAP requires management to make estimatesassumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, thelassire of contingent assets and liabilities atdae of the consolidated financial statements,
and the reported amounts of expenses during tlegtheg periods. Significant estimates and assumptieflected in these consolidated
financial statements include, but are not limitedthe accrual of research and development expamskthe valuation of common stock prio
the IPO and stock-based awards. Estimates aredpelily reviewed in light of changes in circumstasgcfacts and experience. Actual results
could differ from the Company’s estimates.

Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all short-term, highly ligudestments with original maturities of ninety dayr less at acquisition date to be
cash equivalents. Cash equivalents, which conkisiboaey market funds, U.S. government securitiegp@rate bonds, and commercial paper,
are stated at fair value.

Concentration of Credit Risk and of Significant Suppliers

Financial instruments that potentially expose tlenfany to concentrations of credit risk consistariily of cash and cash equivalents
and marketable securities. The Company has all@adltash equivalents and marketable securitiembas at two accredited financial
institutions in amounts that exceed federally irslimits. The Company does not believe that $uisject to unusual credit risk beyond the
normal credit risk associated with commercial bagkielationships.

The Company is dependent on third-party manufargucesupply products for research and developmettities in its programs. In
particular, the Company relies and expects to nastio rely on a small number of manufacturersifiply it with its requirements for the
active pharmaceutical ingredients and formulategjsirelated to these programs. These programs beuddversely affected by a significant
interruption in the supply of active pharmaceutiogredients and formulated drugs.

Marketable securities

Marketable securities consist of investments witinal maturities greater than ninety days. Thenpany has classified its investments
with maturities beyond one year as short term, dasetheir highly liquid nature and because suchketable securities represent the
investment of cash that is available for currerdgrafions. The Company considers its investmenfgimriof investments available-for-sale.
Accordingly, these investments are recorded awfire, which is based on quoted market priceseélimed gains and losses are reported as
component of accumulated other comprehensive indtoss) in stockholders’ equity (deficit). Realizgdins and losses and declines in value
judged to be other than temporary are included@svonent of other income (expense), net baseleospecific identification method. Wh
determining whether a decline in value is othentteanporary, the Company considers various factecijding whether the Company has the
intent to sell the security, and whether it is midtely than not that the Company will be requitedsell the security prior to recovery of its
amortized cost basis. Fair value is determineddasejuoted market prices.

Deferred Offering Costs

The Company capitalizes certain legal, accountimy@ther third-party fees that are directly asgedavith in-process equity financings
as other assets until such financings are consuatmAfter consummation of the equity financingstaeosts are recorded in stockholders’
equity (deficit) as a reduction of additional p&ideapital generated as a result of the offeringsa reduction to the carrying value of preferre
stock issued. As of December 31, 2014, the Compadyrecorded $148 of deferred offering costs, ohetlin other assets in the accompan
consolidated balance sheet, in contemplation oCivapany’s follow-on offering of its common stoekhich closed in January 2015. As of
December 31, 2013, the Company had recorded $7d8fefred offering costs, included in other assethe accompanying consolidated
balance sheet, in contemplation of the Company® dPits common stock, which closed in June 2014.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost lessragated depreciation. Depreciation expense is m@zed using the straighine methoc
over a five-year estimated useful life for bothriture and fixtures and office equipment. Expendisufor repairs and maintenance of assets a
charged to expense as incurred. Upon retiremesaler the cost and related accumulated depreciatiassets disposed of are removed from
the accounts and any resulting gain or loss isithed in loss from operations.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets consist of property and equipmeimgiived assets to be held and used are tested foveeahility whenever events
changes in business circumstances indicate thattinging amount of the assets may not be fullpvecable. Factors that the Company
considers in deciding when to perform an impairmemtew include significant underperformance of blusiness in relation to expectations,
significant negative industry or economic trends] aignificant changes or planned changes in teetithe assets. If an impairment review is
performed to evaluate a long-lived asset for recatviity, the Company compares forecasts of undisted cash flows expected to result from
the use and eventual disposition of the long-li@eslet to its carrying value. An impairment loss Midae recognized when estimated
undiscounted future cash flows expected to resnithfthe use of an asset are less than its carayimgunt. The impairment loss would be base
on the excess of the carrying value of the impaagskt over its fair value, determined based arodigted cash flows. To date, the Company
has not recorded any impairment losses on longHassets.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed adhducluded in research and development exparsesages, stock-based
compensation and benefits of employees, third-gayse fees and milestones and other operatemsds related to the Company’s research
and development activities, including facility-redd expenses and external costs of outside veetdgeEged to conduct pre-clinical studies,
manufacturing activities, and clinical trials. TBempany records research and development expeesefany research and development tax
incentives the Company is entitled to receive figgmernment authorities.

Research Contract Costs and Accruals

The Company has entered into various research englapment contracts with research institutions @hér companies both inside and
outside of the United States. These agreementgesaerally cancelable, and related payments arededas research and development
expenses as incurred. The Company records acéanastimated ongoing research costs. When evalyiétie adequacy of the accrued
liabilities, the Company analyzes progress of theliss, including the phase or completion of eventsices received and contracted costs.
Significant judgments and estimates are made ierchithing the accrued balances at the end of anyrtiag period. Actual results could differ
from the Company'’s estimates. The Company’s hishbaccrual estimates have not been materiallgwdifft from the actual costs.

Patent Costs

All patent-related costs incurred in connectiorhviiing and prosecuting patent applications amrded as general and administrative
expenses as incurred, as recoverability of suckredipures is uncertain.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures all stock options and otbek-4tased awards granted to employees and diregttine fair value on the date of
the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricingdeioThe fair value of the awards is recognizedxasense, net of estimated forfeitures, over
the requisite service period, which is generally vhsting period of the respective award. Thegittdine method of expense recognition is
applied to all awards with service-only conditions.

102



Table of Contents

For stock-based awards granted to consultants amelhmployees, compensation expense is recognizedte/period during which
services are rendered by such consultants and rplogees until completed. At the end of each finahe2porting period prior to completion
the service, the fair value of these awards is easured using the then-current fair value of thegamy’s common stock and updated
assumption inputs in the Black-Scholes option-pgainodel.

The Company classifies stock-based compensatiognsepn its consolidated statement of operatiodscamprehensive loss in the same
manner in which the award recipient’s payroll cases classified or in which the award recipiengvice payments are classified.

The Company recognizes compensation expense foitlalportion of awards that are expected to vesteveloping a forfeiture rate
estimate, the Company has considered its histogiqagrience to estimate pre-vesting forfeituress@wice-based awards.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using thet assl liability method, which requires the recdigmi of deferred tax assets and
liabilities for the expected future tax consequanaievents that have been recognized in the ciolaset! financial statements or in the
Company’s tax returns. Deferred taxes are deteiii@sed on the difference between the financigstant and tax basis of assets and
liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect ia tlears in which the differences are expecteduwerse. Changes in deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recorded in the provision for inceraxes. The Company assesses the likelihoodtshdtfierred tax assets will be recovered fron
future taxable income and, to the extent it bekewased upon the weight of available evidence itimmore likely than not that all or a
portion of deferred tax assets will not be realjzedlaluation allowance is established throughaagdito income tax expense. Potential for
recovery of deferred tax assets is evaluated yashg the future taxable profits expected andsaiering prudent and feasible tax planning
strategies.

The Company accounts for uncertainty in incomegareognized in the consolidated financial statémy applying a two-step process
to determine the amount of tax benefit to be retamgh First, the tax position must be evaluateddtermine the likelihood that it will be
sustained upon external examination by the taxitbaities. If the tax position is deemed moredljkihan-not to be sustained, the tax positior
is then assessed to determine the amount of béoeétognize in the consolidated financial stateisieThe amount of the benefit that may be
recognized is the largest amount that has a grears50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimagttlement. The provision for income
taxes includes the effects of any resulting taemass, or unrecognized tax benefits, that are densd appropriate as well as the related net
interest and penalties.

Segment Data

The Company manages its operations as a singleesgdar the purposes of assessing performance akthgnoperating decisions. The
Company’s singular focus is on advancing novelapeutics for patients suffering from severe obesity obesity-related disorders. No
revenue has been generated since inception, atahglble assets are held in the United States.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss includes net loss as well & otianges in stockholders’ equity (deficit) tregult from transactions and economic
events other than those with stockholders. Foy#ae ended December 31, 2014, the Company’s oeiyeait of other comprehensive loss wa
unrealized loss on marketable securities. For #as/ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, there wdifference between net loss and
comprehensive loss.
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Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Upon the closing of the Company’s IPO in June 2@ll49f the Company’s outstanding redeemable cdiblerpreferred shares were
converted into shares of common stock. Prior t® tinversion, the Company followed the talass method when computing net income (|
per share as the Company had issued shares thatimaekefinition of participating securities. Theotclass method determines net income
(loss) per share for each class of common andcpgzating securities according to dividends declanedccumulated and participation rights in
undistributed earnings. The tvatass method requires income available to commaresiolders for the period to be allocated betwesmneon
and participating securities based upon their rgsgerights to receive dividends as if all incofoethe period had been distributed. The
Company'’s redeemable convertible preferred shamesactually entitled the holders of such shargsatticipate in dividends, but did not
contractually require the holders of such shargmatticipate in losses of the Company. Accordinglg, two-class method did not apply for
periods in which the Company reported a net loss et loss attributable to common shareholderdtieg from dividends or accretion related
to its redeemable convertible preferred shares.

Basic net income (loss) per share attributableotoroon shareholders is computed by dividing thémeetme (loss) attributable to
common shareholders by the weighted average nuaflsemmon shares outstanding for the period. Dilutet income (loss) per share
attributable to common shareholders is computedilaging the diluted net income (loss) attributatdecommon shareholders by the weightec
average number of common shares, including potatilisive common shares assuming the dilutive @ffef outstanding stock options and
unvested restricted common shares, as determiregl the treasury stock method. For periods in whiithCompany has reported net losses,
diluted net loss per common share attributableotornon shareholders is the same as basic net lossipenon share attributable to common
shareholders, since dilutive common shares arasstmed to have been issued if their effect islidutive.

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncemés

In June 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsr&8¢‘FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update§WX) No. 2014-10,
Development Stage Entiti. The amendments in this guidance remove all inergai financial reporting requirements for develenistage
entities. Among other changes, this guidance waillanger require development stage entities togmeimception-to-date information about
income statement line items, cash flows, and edratysactions. This guidance is effective for pribbmpanies in the first annual period
beginning after December 15, 2014. Early applicatsopermitted for interim and annual periods fdrieh financial statements have not yet
been issued. The Company early adopted this guidanbe three months ended June 30, 2014 andieasilb, no longer discloses inception-
to-date information in its consolidated financittements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014 R&gsentation of Financial Statements—Going Concéitme new guidance addresses
management’s responsibility to evaluate whethertiesubstantial doubt about an enstgbility to continue as a going concern and twigle
related footnote disclosures. Management'’s evalnahould be based on relevant conditions and stkat are known and reasonably
knowable at the date that the financial statemargsssued. The standard will be effective forftte interim period within annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Earbptdn is permitted. The Company is evaluatingeffect that this guidance will have on
consolidated financial statements.

104



Table of Contents

3. Fair Value Measurements and Marketable Securitie
Fair Value Measurements

The following tables present information about @@mpanys financial assets that have been measured ataflaie at December 31, 20
and 2013, and indicate the fair value of the hidmarof the valuation inputs utilized to determinels fair value. In general, fair values
determined by Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prif@sadjusted) in active markets for identical aseetgabilities. Fair value determined by
Level 2 inputs utilize observable inputs other thamel 1 prices, such as quoted prices, for sinaitaets or liabilities, quoted market prices in
markets that are not active or other inputs thatdaservable or can be corroborated by observabtkandata for substantially the full term of
the related assets or liabilities. Fair values mheiteed by Level 3 inputs are unobservable datatpdar the asset or liability, and includes
situations where there is little, if any, marketivty for the asset or liability.

The following tables summarize the Company’s caghivalents and marketable securities as of Dece®be?014 and 2013:

December 31, 201.

Significant
Quoted Other Significant
Prices in Observable Unobservable
Active
Markets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents:
Money market fund $14,74. $14,74: $ — $ —
U.S. government securitis 27,76 — 27,76. —
Total cash equivalen 42,50¢ 14,74: 27,767 —
Marketable securities:
U.S. government securitit 34,19: — 34,19 —
Corporate bond 22,16¢ — 22,16¢ —
Commercial pape 1,00( — 1,00( —
Total marketable securiti¢ 57,35¢ — 57,35¢ —
Total cash equivalents and marketable secul $99,86¢ $14,74. $ 85,12¢ $ —
December 31, 201.
Significant
Quoted Other Significant
Prices in Observable Unobservable
Active
Markets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents:
Money market fund $26,50: $26,50: $ — $ —
$26,50: $26,50: $ = $ =

The carrying amounts reflected in the consolidéi@dnce sheets for tax incentive receivable, adsquayable, and accrued expenses
approximate fair value due to their short-term migs. The carrying value of the Company’s outdiag notes payable approximates fair
value (a level 2 fair value measurement), reflectiscount rates currently available to the Company
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Marketable Securities

The following table summarizes the Company’s matlet securities as of December 31, 2014:

December 31, 201

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Assets:

U.S. government securities (due within 1 ye $ 34,20( $ — $ (9) $ 34,19:
Corporate bonds (due within 1 ye 18,71¢ — (18) 18,69¢
Corporate bonds (due after 1 year through 2 v« 3,47¢ — (8) 3,47(
Commercial paper (due within 1 ye; 1,00(¢ — — 1,00(
$ 57,39¢ $ — $ 35) $ 57,35¢

The Company did not have marketable securitieseaeBber 31, 2013.

4. Property and Equipment, net
Property and equipment, net consisted of the faligvas of December 31, 2014 and 2013:

December 31

2014 2013

Office equipment $ 79 $ 27
Furniture and fixture 50 44
28 71

Less: Accumulated depreciati _(50) (39
79 37

Depreciation expense was $16, $12 and $11 forehesyended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, teghec

5. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consisted of the following aseddbnber 31, 2014 and 2013:

December 31

2014 2013

Accrued payroll and related expenses $1,23¢ $ 49
Accrued research and development expe 1,18( 61€
Accrued professional fet 58t 19¢
Accrued othe 16¢ _ 39
$3,172 $90C

6. Notes Payable

On March 31, 2014, the Company entered into a fm@hsecurity agreement with Oxford Finance LLC Khidcap Financial (the “Credit
Facility”). The Credit Facility provides for initidorrowings of $7,500 under a term loan (“Term b@¥) and additional borrowings of up to
$12,500 under other term loans, for a maximum & &20. On March 31, 2014, the Company receivedgads of $7,500 from the issuance o
promissory notes under the Term Loan A. Of the tmtthl $12,500 amount that was available, $7,50@1th Loan B”) was
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available to be drawn down until September 30, 281d $5,000 (“Term Loan C") was available to beadralown for a 3Gay period upon tr
completion of the Company’s IPO that occurred ineJ2014. The Company elected not to draw down Teyam B or Term Loan C and these
amounts are no longer available to the Companypriissory notes issued under the Credit Fadalig/collateralized by substantially all of
the Company’s personal property, other than ielledttual property.

Upon entering into this Credit Facility, the Compawas obligated to make monthly, interest-only pagts on any term loans funded
under the Credit Facility until December 1, 2014 ahereafter, to pay 36 consecutive, equal morttgiallments of principal and interest fr(
January 1, 2015 through December 1, 2017. As petettms of the agreement, in June 2014, upon tmletion of the Company’s IPO, the
term of monthly, interest-only payments were exeshdntil June 1, 2015. Outstanding term loans utigeCredit Facility bear interest at an
annual rate of 8.1%. In addition, a final paymeqia to 6.0% of any amounts drawn under the Creatiflity is due upon the earlier of the
maturity date, acceleration of the term loans eppyment of all or part of the term loans. The Canypaccrues the final payment amount due
relating to Term Loan A of $450, to outstanding td@pcharges to interest expense using the efieatierest method from the date of issua
through the maturity date.

Term Loan A was recorded in the balance sheetfreght discount of $114 that was related to fesgssed by the lender at the time of
borrowing. The debt discount is being accretedhéoprincipal amount of the debt. In addition, defdrfinancing costs of $49 are being
amortized to interest expense using the effectiterést method over the same term. For the yeadeDdcember 31, 2014, the company
recorded additional interest expense of $50 relatelde accretion of debt discount and amortizatibdeferred financing costs. The effective
annual interest rate of the outstanding debt utideCredit Facility is approximately 14%.

The Company was obligated to pay a separate fee aipp IPO; a sale of substantially all of the Compaassets; or a merger,
reorganization or sale of the Company’s voting Bgseécurities where existing voting stockholderkiHess than 50% of voting equity
securities after such transaction.

There are no financial covenants associated wéld#bt facility; however, there are negative comemeestricting the Company’s
activities, including limitations on dispositiomagrgers or acquisitions; encumbering or grantisgaurity interest in its intellectual property;
incurring indebtedness or liens; paying dividendaking certain investments; and certain other lassniransactions.

The Credit Facility also includes events of defatlié occurrence and continuation of any of whidvjales the lenders the right to
exercise remedies against the Company and thaamall@ecuring the loans under the Credit Faciiityluding cash. These events of default
include, among other things, failure to pay any ants due under the Credit Facility, insolvency, dbeurrence of a material adverse event
occurrence of any default under certain other itefifiiess and a final judgment against the Compaay eimount greater than $250.

Notes payable consist of the following:

December 31

2014
Notes payabli $ 7,50(
Less: current portio (1,38
Notes payable, net of current porti 6,11¢
Debt discount, net of accretis (79
Accretion related to final payme 137
Notes payable, net of discount, long te $ 6,17
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Estimated future principal payments due under tnlLoan A are as follows:

Years Ending December 3:

2015 $1,381
2016 2,93¢
2017 3,18¢

Total $7,50(

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coynanognized $870 of interest expense relatedecCtiedit Facility.

The Company had no debt outstanding as of Decefihe2013.

7. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

As of December 31, 2013, the Company’s Certificdtincorporation, as amended and restated, autttbtlre Company to issue
99,292,610 shares of $0.001 par value preferrak sto

The Company has previously issued Series A, SBri&eries C, Series D and Series E redeemable ddneereferred stock
(collectively, the “Redeemable Preferred StockheTRedeemable Preferred Stock was classified @utdidtockholders’ equity (deficit)
because the shares contain redemption features/¢gnatnot solely within the control of the Company.

In February 2012, the Company issued 7,808,40@sh#rSeries C redeemable convertible preferrezk stban issuance price equal to
$0.9061 per share and received gross proceeds@ % 71n connection with this financing, the Compaiaid total issuance costs of $8.

In November 2012, the Company issued 6,653,98&sludrSeries D redeemable convertible preferrezksiban issuance price equal to
$1.3592 per share and received gross proceeds@f49n connection with this financing, the Compaaid total issuance costs of $54.
Additionally, in November 2012, $6,000 of convelgipromissory notes and $86 of accrued interes¢ wenverted into 4,975,260 shares of
Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock.

In January 2013, the Company issued 4,381,914 sloai®eries D redeemable convertible preferrecksiban issuance price equal to
$1.3592 per share and received gross proceeds@863n connection with this financing, the Compaiaid total issuance costs of $1.

In November 2013, the Company issued 16,110,47% sl Series E redeemable convertible prefermzksit an issuance price equa
$2.1725 per share and received gross proceed$S@®&B In connection with this financing, the Compgaid total issuance costs of $156.

In February 2014, the Company issued 204,101 slo&@sries E redeemable convertible preferred sabel issuance price equal to
$2.1725 per share and received gross proceedsi8f $i#iconnection with this financing, the Compgayd total issuance costs of $1.
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Redeemable Preferred Stock consisted of the fatigwais of December 31, 2013:

Common
Preferred Stock Issuable
Preferred Shares Liquidation
Shares Issued and Carrying Upon
Authorized Outstanding Preference Value Conversion
Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock 5,363,23! 5,363,23' $ 2,25( $ 2,22¢ 854,01¢
Series B redeemable convertible preferred s 40,266,24 40,266,24 30,40: 30,35! 6,411,82;
Series C redeemable convertible preferred s 16,732,28 16,732,28 15,16: 15,14« 2,664,371
Series D redeemable convertible preferred s 16,011,16 16,011,16 21,77¢ 21,22¢ 2,549,54i
Series E redeemable convertible preferred s 20,919,67 16,110,47 35,00( 34,845 2,565,36.

99,292,61 94,483,40 $104,58¢ $103,79 15,045,12

During the year ended December 31, 2014 all prefeshares issued and outstanding were convertesl@@ 7,621 shares of common
stock.

Prior to the Company’s IPO, the holders of the Red&ble Preferred Stock had the following rights prederences:

Voting Rights

The holders of Redeemable Preferred Stock werdezhtd vote, together with the holders of commtmtls, on all matters submitted to
stockholders for a vote. Holders of all Redeem&loeferred Stock had the right to vote the numbeshafes equal to the number of shares of
common stock into which such Redeemable Preferteck®ould convert on the record date for detertivmeof stockholders entitled to vote.

Dividends

The Company could not declare, pay or set asidalafigends on shares of any other class or sefieapital stock of the Company
unless the holders of the Redeemable Preferred 8tea outstanding first received a dividend orheaatstanding share of Redeemable
Preferred Stock in an amount at least equal to (e case of a dividend on common stock or aagscbr series that was convertible into
common stock, that dividend per share of Redeenfaferred Stock as would equal the product oft{@)dividend payable on each share of
such class or series determined, if applicablé,akshares of such class or series had beenartetvinto common stock and (B) the numbe
shares of common stock issuable upon conversiansbfire of Redeemable Preferred Stock, or (ifiéncase of a dividend on any class or
series that was not convertible into common statl, rate per share of Redeemable Preferred Stteknined by (A) dividing the amount of
the dividend payable on each share of such classr@s of capital stock by the original issuangespof such class or series of capital stock
(subject to appropriate adjustment in the evemtnyfstock dividend, stock split, combination ofotier similar recapitalization affecting such
shares) and (B) multiplying such fraction by an amtcequal to the Original Issue Price (as defineldw) of each series of Redeemable
Preferred Stock. If the Company declared, paicebaside, on the same date, a dividend on sharesm@f than one class or series of capital
stock of the Company, the dividend payable to thiddrs of the Redeemable Preferred Stock would beee calculated based upon the
dividend on the class or series of capital stoelt tould have resulted in the highest RedeemalgifePed Stock dividend. The Original Issue
Price for Series A, Series B, Series C, Seriesd3aries E redeemable convertible preferred st@ak$0.419463, $0.75503, $0.9061, $1.2
and $2.1725, respectively, per share, subjectpoogpiate adjustment in the event of any stockddimid, stock split, combination or other
similar recapitalization with respect to the Redabla Preferred Stock.

Liguidation Preference

In the event of any liquidation, voluntary or inuatary, exclusive out-license of all or substahtiall of the intellectual property of the
Company, dissolution or winding up of the Companyeemed Liquidation Event (as defined below), $legies A, Series B, Series C, Series
D and Series E redeemable convertible
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preferred stockholders were entitled to receivereference to all other stockholders, and to #terg available, an amount equal to the
Original Issue Price per share, adjusted for aogkstlividends, stock splits or reclassificationsispall dividends declared but unpaid. In the
event that proceeds were not sufficient to permaytnpent in full to these holders, the proceeds wbalte been ratably distributed among the
Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D and Serfedders in proportion to the full preferential ammb each such holder was otherwise entitled
to receive.

After payments had been made in full to the holdétbe Series A, Series B, Series C, Series DSmriks E redeemable convertible
preferred stock, then, to the extent availabledéia of the common stock and holders of the Sévi&eries B, Series C, Series D and Series |
redeemable convertible preferred stock would haeeived the remaining amounts available for digtidm ratably in proportion to the numt
of common shares held by them or issuable to theom gonversion of their redeemable convertiblegirefl stock into common stock. The
distributions were subject to an overall distribatiimit of the greater of (i) two times the amotim holders of the Redeemable Preferred ¢
were entitled to based on their preference paymeat(ii) the amount such holder would have receif/edch holder had converted shares of
the Redeemable Preferred Stock into common stootendiately prior to such dissolution, liquidationckisive out-license of all or
substantially all of the intellectual property,winding up of the Company or Deemed Liquidation ii&ve

Unless the holders of at least 70% of the thentaning shares of the Redeemable Preferred Stotkgwogether as a single class or
as-converted basis, elected otherwise, a Deemeddation Event included a sale of the Company @ afthe capital stock representing a
majority of the voting power or a merger or condation of the Company into or with another corporatn which the existing Company held
less than a majority of the voting power of thevating or resulting corporation, or the sale, legsansfer, exclusive license or other
disposition, in a single transaction or seriesetdited transactions, by the Company of all or sniigtlly all of the assets of the Company.

Conversion

Each share of Redeemable Preferred Stock was dinl@eénto common stock at the option of the staalkller at any time after the date of
issuance. Each share of the preferred stock auiatiptconverted into shares of common stock, atapplicable Series A, Series B, Series C,
Series D and Series E redeemable convertible peefstock conversion ratio then in effect, upomalified public offering with net proceeds
of not less than $35,000. The conversion ratidfvef3eries A, Series B, Series C, Series D andsSEnedeemable convertible preferred stock
as defined, was determined by dividing the Origiaale Price of each series of preferred stockbyConversion Price of each series. The
Conversion Price of each series was $2.63422768dunes A, $4.7415884 for Series B, $5.690308 &1eS C, $8.535776 for Series D and
$13.6433 for Series E. The Conversion Price wagsttd adjustment as set forth in the Company'gifimte of Incorporation, as amended
and restated, unless at least a majority of thieSérholders, at least 70% of each of Series Bastes C holders, at least 65% of Series D
holders and at least a majority of the Series Edrs| voting separately as a class with respebiio series, agreed that no such adjustment
would be made to their series. As of December 8132all outstanding shares of Series A, SerieSeBies C, Series D and Series E
redeemable convertible preferred stock were coitlerinto common stock on a 6.28-for-1 basis.

Redemption Rights

At the written election of at least 70% of the teglslof the Series A, Series B, Series C, Seriesd&aries E redeemable convertible
preferred stock, voting together as a single abasan as-converted basis, the shares of Seriesrfes3B, Series C, Series D and Series E
redeemable convertible preferred stock outstandierg redeemable, at any time on or after NovemBg2@17, in three equal annual
installments commencing sixty days after receighefrequired vote at the Original Issue Pricegbere of Series A, Series B, Series C,
Series D and Series E redeemable convertible peefstock plus all declared but unpaid dividendsehn.

The carrying values of the Series A, Series B,636d, Series D and Series E redeemable conveptiglerred stock were being accreted
to their redemption values through their respeatagemption dates.
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8. Stockholders’ Equity

On June 5, 2014, the Company effected a 1-for-G&28rse stock split of its issued and outstandiragess of common stock and a
proportional adjustment to the existing conversiatios for each series of redeemable convertitdéepred stock. Accordingly, all share and
share amounts for all periods presented in thessotidated financial statements and notes themte been adjusted retroactively, where
applicable, to reflect this reverse stock split adglistment of the redeemable convertible prefesteck conversion ratios.

On June 24, 2014, the Company completed an IP@ obimmon stock, which resulted in the sale of 8,800 shares at a price of $16.00
per share. The Company received net proceeds frertPO of $102,672 based upon the price of $16e0GIpare and after deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions paid byGbenpany. The Company also incurred offering cob®2¢508 related to the IPO.

Upon closing of the IPO, all outstanding sharethefCompany’s redeemable convertible preferredksiamre converted into 15,077,621
shares of common stock.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company’s Certificdtlncorporation, as amended and restated, auttotie Company to issue
5,000,000 shares of $0.001 par value preferredksidee rights, preferences, restrictions, qualffaas and limitations of such stock are to be
determined by the Company'’s board of directors.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Compafgrtificate of Incorporation, as amended anchtedt authorizes the Company to is
115,000,000 shares of $0.001 par value common stock

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coyngacquired and retired 6,635 shares of restricbadmon stock, at cost, that were
forfeited by a former employee.

9. Stock-Based Awards
Stock Option Plans

The Company’s Amended and Restated 2006 Stock ©pten (the “2006 Plan”) provided for the Compamgell or issue common
stock or restricted common stock, or to grant itigerstock options or nonqualified stock optionstfte purchase of common stock, to
employees, members of the board of directors anduttants of the Company. The 2006 Plan was adtanaid by the board of directors, or at
the discretion of the board of directors, by a cottam of the board. The exercise prices, vestirdyaher restrictions were determined at the
discretion of the board of directors, or a commaitbé the board of directors if so delegated, extsgithe exercise price per share of stock
options could not be less than 100% of the fairk@tavalue of the share of common stock on the diaggant and the term of stock option
could not be greater than ten years. The total mummbshares of common stock that could have besred under the 2006 Plan was 1,889,15
shares. Upon closing of the Company'’s IPO, 168gtites reserved and not then subject to outstapginons were transferred to the 2014
Stock Option and Incentive Plan, and no furtherrawavill be made under the 2006 Plan.

On June 5, 2014, the Company'’s stockholders apdrthee2014 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (thelZR8tock Option Plan”), which
became effective upon the completion of the IP@hefCompanys shares of common stock in June 2014. The 201ek &)ption Plan provide
for the grant of stock options, stock appreciatights, restricted stock, restricted stock unitgestricted stock, performance-share awards an
cash-based awards. The number of shares initiedlgrved for issuance under the 2014 Stock Optian iBI2,168,221 shares of common stock
and may be increased by the number of shares timel@006 Plan that are not needed to fulfill thenany’s obligations for awards issued
under the 2006 Plan as a result of forfeiture, @tjain, cancellation, termination or net issuarafegwards thereunder. The number of shares
common stock that may be issued under the plalsassabject to increase on the first day of eastaliyear by the lesser of (i) 4% of the
Company'’s outstanding shares of common stock #sabidate, or (ii) an amount determined by the t@ddirectors.
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The Company generally grants stock-based awardisssitvice conditions only (“service-based” awards).

As required by the 2006 Plan and 2014 Stock O®lam, the exercise price for stock options gramdett to be less than the fair value
of common shares as of the date of grant. PritieédPO, the value of common stock was determineithé board of directors by taking into
consideration its most recently available valuatbeommon shares performed by management ancdotirel lof directors as well as additional
factors which might have changed since the dateeomost recent contemporaneous valuation thrdugdate of grant.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coyngiamted stock options for the purchase of 698%#%es of common stock, of
which options for the purchase of 697,050 share® gmnted to employees and options for the puechfi$,592 shares were granted to a
consultant.

2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On June 5, 2014, the Company'’s stockholders apgdrthee2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. A totaé6f000 shares of common
stock were reserved for issuance under this plaa.ZD14 Employee Stock Purchase Plan became effeqibn the completion of the IPO of
the Company’s shares of common stock. The firgroff) period commenced on September 1, 2014 aretlerrd December 31, 2014. The per
share purchase price for offerings is equal tdakser of 85% of the closing market price of thenpany’s common stock on the first day or
last day of the offering period. As of December 2114, there are 265,000 shares of common stodlableafor issuance to participating
employees under the plan.

Stock Option Valuation

The fair value of each stock option grant is estédan the date of grant using the Black-Scholé®oypricing model. The Company
historically has been a private company and lackspany-specific historical and implied volatilityformation. Therefore, it estimates its
expected stock volatility based on the historicahtility of a publicly traded set of peer compan@nd expects to continue to do so until such
time as it has adequate historical data regardiagolatility of its own traded stock price. Thepexted term of the Company’s stock options
has been determined utilizing the “simplified” madhfor awards that qualify as “plain-vanilla” opt& The expected term of stock options
granted to nonemployees is equal to the contrateuaal of the option award. The risk-free interederis determined by reference to the
U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the timegadnt of the award for time periods approximatejya to the expected term of the award.
Expected dividend yield is based on the fact that@ompany has never paid cash dividends and diwexpect to pay any cash dividends in
the foreseeable future. The assumptions that tinep@oy used to determine the fair value of the stgatlons granted to employees and
directors are as follows, presented on a weightedage basis (the Company did not grant any stptkres to employees or directors during
the year ended December 31, 2012):

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013
Risk-free interest rate 1.9(% 1.12%
Expected term (in year 6.2¢F 6.2¢F
Expected volatility 90% 85%
Expected dividend yiel 0% 0%
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The following table summarizes the Company’s stoption activity since December 31, 2013:

Weighted Average
Remaining
Shares Issuabl Average Contractual Aggregate
Exercise Intrinsic
Under Options Price Term Value
(In years)
Outstanding as of December 31, 201 1,310,33! $ 1.8¢ 7.8 $ 10,18t
Granted 698,64 15.5¢
Exercisec (39¢) 6.7¢
Forfeited —
Outstanding as of December 31, 2014 2,008,57 $ 6.6f 7.7 $222,58:
Options vested and expected to vest as of Decemi3dr, 2014 2,008,57. $ 6.6 7.7 $222,58:
Options exercisable as of December 31, 2014 916,81¢ $ 1.6 6.3 $ 26,76

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock optionsalswulated as the difference between the exercise pf the stock options and the fair
value of the Company’s common stock for those stjqutions that had exercise prices lower than thievédue of the Company’s common
stock. The aggregate intrinsic value of stock optiexercised was $195 and $12 during the yearsidbeeember 31, 2014 and 2012,
respectively. No stock options were exercised dutie year ended December 31, 2013.

The Company received cash proceeds from the eravtistock options of $3 and $13 during the yeaded December 31, 2014 and
2012, respectively.

The weighted average grant-date fair value of saptions granted to employees and directors duhiag/ears ended December 31, 201+
and 2013 was $11.73 and $1.83 per share, respgcfiee Company did not grant stock options to emeés or directors in 2012. The grar
stock options in 2012 was to a consultant.

As of December 31, 2014, there were outstandingsted service-based stock options held by nonerapfofor the purchase of 13,205
shares of common stock. Additionally as of Decen®igr2014, there were outstanding unvested perfiocerhased stock options held by
nonemployees for the purchase of 796 shares of amstock.

Restricted Common Stock

The 2006 Plan provides for the award of restrictedk. The Company has granted restricted comnumk stith time-based vesting
conditions. Unvested shares of restricted commackginay not be sold or transferred by the holdaesE restrictions lapse according to the
time-based vesting conditions of each award. Thagamy values restricted common stock on the gratet asing the grant-date market price
of the Company’s common stock.

The aggregate intrinsic value of restricted stogfrals that vested during each of the years endedrbiger 31, 2013 and 2012 was $38
and $22, respectively. The aggregate intrinsicevalurestricted stock awards is calculated as ifierence between the grant-date fair value of
the restricted stock awards and the fair valuénefGompany’s common stock. The Company did nottgran restricted stock awards during
the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 or 2018f Becember 31, 2014 and 2013, there were no tewesstricted stock awards subject
to repurchase.
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Stock-based Compensation

The Company recorded stock-based compensation egpelated to stock options and restricted comntaeksn the following expense
categories within its statements of operations:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Research and development $ 49C % 17¢ % 68
General and administrati 1,06: 21¢ 53
$ 155 % 390 % 12!

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had an aggre§&8,357 of unrecognized stock-based compeanmsatst, which is expected to
be recognized over a weighted average period of&ags.

10. Net Loss Per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributabsammon stockholders was calculated as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributabtmmon stockholder
Numerator:
Net loss $ (36,479 $ (14,027) $ (13,880
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stociedemption valu (92 (219 (67)
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (36,5700 $ (14,240 $ (13,94
Denominator
Weighted average common shares outstanding, badidikted 12,189,15 729,00: 709,67¢
Net loss per share attributable to common stoclkdrs|dasic and dilute $ (3.000 % (19.59 % (19.6%)

The Company excluded the following common stockiejants, outstanding as of December 31, 2014, 2032012, from the
computation of diluted net loss per share attribletéo common stockholders for the years ended mbee 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 because
they had an anti-dilutive impact due to the nes laiributable to common stockholders incurredtierperiods:

As of December 31

2014 2013 2012
Options to purchase common stock 2,008,57 1,310,33 591,42
Unvested restricted common stc — — 10,61¢
2,008,57: 1,310,33 602,04:

11. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

On May 15, 2014, the Company entered into a negeléar office space in Boston, Massachusetts, @fgeas of July 28, 2014, with a
term expiring July 31, 2017 and an option to extdralease for three additional years.
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Future minimum lease payments for its operatingdess of December 31, 2014 were as follows:

Years Ending December 3:

2015 $22¢
2016 23t
2017 13¢

9603

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012ah8, the Company recognized $160, $105 and $&2pectively, of rental expen
related to office space.

Intellectual Property Licenses

The Company has acquired exclusive rights to dgvesdented compounds and related know-how for Aeibrunder two licensing
agreements with two third parties in the coursigsofesearch and development activities. The licgndghts obligate the Company to make
payments to the licensors for license fees, mifetplicense maintenance fees and royalties. Thgp@oy is also responsible for patent
prosecution costs. Related to these license agreentbe Company recorded research and develomrpahses in its consolidated statement
of operations as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
License, milestone, and license maintenance fees $7,01¢ $— $15C
$7,01¢ $— $15C

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coynganorded expenses of $7,019 relating to milest@anhieved in September 2014
upon the initiation of a first Phase 3 clinicahtrincluding the cost of the issuance of commoglsi@lued at $3,569. As of December 31, 2!
the Company is obligated to make additional milestpayments of up to $12,250 upon reaching cept@commercialization milestones, st
as clinical trials and government approvals, antbupl2,500 upon reaching certain product commiizeaizon milestones. Under one of the
license agreements, the Company is also obligatedy up to $1,250 with respect to each subsedigensed product, if any, that is a new
chemical entity. In addition, the Company will ogiagle-digit royalties on sales of commercial pretduwdeveloped using these licensed
technologies, if any. The Company is also obligatepay to the licensors a percentage of feesvedef and when the Company sublicenses
the technology. As of December 31, 2014, the Compas not yet developed a commercial product usiadicensed technologies and it has
not entered into any sublicense agreements faetttenologies.

Indemnification Agreements

In the ordinary course of business, the Company pnayide indemnification of varying scope and tetmgendors, lessors, business
partners, and other parties with respect to cenitters including, but not limited to, lossesiagsout of breach of such agreements or from
intellectual property infringement claims made biyd parties. In addition, the Company has entarelindemnification agreements with
members of its board of directors that will requlte Company, among other things, to indemnify tlagainst certain liabilities that may arise
by reason of their status or service as directofficers. The maximum potential amount of futpayments the Company could be require
make under these indemnification agreements isany cases, unlimited. To date, the Company hasootred any material costs as a result
of such indemnifications. The Company does noebelithat the outcome of any claims under inderatifin arrangements will have a
material effect on its financial position, resufsoperations or cash flows, and it has not accargdliabilities related to such obligations in its
consolidated financial statements as of Decembge?®14.

12. Income Taxes

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012ah8, the Company recorded no income tax benefithe net operating losses
incurred in each year due to its uncertainty ofizéay a benefit from those items.
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The domestic and foreign components of loss befm@me taxes are as follows:

2014 2013 2012
Domestic $(35,819) $(12,32%) $(13,147)
Foreign (660) (1,7072) (73¢)
Loss before income tax $(36,479 $(14,02°) $(13,880)

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory ine® tax rate to the Company’s effective income && s as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Federal statutory income tax rate (34.(%) (34.(%) (34.(%)
Federal and state research and development tai (4.9 (9.0 (1.2
State taxes, net of federal ben (4.0 (4.0 (5.0
Orphan drug tax cred (3.2 (3.2 —
Stock compensation exper 0.€ 0.€ 0.2
Nondeductible Australia research and developmentese: 0.€ 4.1 1.8
Other items 2.4 — —
Change in deferred tax asset valuation allow: 42.C 45.4 38.2
Effective income tax rat 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%

Net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2012@1Riconsisted of the following:

December 31

2014 2013
Current deferred tax asse
Accrued expense $ 431 $ 18
Other temporary difference 6 2
Total current deferred tax ass 437 20
Noncurrent deferred tax asse
Capitalized research and development expe 28,60¢ 19,85¢
Net operating loss carryforwar 6,27¢ 4,021
Tax credit carryforward 8,93¢ 5,57¢
Capitalized legal expens 1,22¢ 79C
Stocl-based compensatic 42¢ 91
Total noncurrent deferred tax ass 45,47¢ 30,33
Total gross deferred tax ass 45,918 30,35
Valuation allowanct (45,919 (30,35)
Net deferred tax asse $ — $ —

Changes in the valuation allowance for deferredatssets during the years ended December 31, 2013,dhd 2012 related primarily to
the increase in net operating loss carryforwardpitalized research and development expenses aedrod and development tax credit
carryforwards and were as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Valuation allowance as of beginning of year $30,35" $24,00¢ $18,74¢
Decreases recorded as benefit to income tax poo — — —
Increases recorded to income tax provis 15,55¢ 6,351 5,26
Valuation allowance as of end of ye $45,91! $30,35" $24,00¢
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As of December 31, 2014, the Company had net apgrlaiss carryforwards for federal and state incdaxepurposes of $16,963 and
$9,637, respectively, which begin to expire in 2@2@ 2030, respectively. The Company also had ditiackal $16 of federal and state net
operating losses not reflected above that weriatable to stock option exercises, which will kearded as an increase in additional paid-in
capital once they are realized in accordance witloanting for stock-based compensation awards.f&eoember 31, 2014, the Company alsc
had available research and development tax cradigforwards for federal and state income tax psegoof $7,699 and $1,870, respectively,
which begin to expire in 2026 and 2021, respedtividtilization of the net operating loss carryfonda and research and development tax ¢
carryforwards may be subject to a substantial drlimaation under Section 382 of the Internal Reue Code of 1986 due to ownership
changes that have occurred previously or that cocddr in the future. These ownership changes imaythe amount of carryforwards that «
be utilized annually to offset future taxable inaGm

In general, an ownership change, as defined byde882, results from transactions increasing teayship of certain shareholders or
public groups in the stock of a corporation by mihien 50% over a three-year period. The Companybasonducted a study to assess
whether a change of control has occurred or whettege have been multiple changes of control simoeption due to the significant
complexity and cost associated with such a studiel Company has experienced a change of comatsalgfined by Section 382, at any time
since inception, utilization of the net operatingd carryforwards or research and developmentragitcarryforwards would be subject to an
annual limitation under Section 382, which is detieed by first multiplying the value of the Comp&ngtock at the time of the ownership
change by the applicable long-term tax-exempt &atd,then could be subject to additional adjusts)exd required. Any limitation may result
in expiration of a portion of the net operatingdasirryforwards or research and development taditararryforwards before utilization. Furth
until a study is completed and any limitation i®tm, no amounts are being presented as an unctaiaposition.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company’'ssgieferred tax asset balance of $45,913 and $80&fpectively, was comprised
principally of net operating loss carryforwardspitalized research and development expenses aadrodsand development tax credit
carryforwards. During the years ended Decembe2@14, 2013 and 2012, gross deferred tax assetsaiged due to additional net operating
loss carryforwards, research and development &ditsrgenerated and additional research and dewelojpexpenses capitalized for tax
purposes.

The Company has evaluated the positive and negatidence bearing upon its ability to realize tkeéedred tax assets. Management has
considered the Company’s history of cumulativelog$es incurred since inception and its lack of m@ntialization of any products or
generation of any revenue from product sales dimmption and has concluded that it is more likaBn not that the Company will not realize
the benefits of the deferred tax assets. Accordjragfull valuation allowance has been establiggainst the deferred tax assets as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013. Management reevaliggmsitive and negative evidence at each regpptamiod.

The Company has not recorded any amounts for ugnied tax benefits as of December 31, 2014 or 2013

The Company files tax returns as prescribed byakdaws of the jurisdictions in which it operatésthe normal course of business, the
Company is subject to examination by federal aategtirisdictions, where applicable. There areantty no pending income tax examinatic
The Company'’s tax years are still open under stdtoim 2011 to the present. Earlier years may laenéxed to the extent that tax credit or net
operating loss carryforwards are used in futuréoper The Company’s policy is to record interest panalties related to income taxes as part
of its income tax provision.
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13. Retirement Plan

The Company has a Savings Incentive Match Plaarfgsloyees. Under the terms of the plan, the Companiributes 2% of an
employee’s annual base salary, up to a maximurneodhnual Internal Revenue Service compensatidts/ifor all full-time employees.
During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@h8, the Company recognized $61, $26 and $16ectsply, of expense related to its
contributions to the plan.

14. Australia Research and Development Tax Incenté&v

The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Zafgen AalsdrPty Limited, which conducts core research @exklopment activities on
behalf of the Company, is eligible to receive a 4&%tndable tax incentive for qualified researct davelopment activities. For the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, $424, Bh/a8$630, respectively, was recorded as a redutdiresearch and development
expenses in the consolidated statements of opesafidvese amounts represented 45% of the Compauglgied research and development
spending in Australia. The refund is denominatedustralian dollars and, therefore, the relate@inable is remeasured into U.S. dollars as
each reporting date. For the years ended Decenh@034 and 2013, the Company recorded in its dmtaded statements of operations
unrealized foreign currency exchange (gains) loe§8404 and $250, respectively, related to thisnaentive receivable. The Company did
not have any foreign exchange gains or lossesrktatthis receivable for the year ended Decembg2@12. As of December 31, 2014 and
2013, the Company’s tax incentive receivable fromAustralian government was $391 and $1,617, otispéy.

15. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
The following information has been derived from uditded consolidated financial statements thathedpinion of management, include
all recurring adjustments necessary for a faiest&nt of such information.

Three Months Ended
September 30

March 31, June 30, December 31
2014 2014 2014 2014
Revenue $ — $ — $ — $ —
Operating expenst 4,521 5,98¢ 14,361 10,66¢
Net loss attributable to common stockholc (4,507%) (6,447 (14,689 (20,93)
Net loss per share attributable to comr
stockholders, basic and dilut $ (6.1¢ $ (2.9€) $ (0.65) $ (0.4¢)
Weighted average common shares outstanc
basic and dilute: 729,39: 2,178,46! 22,707,01 22,783,81
Three Months Ended
September 3C December 31
March 31, June 30,
2013 2013 2013 2013
Revenue $ — $ — $ — $ —
Operating expense 3,52( 2,97¢ 3,52¢ 3,761
Net loss attributable to common stockholc (3,599 (3,190 (3,557%) (3,899
Net loss per share attributable to comr
stockholders, basic and dilut $ (4.99 $ (4.39) $ (4.8¢) $ (5.35)
Weighted average common shares outstanding, t
and dilutec 727,76: 729,39: 729,39: 729,39:

16. Subsequent Events

In January 2015, the Company completed a follovefdering resulting in the sale of 3,942,200 commsbares at $35.00 per share,
including 504,200 shares related to the exercighebver allotment option by the underwriters. pietceeds were approximately $129,500
after deducting underwriting discounts and comrissi and estimated offering expenses.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Changes in Accounting Firm Relationships

We dismissed Edelstein and Company LLP as our iiggnt registered public accounting firm on July2®13, and therefore the firm
was not asked to report on our consolidated firrstatements for the year ended December 31, ZDdr2board of directors approved our
change in accountants. The reports of EdelsteirCamdpany LLP on our consolidated financial stateiséor the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010 contained no advers@apir disclaimer of opinion and were not quatifier modified as to audit scope,
accounting principle or uncertainty, except that thports of Edelstein and Company LLP includedrmaphasis of matter regarding the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concerarify the fiscal years December 31, 2011 and 2@8tttarough July 12, 2013 there were nc
disagreements with Edelstein and Company LLP omaaiyer of accounting principles or practices, ficial statement disclosure, or auditing
scope or procedure which if not resolved to thistadtion of Edelstein and Company LLP would haaased Edelstein and Company LLP to
make reference thereto in their reports on our aligtested financial statements for such years.

We subsequently engaged PricewaterhouseCoopersot[FRyC, as our independent registered public agonyifirm in July 2013. Our
audit committee of our board of directors approtreésl engagement. Prior to Edelstein and Companyd.tdRBmissal and prior to the
appointment of PwC, we did not consult with PwCareling the application of accounting principlestspecific completed or contemplated
transaction or regarding the type of audit opirtivett might be rendered on our consolidated findrstédements.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

Disclosure controls and procedures (as definedkeh&nge Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) aregdedionly to provide reasonable
assurance that they will meet their objectives. &irtle supervision and with the participation of management, including our principal
executive officer and principal financial officeve conducted an evaluation of the effectivenessf 8ecember 31, 2014, of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedwesuch term is defined in Exchange Act Rules1EBa) and 15d-15(e). Based on this
evaluation, our principal executive officer andngipal financial officer have concluded that, aswth date, our disclosure controls and
procedures are effective to ensure that informatgpired to be disclosed by us in our Exchangerégbrts is recorded, processed,
summarized, and reported within the time perio@ggied in the SEC's rules and forms, and that dofitrmation is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our praiexecutive officer and principal financial aféir, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Managemen's Annual Report on Internal Control Over FinanciaReporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not includeort of management’s assessment regarding imteong&ol over financial
reporting or an attestation report of the Compamdependent registered public accounting firm gua transition period established by rules
of the Securities and Exchange Commission for nguilglic companies.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Report

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15¢f)L5d-15(dJunder the Exchange A«
during the period covered by this report that hanagerially affected, or are reasonably likely totenially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information required under this item is incaagded herein by reference to the Company’s defimitiroxy statement pursuant to
Regulation 14A, which proxy statement will be fileith the Securities and Exchange Commission rtet than 120 days after the close of the
Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required under this item is incagded herein by reference to the Company’s defimifiroxy statement pursuant to
Regulation 14A, which proxy statement will be fileith the Securities and Exchange Commission rtet than 120 days after the close of the
Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required under this item is incagded herein by reference to the Company’s defimifiroxy statement pursuant to
Regulation 14A, which proxy statement will be fileith the Securities and Exchange Commission et han 120 days after the close of the
Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required under this item is incagded herein by reference to the Company’s defimifiroxy statement pursuant to
Regulation 14A, which proxy statement will be fileith the Securities and Exchange Commission riet than 120 days after the close of the
Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required under this item is incagded herein by reference to the Company’s defimifiroxy statement pursuant to
Regulation 14A, which proxy statement will be fileith the Securities and Exchange Commission et han 120 days after the close of the
Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(&) 1. Consolidated Financial Statements.
For a list of the consolidated financial statemémttuded herein, see Index on page 94 of thisrtepo

2. Financial Statement Schedules.
All required information is included in the finaatstatements or notes thereto.

3. List of Exhibits.
See the Exhibit Index in Item 15(b) below.

(b) Exhibit Index.

Exhibit No. Description

3.1 Ninth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporaof the Registrant, as currently in effect Grnmorated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registr's Form &K filed on June 24, 201«

3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registrartuaently in effect (incorporated by reference tdibit 3.2 of the
Registrar’s Form K filed on June 24, 201«

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporateddigrence to Exhibit 4.1 of the Registrant’s Regtsbn Statement
on Form &1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201

4.2 Third Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agegrby and among the Registrant and certain atdtskholders

dated November 25, 2013 (incorporated by referémé&exhibit 4.2 of the Registrant’s Registrationt8taent on Form S-
1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201

10.1# Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option Plan amesfof award agreements thereunder (incorporatedfbyence to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Registre’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201

10.2# 2014 Stock Option and Incentive Plan and formsaadrd agreements thereunder (incorporated by referenExhibit
10.2 of the Registra’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201

10.3(a)t Exclusive License Agreement by and between thedRegit and Chong Kun Dang Pharmaceutical CorpoaftSKorea

dated July 6, 2009, as amended (incorporated leyaem€e to Exhibit 10.3 of the Registrant’s RegigiraStatement on
Form &1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201

10.3(b) Amendment No. 4 to Exclusive License Agreementiny lzetween the Registrant and Chong Kun Dang Plrauniaal
Corporation, dated October 29, 2014 (incorporateteberence to Exhibit 10.3(b) of the Registram&gistration
Statement on Form-1 (File No. 33-201439) filed on January 12, 201

10.4 Subscription Agreement by and between the Regisétash Chong Kun Dang Pharmaceutical Corporatiotgedla
November 20, 2014 (incorporated by reference talktxh0.4 of the Registra’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 33:-201439) filed on January 12, 201

10.5 Letter by and between the Registrant and Thoma&highes, dated July 25, 2008 (incorporated by raferéo Exhibit
10.5 of the Registra’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201
10.6 Employee Non-Competition, NoSelicitation, Confidentiality and Assignment Agreemt by and between the Registt

and Thomas E. Hughes, dated July 29, 2008 (incatpay reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the RegistsaRegistration
Statement on Form-1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201
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Exhibit No.
10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11(a)
10.11(b)
10.12#

10.13%

10.14

10.15#
10.16
16.1
211

23.1*
31.1*

31.2*

Description

Letter by and between the Registrant and Dennlsii, dated August 23, 2011 (incorporated by refeesto Exhibit 10.
of the Registrar's Registration Statement on For-1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201

Employee Non-Competition, Non-Solicitation, Confidiality and Assignment Agreement by and betweenRbgistrant
and Dennis D. Kim, dated August 29, 2013 (incorfeddy reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the RegistmRegistration
Statement on Form-1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201

Letter by and between the Registrant and Patriciallen, dated December 10, 2012 (incorporateddigrence to Exhibit
10.9 of the Registra’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201

Employee Non-Competition, Non-Solicitation, Confidiality and Assignment Agreement by and betweenRhbgistrant
and Patricia L. Allen, dated August 29, 2013 (ipayated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Regigts Registration
Statement on Form-1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201

Form of Indemnification Agreement, to be enterdd ipetween the Registrant and its directors (inoaied by reference
to Exhibit 10.11(a) of the Registri's Registration Statement on For-1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201

Form of Indemnification Agreement, to be enterdd inetween the Registrant and its officers (incoafed by reference
to Exhibit 10.11(b) of the Registr¢ s Registration Statement on Fori-1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201

Senior Executive Cash Incentive Bonus Plan (incateal by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the RegidtsaReqgistration
Statement on Form-1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201

Exclusive License Agreement by and between thedRagit and Children’s Medical Center Corporaticated January 4,
2007, as amended January 15, 2007 (incorporategféyence to Exhibit 10.13 of the Registrant’s Ragtion Statement
on Form &1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201

Commercial Lease by and between the Registranhainerva Holdings, LLC, dated May 15, 2014 (incorgigd by
reference to Exhibit 10.14 of the Registrant’s Regtion Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-19%3i4d on June 18,
2014)

2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporatedfeyence to Exhibit 10.15 of the RegistrariRegistration Stateme
on Form &1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201

Letter by and between the Registrant and Patrickstan, dated June 3, 2014 (incorporated by referenExhibit 10.16
of the Registrar's Registration Statement on Fori-1 (File No. 33:-195391)filed on June 18, 201«

Letter of Edelstein and Company LLP (incorporatgddference to Exhibit 16.1 of the RegistrarRegistration Stateme
on Form &1 (File No. 33:-201439)filed on January 12, 201!

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorporated bgnarice to Exhibit 21.1 of the Registrant’s RegigiraStatement on
Form &1 (File No. 33-195391) filed on June 18, 201

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independgigtered public accounting fir

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursitao Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 18da) of the Securities Exchange Ac
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of theaBa-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursutato Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the S&egrExchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of tHeaBa-Oxley Act of 2002

122



Table of Contents

Exhibit No. Description
32.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer andifgipal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. &at 1350, as

101

*%

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 200z

Interactive Data Files regarding (a) our ConsodaBalance Sheets as of December 31, 2014 and @) 13)r
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compsehehoss for the Years Ended December 31, 20143 20d
2012, (c) our Consolidated Statements of ChangBedeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stdd&rs Equity
(Deficit), (d) our Consolidated Statements of CREiws for the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 208132812 and (e
the Notes to such Consolidated Financial Staten

Filed herewith

Furnished herewitt

Application has been made to the Securities atmth&hge Commission for confidential treatment afaie provisions. Omitted material
for which confidential treatment has been requektedbeen filed separately with the SecuritiesExthange Commissiol

Represents management compensation
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduty authorized.

ZAFGEN, INC.

Date: March 24, 2015 By: /s/ Thomas E. Hughes, Ph.D.
Thomas E. Hughes, Ph.
Chief Executive Officer
( Principal Executive Office)

Date: March 24, 2015 By: /s/ Patricia L. Allen
Patricia L. Allen
Chief Financial Officer
( Principal Financial and Accounting Office)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Name Title Date
/sl Thomas E. Hughes, Ph.D. Chief Executive Officer and March 24, 2015
Thomas E. Hughes, Ph.D. Director
(Principal Executive Officer
/sl Patricia L. Allen Chief Financial Officer March 24, 2015
Patricia L. Allen (Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer

/s/ Peter Barrett, Ph.D. Chairman of the Board of Directors March 24, 2015
Peter Barrett, Ph.L
/s/ Bruce Booth, Ph.D. Director March 24, 2015
Bruce Booth, Ph.C
/s/ Avi Goldberg Director March 24, 2015
Avi Goldberg
/s/ Frances K. Heller Director March 24, 2015
Frances K. Helle
/s/ John L. LaMattina, Ph.D. Director March 24, 2015
John L. LaMattina, Ph.C
/sl Kevin P. Starr Director March 24, 2015
Kevin P. Stari
/s/ Frank E. Thomas Director March 24, 2015

Frank E. Thoma
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EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No-B38900) of Zafgen, Inc. of our report
dated March 24, 2015 relating to the consolidateahnfcial statements, which appears in this ForniK10-

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 24, 2015



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, Thomas E. Hughes, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKafgen, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or endttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}5¢r the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metiin which this report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratdisslosure controls and procedures and presentisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

¢) disclosed in this report any change in the teaig's internal control over financial reportifgat occurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alnaave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadg®s in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 24, 2015

/s Thomas E. Hughes
Thomas E. Hughes

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, Patricia Allen, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKafgen, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or endttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}5¢r the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metiin which this report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratdisslosure controls and procedures and presentisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

¢) disclosed in this report any change in the teaig's internal control over financial reportifgat occurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alnaave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadg®s in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 24, 2015

/sl Patricia Allen

Patricia Allen

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 906

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1358ptdr 63 of title 18, United States
Code), each of the undersigned officers of Zafyen, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), dbegeby certify, to such officer’s
knowledge, that:

The Annual Report for the year ended December @12 Zthe “Form 10-K”) of the Company fully compliesth the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934, and the information contained in thenFd0-K fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results @rapions of the Company.

Dated: March 24, 2015 /sl Thomas E. Hughes
Thomas E. Hughe
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer

Dated: March 24, 2015 /sl Patricia Allen
Patricia Allen
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




